
EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
PENNS PLACE
PETERSFIELD
HAMPSHIRE 
GU31 4EX

Telephone: 01730 266551
Website: www.easthants.gov.uk

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
PANEL AGENDA

Date: Wednesday 7 March 2018  

Time: 6.30 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX

Membership:   Councillor S Pond (Chairman)

Councillors A Glass (Vice-Chairman), R Ayer, K Carter, D Evans, L Evans, G Hill, 
K Moon, S Schillemore, G Shepherd, I Thomas and A Williams

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

Nick Leach
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: 27 February 2018

Contact Officer: Cynthia Haveron: 01730 234092
Email:  cynthia.haveron@easthants.gov.uk



Page
1 Apologies for Absence  

To receive apologies for absence. 

2 Chairman's Announcements  

To receive any matters the Chairman wishes to report. 

3 Declarations of Interest  

To receive and record any declarations of interest from members 
present in respect of any of the various matters on the agenda for the 
meeting. 

4 Confirmation of the Minutes  

To approve the minutes of the Panel held of 15 November 2017. 
(previously circulated) 

5 Statement of Community Involvement  

The Committee is asked to consider the Draft Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI) which has been prepared by officers. 
The SCI will only apply to areas of East Hampshire outside of the 
South Downs National Park.

FOR NOTING

1 - 46

6 The Residential Extensions & Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document  

The committee is asked to consider the revised Residential 
Extensions & Householder Development Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) which has been prepared by officers.

FOR RECOMMENDATION TO CABINET 

47 - 94

7 Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document  

The Committee will consider the revised Vehicle Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which has been prepared 
by officers.

FOR NOTING 

95 - 194



iii

GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.

Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.

No Smoking Policy

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and ground

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/


iv

.



NON EXEMPT

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

07 March 2018

The East Hampshire District Statement of Community Involvement.

Report by Planning Policy

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is present to Councillors the Draft Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI) which has been prepared by officers. The SCI will 
only apply to areas of East Hampshire outside of the South Downs National Park.

1.2 Appendix A accompanying this report contains the draft SCI, which is proposed 
for public consultation. 

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel notes the content of the Statement of 
Community Involvement (Appendix A of this report) and recommend that it is 
subject to six weeks public consultation commencing on the 16th March until the 
27th April 2018. 

 

3.0 Summary

3.1 The production of a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a legal 
requirement. The Councils current SCI was adopted in January 2015 and since 
this time there have been a number of changes to legislation and the Council has 
now launched a Local Plan Review for those parts of the district outside the 
South Downs National Park. 

3.2 The purpose of the SCI is to set out how people and groups can engage with the 
planning system in the best way by setting out how the public, businesses and 
interest groups within East Hampshire District can get involved in the creation of 
local planning policy, neighbourhood planning and the planning application 
decision making process.



NON EXEMPT

3.3 Officers have produced a draft SCI which is the third SCI produced by the 
Council that will be subject to a six week period of public consultation. 

4.0 Subject of Report

4.1 The preparation of a SCI is a legal requirement of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (section 18) as amended by the Planning Act 2008, the 
Localism Act 2011 and the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017. This legislation 
requires the Local Planning Authority (in this case the Council) to prepare a 
statement for how it will involve those with an interest in development in the area, 
including the preparation and review of the Local Plan and Supplementary 
Planning Documents, Neighbourhood Plans/Orders, Community Infrastructure 
Levy and the consideration of planning applications.

4.2 The draft SCI has been updated to provide more detailed guidance on the how 
the Council will engage with the community on planning matters, including those 
that are statutory requirements set out in planning legislation and those that are 
additional notification / consultation methods that the Council may use. 

4.3 The draft SCI provides more information on the statutory stages of producing 
specific planning documents to clearly identify how people and organisations can 
get involved at these specific stages. 

4.4 The table below provides an indicative timetable of the stages to be undertaken 
to adopt the SCI:

Six week public consultation on the draft SCI 16th March 2018 – 27 April 2018
Response comments and amended SCI 
presented to DPAHP

16 May 2018

SCI to Cabinet 5th July 2018 
SCI to Council for Adoption 19th July 2018
 

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  There are no direct resource implications. Costs will be met within 
existing resources and budgets.

.2 Legal:  There are legal issues to consider in progressing the SCI towards 
adoption, in relation to satisfying the necessary regulations. The preparation of a 
SCI is a legal requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
(section 18) as amended by the Planning Act 2008, the Localism Act 2011 and 
the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017.



NON EXEMPT

5.3 Strategy: The updated SCI sets out the publicity that the District Council will use 
to ensure that the local community can be involved in the preparation of planning 
policy documents, including the Local Plan Review, and make their views known 
about individual planning application outside of the South Downs National Park. 
The document will supersede the January 2015 SCI upon adoption. 

5.4 Risks: None.

5.5 Communications: The draft SCI will be subject to six weeks public consultation.

Appendices:

Appendix A – East Hampshire District Statement of Community Involvement 2018

Background Papers:

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins (Signed off 20.02.18)
Legal Services: Sara Bryon (Signed off 23.02.18)
Finance: Andy Miles (Signed off 20.02.18)
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass (Signed off 21.02.18)

Contact Officer: Ian Mawer
Job Title:       Planning Policy Team Leader 
Telephone:       01730 234152
E-Mail:       ian.mawer@easthants.gov.uk





1

The East Hampshire District Local Plan

Consultation Draft

Statement of Community 
Involvement

March 2018 



2

Table of Contents
1. How to respond                4

Where can I view the document?...............................................................................4
How do I comment? ...................................................................................................4

2  Introduction and Background.........................................................................5
What is a Statement of Community Involvement? ..........................................5

3  Why has a new Statement of Community Involvement been produced?...5
4  Why should I / my community get involved? ................................................6
5  Planning Policy.................................................................................................7

What is Planning Policy? ................................................................................7
Getting involved in Local Plan Making ............................................................7
How can you get involved?.............................................................................7
Who will the Council consult on Local Plan Documents? ...............................8
How will we consult?.......................................................................................8
Consultation Principles – Planning Policy.......................................................9

To Inform ....................................................................................................9
To Involve: ..................................................................................................9
To Consult ................................................................................................10
To Respond ..............................................................................................10

Table 1 – Consultation Methods ...................................................................11

6  Involvement in Local Plans ...........................................................................14
Table 2: Statutory Stages of Local Plan Production .....................................14

7 Supplementary Planning Document..............................................................18
Getting involved in preparing Supplementary Planning Documents.............18
Table 3 – SPD Key Stages of Production .....................................................19

8  Other Policy Documents................................................................................20
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report .......................................................20

9  Statement of Community Involvement.........................................................21
10 Neighbourhood Planning .............................................................................22
11 Community Infrastructure Levy...................................................................23

Charging Schedule .......................................................................................23
Table 4: CIL Charging Schedule Key Stages of Production .........................24
Regulation 123 List (CIL Expenditure) ..........................................................27
CIL Spending Protocol ..................................................................................28

12 Planning Applications...................................................................................29
Pre-Application Advice..................................................................................29

Design Review Panel ...............................................................................30



3

Development Consultation Forum ............................................................30

Planning Applications....................................................................................30

Publicity ....................................................................................................30
Viewing / Commenting on a Planning Application ....................................31

13  Appendix A – Specific and General Consultation Bodies........................33
14  Appendix B – Publicity for Planning Applications....................................35
15  Glossary........................................................................................................41



4

1. How to respond
1.1 Public consultation runs for six weeks from 16 March 2018 and 27 April 2018. 

1.2 This draft Statement of Consultation (SCI) has been published for public 
consultation to give residents, businesses, Town and Parish Councils and other 
groups an opportunity to have a say in how they want to be involved in guiding 
future development within those parts of East Hampshire District outside of the 
South Downs National Park.

1.3 The Council welcomes suggestions on community engagement techniques that are 
considered to encourage effective participation. The Council will consider the 
comments received and where appropriate will make amendments to the SCI. 

1.4 A schedule of representations and officer responses will be made publicly available 
when the final SCI is taken to Council for adoption. Comments cannot be treated as 
confidential. Your personal information, such as your postal and email address will 
not be published and signatures will be redacted, but your name and organisation (if 
relevant) will. 

1.5 Planning Policy maintains a database of consultees who wish to be kept informed 
about Planning Policy documents. In responding to this consultation, your contact 
details will automatically be added to the consultation database. If you do not want 
to be contacted about future consultations please state this in your response. You 
can, of course, contact us at any time to request the removal of your details from 
the database.

Where can I view the document?
1.6 You can view the document online at: http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-

policy/consultation

1.7 Paper copies of the document are available for inspection and purchase from the 
Council Offices at Penns Place Petersfield during normal office hours.

How do I comment?
1.8 If you would like to comment on this document please send your views via our 

online consultation portal, email or to the postal address below. With the aim of 
reducing the use of paper and achieving efficiency savings, the Council’s preferred 
communication method is to receive representations via our online consultation 
portal or email. However, the Council will accept representations submitted by post. 

1.9 If you have any queries on the content of this document please contact Planning 
Policy Service. 
Telephone: 01730 234102
E-mail: localplan@easthants.gov.uk Write to: Planning Policy, East Hampshire 
District Council,Penns Place,Petersfield, Hampshire, GU31 4EX

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
mailto:localplan@easthants.gov.uk


5

2. Introduction and Background

What is a Statement of Community Involvement? 
2.1 The Planning System is complex and as a result some local communities, 

individuals and groups don’t understand how they can get involved in the planning 
process. A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) seeks to address this by 
describing how the public, businesses and interest groups within East Hampshire 
District can get involved in the creation of local planning policy, neighbourhood 
planning and the planning application decision making process.

2.2 The SCI identifies how people and groups can engage with the planning system in 
the best way. Effective consultation enables stakeholders and the public to express 
their views. However, there may be instances where the Council has to balance all 
relevant issues and this may mean a different outcome to some of the views 
expressed. Where this is the case, the Council will be transparent in its reasoning.

2.3 The Council’s Corporate Strategy 2014 – 2019 sets out the Councils values 
including the that we put the customer at the centre of everything we do. The 
Corporate Strategy identifies that our approach to service delivery adopts the 
principles of marketing which are to assess the needs of the resident, business and 
visitor population using customer insight. 

2.4 Whilst the SCI primarily sets out how the Council will engage with communities, it 
also provides useful guidance to help inform neighbourhood planning groups 
undertake effective consultation.

3. Why has a new Statement of Community Involvement been 
produced?

3.1 The preparation of a SCI is a legal requirement of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (section 18) as amended by the Planning Act 2008, the 
Localism Act 2011 and the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017. This legislation 
requires the Local Planning Authority (in this case the Council) to prepare a 
statement for how it will involve those with an interest in development in the area, 
including the preparation and review of the Local Plan and Supplementary Planning 
Documents, Neighbourhood Plans/Orders, Community Infrastructure Levy and the 
consideration of planning applications. 

3.2 This is the third SCI produced by the Council which has been produced to take 
account of legislative changes and the fact that the Council is now reviewing its 
Local Plan for those parts of the district outside of the South Downs National Park. 

3.3 The Council recognises that there have been significant changes in the way 
communities and the Council interact. Access to the internet has increased and 
there has been a shift towards online services and correspondence by email and 
social media. However, despite these changes, there remain a significant number of 
people that are unable to use electronic forms of communication and access to 



6

information, or prefer not to do so. As such, we will continue to ensure that 
consultation materials are available in a variety of formats and that there are varied 
ways of participating in consultations.

3.4 The SCI is intended to last for at least five years before a review of the document is 
necessary. However, the document will be assessed on a regular basis to ensure it 
remains appropriate and effective. This will also take account of any legislative 
changes and any resulting requirements.

4. Why should I / my community get involved? 
4.1 The Planning process seeks to promote sustainable development through 

managing, guiding and facilitating the building of new homes, economic growth and 
investment, leisure and recreation facilities, retail and provision of new 
infrastructure. The principal purpose of the planning system is to ensure that new 
development meets the social and economic needs of our communities whilst at the 
same time protecting the natural and built environment. 

4.2 Planning has a direct impact on the daily lives of residents and the business 
community therefore it is very important that development proposals are transparent 
and that you have the opportunity to have a say in the planning decisions that are 
made by the Council. The public has a right to get involved and the only way that 
the Council will understand what people’s views are if they are told by the public. 

4.3 There are different aspects of the Planning system that people can get involved with 
such as, Planning Policy Documents, Planning Applications as well as 
Neighbourhood Planning. This SCI is designed to assist you about the different 
aspects of the planning system and well as informing you of the different stages of 
when you can get involved and how to get involved.



7

5.  Planning Policy

What is Planning Policy?
5.1 To put it simply, the Council’s Planning Policy team is responsible for preparing a 

range of documents including:  

 The Local Plan, which sets the strategic direction for the district (outside of the 
SDNPA), allocates land for development and includes a suite of policies to 
guide development decisions; 

 Supplementary Planning Documents which support policies within the Local 
Plan by providing guidance on particular subjects; 

 Neighbourhood Plans, which are prepared by communities. These may also 
allocate land and include policies to guide development at a local level; 

 Community Infrastructure Levy which is a charge that allows local authorities to 
raise funds from most types of new development in their area to fund essential 
infrastructure.

Getting involved in Local Plan Making  
5.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires Local Planning 

Authorities to prepare Local Plan Documents to set out a vision (“forward planning”) 
for the future development of the District (usually 15-20 years), addressing needs 
and opportunities in relation to population growth, housing, the economy, 
community facilities and infrastructure - as well as a basis for safeguarding the 
environment, adapting to climate change and securing good design. Local Plan 
Documents are informed by a wide range of evidence base studies.

5.3 The Council has commenced work on undertaking a review of the Local Plan. The 
Council is legally required to monitor the effectiveness of the Local Plan and ensure 
that it is kept up-to-date. Whilst Local Plans cover a minimum plan period of 15 
years, changes happen regularly, both nationally and locally. Legislation requires 
that plans be reviewed at least every five years to ensure that its policies are up-to-
date. Your local community can make a contribution to the review of the Local Plan, 
for instance you can undertake studies of local green spaces to protect, traffic 
studies and audits of local facilities. 

How can you get involved?
5.4 If you are interested in your area and would like to be involved in shaping future 

planned growth then Local Plan Documents will be relevant to you. The earlier you 
can get involved, the better the chance you can help influence shaping the plan as 
well as having an understanding of the Plan making process.

5.5 Planning Policy maintains a ‘Consultation Database’ of individuals, groups, 
stakeholders and statutory consultees who we regularly contact on Local Plan 
matters (that are of interest and relevant to them). You can register your contact 
details online. If you do not have access to email, please contact us by phone 
01730 234102 and we will register your postal address. Your details will not be 
passed on to third parties and you can request to have your details removed at 

https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/


8

anytime. This applies to the development of planning policy only and not the 
determination of planning applications.

Who will the Council consult on Local Plan Documents? 
5.6 Government Regulations1 require us to ensure that certain organisations (known as 

Specific Consultation Bodies) are consulted at key stages during the preparation of 
the Local Plan. These include for example neighbouring Councils (through a 
process called Duty to Cooperate2), Town and Parish Councils, Councillors, 
Environment Agency and utility companies. The full list of consultees is provided in 
Appendix A.

5.7 In addition to consulting Specific Consultation Bodies, Planning Policy has a further 
extensive list of organisations, bodies, businesses, consultancies, landowners and 
individuals that we will consult (known as General Consultation Bodies). Examples 
of General Consultation bodies are contained within Appendix B. 

5.8 The above list is not exhaustive and is amended or added to as required. In some 
cases, we have a degree of discretion over whether to notify certain general bodies 
if the topic of the document in question is not likely to be of interest or relevance to 
that body. We will target consultation towards those most likely to be affected, for 
example by setting up workshops on particular topics or hosting public exhibitions in 
areas of site allocation proposals.

5.9 In addition to the ‘specific’ and ‘general’ consultation bodies, Planning Policy are 
committed to involving a wide range of ‘other’ individuals and organisations, 
including members of the ‘hard to reach’ groups. This is to ensure that the council 
meets the public sector equality duty (Equality Act 2010), which aims to promote 
equality, eliminate discrimination and encourage good relations between different 
groups associated with age, disability, gender/gender reassignment, race, religion 
and other protected characteristics. Engaging with residents and other stakeholders 
is key to meeting this duty to better understand the needs of diverse groups.

How will we consult? 
5.10 The Government sets out statutory3 consultation requirements that the Council must 

follow. In addition to the requirements, Planning Policy will carefully consider 
options for additional community involvement to ensure that all residents in East 
Hampshire District are made aware of any planning proposals and of the 
opportunity to comment on them.

1 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 [S.I 2012 No. 
767]: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ uksi/2012/767/pdfs/uksi_20120767_en.pdf
2 Duty to Cooperate: The Localism Act (2011) places a legal duty on Local Planning 
Authorities, County Councils and public bodies to engage constructively, actively and on an 
ongoing basis on strategic cross boundary matters.
3 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 [S.I 2012 No. 
767]



9

5.11 Local Plan Documents are supported by additional documents (i.e. Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitat Regulations Assessments) and technical studies (referred to 
as the evidence base). The Council will only provide paper copies of the main 
consultation documents (i.e. the Plan), Sustainability Appraisal4 and Habitat 
Regulations for reference purposes at the Council Offices and other deposit 
locations.  All evidence base reports will be publicly available on the Council’s 
website, however should you wish to receive a hard copy of the consultation 
document and any evidence base document (this will be subject to staff costs of 
printing, postage and packaging) please contact the Planning Policy team.

Consultation Principles – Planning Policy 

5.12 To Inform: Planning Policy will inform people of the planning process and to 
provide people with the information they need to get involved at the earliest 
opportunity possible. The following approaches, where relevant will be used to 
inform people: 

5.13 Statutory Requirements:

 Electronic versions of the consultation documents will be made publicly 
available on the Council’s website 

 Hard copies for reference use will be made available during office hours at the 
Council Office

 Hard copies for reference use will be made available at local libraries and 
deposit locations

 Statutory Notice in local newspapers 
 Consultation notifications will be sent via email / post 

5.14 Additional notification methods that may be used to advertise consultation:

• East Hampshire District Planning Policy Consultation Portal
• Advertised on the front page of the Council’s website within the News section 
• Consultations will be publicised via social media – Twitter / Facebook 

5.15 To Involve:  Planning Policy will encourage the active participation of individuals, 
groups, landowners and developers in the planning process through a variety of 
techniques such as:

• Public exhibitions
• Council Officers to attend Town / Parish Council meetings 
• Workshops 

4 Planning Policy will consult the local community on its Sustainability Appraisals and involve 
key stakeholders such as the Environment Agency, Historic England, and Natural England in 
its preparation



1
0

5.16 Planning Policy, wherever possible, undertake these consultation exercises in 
locations which are accessible to the local community, for example at village / 
community halls and at a variety of times of day (for example events run from the 
early afternoon until the evening).

5.17 The Council will continue to develop its Customer Insight intelligence. Customer 
Insight looks at the different demographic, social and economic groups throughout 
the District and the best ways of engaging with them e.g. newspapers, letters, social 
media, website, emails. The use of Customer Insight gives better value for money 
for our customers, breaks with ‘traditional’ methods and provides an opportunity to 
engage more widely than has previously been the case. The benefits of Customer 
Insight are recognised as part of the Council’s Strategy 2014 -2019, which puts the 
customer at the heart of what the Council is doing.

5.18 To Consult: The local community’s statutory right to be consulted and make 
representations is a legal requirement. Planning Policy intends to do more than just 
meet the minimum statutory requirements and will also actively promote social 
inclusion amongst the hard to reach groups. We will understand the needs of 
different stakeholders and engage and consult using appropriate and relevant 
consultation methods, making best use of new technologies.

5.19 To Respond: Planning Policy will take account of all responses to consultation and 
will identify on how views expressed in representations have been incorporated into 
the Council’s decision-making processes. 

5.20 Planning Policy will, where appropriate, undertake additional consultation and 
engagement approaches at various stages of the document preparation process. 
However, not all methods will be used; they will be tailored to the specific stage, be 
proportionate to the importance of the document in question and take account of the 
resources available.

5.21 Table 1 overleaf provides an assessment of consultation methods with regards to 
their effectiveness. This table also provides useful information to be considered by 
Developers when undertaking public consultation on draft development proposals 
and it also provides a source of information for those local communities who wish to 
prepare Neighbourhood Plans.



11

Table 1 – Consultation Methods
Consultation Method Benefits Limitations
Electronic copy of consultation 
document and associated 
documents on the Council’s 
website

Relevant documents will be made available on 
the Council’s website. The Council Offices in 
addition to local libraries, offer internet access 
and assistance to those who need it. There are 
also opportunities to respond to consultations 
via our online portal, email and using response 
forms.

 Not everyone has access to the 
internet

 Not everyone is able to use the 
internet

Hard copies of main consultation 
documents and any key 
associated documents for 
reference use at the Council 
Offices during office opening 
hours.

 Accessible location
 Inclusive for those who do not have 

access to the internet or not able to use 
the internet

 Easy to read
 Access to Council Officers for 

information

 Restricted opening hours
 Not able to take documents away

Electronic and hard copies of 
main consultation document and 
any key associated documents for 
reference use at Libraries and 
other deposit locations.

 Accessible location 
 Inclusive for those who do not have 

access to the internet  
 Easy to read
 Reaches residents on cross boundary 

issues

 Restricted opening hours 
 Not able to take documents away

Notification emails / letters to 
Specific Consultation Bodies 
upon commencement of 
consultation.

 Direct notification 
 Provides accurate information

Contact details may have changed that the 
Council is not aware of

Notification emails / letters to 
those who are registered on the 
Councils Planning Policy 
Consultation Database 

 Direct notification 
 Provides accurate information
 People can have their contact details 

removed at any time if they no longer 

 Contact details may have changed 
that the Council is not aware of 

 Not everyone has access to email 
 May not be accessible for those 



12

Consultation Method Benefits Limitations
wish to be kept informed people who first language is not 

English 
 May not be the most inclusive 

method for hard to reach groups
Statutory Notice in Local 
Newspapers – The notice will 
provide details of where and 
when documents can be 
inspected. It will also detail how 
and when to respond to 
consultation documents

 Statutory requirement
 Can reach a wide audience
 Provides the public with accurate 

information

 May not be accessible for those 
people who first language is not 
English 

 May not be the most inclusive 
method for hard to reach groups

Social media  Effective way of reaching hard to reach 
including youth, people with limited time 
e.g. business/professional people, 
working people with families

 Information can be accessed at anytime 
during the consultation period. 

 Not everyone has access to the 
internet or a social media account

 Difficult to manage posted 
comments / content

Posters  Can be used to publicise consultation 
information / events.

 May not be located in places visited 
by all sectors of the community so 
not wholly inclusive 

 May not be accessible for those 
people who first language is not 
English

Leaflets  Can be used to publicise 
information/events

 Provides a useful summary of the main 
planning proposal

 Small leaflets are easier to provide in a 
variety of formats to improve accessibility

 Limited information 
 May not be accessible for those 

people who first language is not 
English



13

Consultation Method Benefits Limitations
Public exhibitions  Enables people to access information 

display boards 
 Provides the opportunity to speak with 

Council officers for further information / 
discuss concerns 

 Provides accessibility 
 People can fill out comment forms

 May not be attended by hard-to-
reach groups is still difficult 

 May not be accessible for those 
people who first language is not 
English 

 Creating and updating displays is 
expensive and time consuming

Council Officers attending Public 
Meetings

 Reaches out to people in the local area
 Provides the opportunity to speak with 

Council Officers for further information / 
discuss concerns

 Council Officers can understand the 
views of the public

 Need to ensure there is sufficient 
publicity in order to have a good 
attendance rate to encourage a 
constructive / meaningful meeting

 Sometimes there can be too many 
views to be heard in a limited time 
frame 

 People may not want to discuss 
their views in a public forum 

 The loudest voices tend to get heard 
 Not fully inclusive / representative of 

local community 
 May not be accessible for those 

people who first language is not 
English



14

6. Involvement in Local Plans
6.1 The Local Plan is the statutory plan setting out the principal policies and proposals for land use and development in the district (outside 

of the South Downs National Park). It contains the overall vision and objectives, the development strategy, allocates sites for 
development and sets out a suite of policies used in decision making on planning matters.

6.2 The process for preparing the Local Plan is summarised in Table 2 which identifies each of the stages and the key opportunities for 
community involvement in the process.

Table 2: Statutory Stages of Local Plan Production
Key Stages of Production Your Opportunities for Involvement

Initial Evidence Gathering and Informal Engagement
 Begin initial evidence gathering process 

(commissioning technical studies, identifying available 
sites, collating data, identifying the scope of the Plan) 

 Formulate initial aims and objectives 

 Start preparing the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report and collating baseline data 

 Identify relevant environmental, economic and social 
objectives to inform the Sustainability Appraisal

 Engage with duty to cooperate partners

 Register your contact details on the Planning Policy 
Consultation Database 

 Provide Planning Policy with details of any sites you 
may wish to promote for development through the Call 
for Sites process

 Provide Planning Policy with any local evidence studies

Regulation 18: Consultation

1st Formal Public Consultation

 The Council will undertake public consultation for a 
minimum period of 6 weeks 

 Review the Local Plan, the supporting evidence base 
and identify any comments you may have



15

Key Stages of Production Your Opportunities for Involvement

 Engage with local communities, businesses and other 
interested parties 

 Engage with duty to cooperate partners

 Submit a formal representation to the Council outlining 
your comments, support or objection 

 Attend any public exhibitions being held

Please Note: All submitted representations will be made 
public and can be viewed by others. Signatures, postal 
address and email address details will be redacted.

Regulation 19: Proposed Submission Consultation

2nd Public Consultation and final consultation before 
submitting Plan for Examination

 Planning Policy will review all the representations 
submitted during Regulation 18 consultation and make 
any changes to the Plan where justified 

 The Council will prepare a statement summarising how 
they consulted during the 1st consultation, the key 
issues that came out of the consultation and how these 
will be taken into account in amending the Plan. 

 The Council will undertake public consultation on the 
revised draft Plan, Sustainability Appraisal and Habitat 
Regulations for a minimum period of 6 weeks.

 Review the Local Plan, Sustainability Appraisal and 
Habitat Regulations Assessment and identify any 
comments you may have

 If you submitted a representation during the previous 
consultation and that it remains unresolved, resubmit 
your representation should you wish to maintain your 
objection 

 Attend any public exhibitions

Please Note: 

This is the final opportunity to submit a duly made 
representation. 

You should be specific as to why you consider the Plan to be 
unsound, what change (s) you are seeking and why it would 
make the document sound. 



16

Key Stages of Production Your Opportunities for Involvement

The Planning Inspector will only consider written 
representations submitted during this stage as it is considered 
that these representations (objections) are unresolved. 

Representations submitted during Regulation 18 Consultation 
will not be considered by the Planning Inspector.

Regulation 22: Submission of Local Plan 

Final Draft Plan

 The Council will provide a Schedule that provides 
Officer responses to all representations received  

 The Council will produce a statement setting out how it 
consulted throughout the development of the Plan, the 
issues raised and how the Plan has been amended to 
address relevant issues.

 The Council will submit the Plan and any 
representations submitted during Regulation 19 and the 
Statement of Consultation to Secretary of State.

 The Government will appoint a Planning Inspector to 
examine the plan. 

 The Planning Inspector will set the timetable for 
Examination in Public.

 The Council will notify those on the Planning Policy 
Consultation Database and those who submitted 
representations that the Local Plan has been submitted 
to the Secretary of State for independent examination.

Examination of submitted Local Plan

 An independent Inspector assesses the submitted 
Local Plan to determine whether it has been prepared 
in line with the Duty to Cooperate and other legal 

 The Inspector will invite participants (via the 
Programme Officer) to speak at the hearing sessions 
on those matters and issues considered relevant by the 



17

Key Stages of Production Your Opportunities for Involvement
requirements

 The Council via the Programme Officer will write to 
representors informing them of the hearing start date 
(at least 6 weeks in advance of commencing) 

 The Council can ask the Inspector to recommend main 
modifications to make Plan sound or comply with other 
legal requirements

 Inspector issues a report at the end of Examination in 
Public 

 Exceptionally, the Inspector will recommend the draft 
Local Plan to be withdrawn if it has not been prepared 
in accordance with the Duty to Cooperate or it is likely 
to be found unsound.

Inspector 

 Selected participants will receive a programme (via the 
Programme Officer) for hearing sessions including 
matters/issues and the Inspectors Guidance Note 

 The hearing sessions are public and anyone can 
observe even if they haven’t been selected to 
participate

 Further information regarding the Examination in Public 
process can be found within the Planning Inspectorate 
Procedural Practice in the Examination of Local Plans 
(June 2016)5.

Adoption
 Local Plan is adopted by the Council

 The Council publishes a post adoption statement.

 The Council will notify those on the Planning Policy 
Consultation Database and those who submitted 
representations of receipt of the Inspectors Report and 
the date the Local Plan will be taken to Full Council for 
adoption.

Monitoring
 Local Plan policies are monitored against objectives 

and indicators and are reported within the Council’s 
Authority’s Monitoring Report.

5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/examining-local-plans-procedural-practice

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/examining-local-plans-procedural-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/examining-local-plans-procedural-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/examining-local-plans-procedural-practice


18

7.  Supplementary Planning Document 

Getting involved in preparing Supplementary Planning Documents

7.1 Supplementary Planning Documents may cover a range of issues, both thematic and site specific, which support policies in the Local 
Plan. They do not set new policy or allocate land. Whilst SPDs are adopted formally by the Council and are material considerations in 
the determination of planning applications, they do not form part of the development plan and are not subject to independent 
examination.

7.2 The Council has produced several SPDs which can be found on the Council’s website: http://www.easthants.gov.uk/supplementary-
planning-documents. 

7.3 The Council is committed to involving the community in the preparation of these documents, but the level and scope of consultation 
will vary according to the nature of the document being produced. The preparation of an SPD is different to preparing a Local Plan 
Document. The Government sets out statutory consultation requirements that the Council must follow. Key statutory stages and 
opportunities for community involvement are set out within Table 3 overleaf. It is recommended that Table 3 is read in conjunction with 
Part 5 of the Town and Country Planning Regulations.

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/supplementary-planning-documents


19

Table 3 – SPD Key Stages of Production
Key Stages of SPD Production How we will consult Your opportunities for 

involvement
Initial Background Work

Planning Policy will carry out research to identify 
the issues and relevant policy context as part of 
evidence gathering.

 Not applicable  Register your contact 
details on the Planning 
Policy Consultation 
Database

Regulation 12 & 13: Publish the draft SPD for 
consultation

Planning Policy will undertake public consultation 
on the draft SPD for a minimum statutory period 
of 4 weeks.

Statutory Requirements:

 Electronic version of the 
consultation document will be made 
publicly available on the Council’s 
website

 Hard copies for reference use will 
be made available at the Council 
Offices, local libraries and other 
deposit locations

 Notification to relevant specific 
consultation bodies

 Review the SPD and 
identify any comments 
you may have

 Submit a formal 
representation to the 
Council outlining your 
comments, support or 
objection

Finalise SPD

Planning Policy will the representations submitted 
during consultation and make any changes to the 
SPD where justified.

The Council will provide a Schedule comprising of 
Officer responses to the representations received.

 Not applicable  Not applicable

Regulation 14: Adoption of the SPD
The SPD is adopted by the Council  The Council will notify those who  Opportunities to speak at 



20

Key Stages of SPD Production How we will consult Your opportunities for 
involvement

The Council publishes an adoption statement.
submitted representations of the 
date the SPD will be taken to Full 
Council for adoption.

Full Council 

8.  Other Policy Documents

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report

8.1 The first stage of the sustainability appraisal is to consider the scope of the appraisal process. It includes a review of other relevant 
plans, policies and programmes that relate to the local area; information on the present state of the local environment (the baseline); a 
discussion of the local sustainability issues and a series of sustainability objectives that must be considered when preparing 
Development Plan Documents (DPDs).

8.2 Consultation will be undertaken on the draft Scoping Report before it is approved by Council. The Environmental Assessment of Plans 
and Programmes (SEA) Regulations (2004) require that local authorities consult:

 The Environment Agency
 Natural England; and
 Historic England



21

9.  Statement of Community Involvement

9.1 The SCI is reviewed regularly to ensure it is in accordance with the regulations and the Council’s consultation procedures. Should 
fundamental changes take place that warrant a fresh SCI, the Council will undertake public consultation for a minimum period of four 
weeks.

9.2 There is no legal requirement to notify specific consultation bodies however the Council will notify those bodies considered relevant. 
Reference copies will be made publicly available at the Council Offices. A summary of public representations submitted during 
consultation will be provided within the Schedule of Officer Responses to Representations Received and will be made publicly 
available on the Council’s website. Those who submitted representations will be notified of the Cabinet and Council dates for adoption 
of the final document.

9.3 Top Tips:

 Register on the Council’s Planning Policy Consultation Portal:
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/

 Find out what documents are going to be produced and when – look up the Local Development Scheme:
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan-timetable-local-development-scheme

 Monitor the Council’s Planning Policy webpages for updates and latest news: http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy

 Contact your Town/ Parish Council and make them aware of your interest to be involved in local planning matters. Details of 
how to contact your Parish Council can be found here:
http://easthants.moderngov.co.uk/mgParishCouncilDetails.aspx

https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan-timetable-local-development-scheme
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy
http://easthants.moderngov.co.uk/mgParishCouncilDetails.aspx


22

10.  Neighbourhood Planning

10.1 You and or your community may also be interested in getting involved in ‘Neighbourhood Planning’ which enables your community to 
shape local development in your area through the Localism Act 2011.

10.2 Neighbourhood Development Plans sets out planning Policies for the neighbourhood area. The Council doesn’t initiate the preparation 
of a Neighbourhood Plan as this is a tool available to local communities to prepare their own planning policies (including site 
allocations). Therefore, Neighbourhood Plan initiation rests with a Town or Parish Council Town.

10.3 This SCI does not prescribe what methods of community engagement must be followed as the appropriate level of community 
engagement and the scope of the Neighbourhood Plan is to be decided by the Town/Parish Council. However, as a starting point, it is 
recommended that local communities follow the general consultation principles and methods outlined in Table 1 of this SCI.

10.4 The Council has produced more detailed guidance in relation to Neighbourhood Planning for use by the community which can be 
accessed on our Neighbourhood Planning Webpage:

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/neighbourhood-plans


23

11.  Community Infrastructure Levy 

11.1 The CIL Regulations enable local planning authorities to raise funding for new infrastructure by levying a charge on new development 
within their area. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is an important mechanism for the Council and its partners to fund 
infrastructure provision to mitigate the impact of new development within the District.

11.2 The Council adopted its CIL charging schedule for those parts of the district located outside of the South Downs National Park 
Authority in April 2016. As part of the CIL process, the Council as the charging authority has produced the following documents:

 Charging Schedule
 Regulation 123 List 
 CIL Spending Protocol 

Charging Schedule

11.3 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a levy that local authorities can charge on developments in their area. CIL income can be 
used to fund additional infrastructure required to support new development including roads, schools, green spaces and community 
facilities.

11.4 The levy is charged in pounds (£) per square metre on new floorspace (measured as gross internal area) of any type of development 
which has a CIL rate set in the Charging Schedule.The Council adopted its CIL Charging Schedule on the 25 February 2016 and it 
was implemented on the 8th April 2016.  Where CIL is applicable, planning applications determined on or after the implementation date 
may be subject to a CIL charge. 

11.5 Although the Council has implemented its Charging Schedule, the Charging Schedule has to be reviewed to ensure it is up to date. In 
the future the Council will need to produce a revised Charging Schedule thus repeating the preparation and consultation process.

11.6 This SCI will set out the key statutory procedures that the Council must follow prior to adopting a revised Charging Schedule as 
enclosed within Table 4. It is recommended that Table 4 is read in conjunction with Part 3 of the CIL Regulations.



24

11.7 Further information regarding the operation of CIL in the district can be found here:
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/developers-contributions

11.8 Further information can also be found on The National Planning Practice Guidance website: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-
infrastructure-levy

Table 4: CIL Charging Schedule Key Stages of Production
Key Stages of Production How we will Consult Your Opportunities for Involvement 

Initial Evidence Gathering

Planning Policy will carry out research 
and evidence work to inform the 
proposed levy rates to be set out within 
the Preliminary Charging Schedule.

 Not applicable  Register your contact details on 
the Planning Policy Consultation 
Database

Regulation 15: Publish the 
Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule 
for Consultation

1st Public Consultation

Planning Policy will undertake public 
consultation on the CIL Preliminary 
Draft Charging Schedule for a minimum 
period of 6 weeks

Statutory Requirements:
 Send a copy of the preliminary draft to 

Local Planning Authorities that adjoin 
the Charging Authority’s area, 
Hampshire County Council and all 
Town and Parish Councils that fall 
within the charging authority’s area

 Notification to be sent to persons who 
are resident or carrying on business in 
its area, appropriate voluntary bodies 
and bodies which represent the 
interests of persons carrying on 
business in the charging authority’s 
area

 Notice within relevant newspaper

 Review the CIL Preliminary Draft 
Charging Schedule and identify 
any comments you may have

 Submit a formal representation 
outlining your comments, support 
or objection

Please Note: Representations submitted 
during this consultation stage will not be 
considered by the Inspector.

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/developers-contributions
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy


25

Key Stages of Production How we will Consult Your Opportunities for Involvement 

Additional notification methods to be used 
where relevant.

 Electronic version of the consultation 
document will be made publicly 
available on the Council’s website

 Hard copies for reference use will be 
made available at the Council Offices, 
local libraries and other deposit 
locations.

Regulation 16: Publish the CIL Draft 
Charging Schedule for Consultation

2nd Public Consultation

Planning Policy will undertake public 
consultation on the Draft charging 
Schedule for a minimum period of 6 
weeks

Statutory Requirements:

 Electronic version of the consultation 
document, relevant evidence, 
statement of the representations 
procedure and statement of how to 
view hard copies will be made publicly 
available on the Council’s website

 Hard copies of the consultation 
document, relevant evidence, 
statement of the representations 
procedure use will be made available 
at the Council Offices, local libraries 
and other deposit locations.

 Send a copy of the consultation 
document and statement of 
representation procedure to Local 
Planning Authorities (that adjoin the 

 Review the Draft Preliminary 
Charging Schedule and identify 
any comments you may have

 Submit a formal representation 
outlining your comments, support 
or objection

 This is the final opportunity to 
submit a duly made 
representation.

 The Planning Inspector will only 
consider representations submitted 
during this stage as it is 
considered that these 
representations (objections) are 
unresolved.



26

Key Stages of Production How we will Consult Your Opportunities for Involvement 

Charging Authority’s area), Hampshire 
County Council and all Town /Parish 
Councils that fall within the charging 
authority’s area

 Statutory Notice

Regulation 19: Submission of CIL 
Draft Charging Schedule to 
Examiner

Final Draft Charging Schedule

 Submit CIL Draft Charging 
Schedule, evidence base and 
representations received during 
Regulation 16

 Submit statement setting out 
the representations made 
during Regulation 16 and a 
summary of the main issues 
raised by representations

 The Council will then wait for 
the Planning Inspector to set 
the timetable for the 
Examination of the Charging 
Schedule. 

Statutory Requirements:

 All submission documents will be 
electronically available on the 
Council’s website and reference 
copies available at the Council Offices

 Give notice to those persons who 
requested to be notified of the 
submission of the CIL Draft Charging 
Schedule

 The Council will notify those on the 
Planning Policy Consultation 
Database, elected Members, Town 
/ Parish Councils and those who 
submitted representations that the 
CIL Draft Charging Schedule has 
been submitted for Examination

Regulation 25: Approval & 
Publication of CIL Charging 
Schedule

Statutory Requirements:

 Publish CIL Charging Schedule on the The Council will notify those on the 



27

Key Stages of Production How we will Consult Your Opportunities for Involvement 

 CIL Charging Schedule is 
adopted by the Council and 
published

Council’s website

 Make the CIL Charging Schedule 
available for inspection

 Statutory notice in local newspapers

 Give notice to those persons who 
requested to be notified of the 
approval of the CIL Charging 
Schedule

Planning Policy Consultation Database, 
elected Members, Town / Parish Councils 
and those who submitted representations 
that the CIL Charging Schedule has been 
approved

Regulation 123 List (CIL Expenditure)

11.9 The CIL Regulation 123 List sets out the strategic infrastructure types or projects that East Hampshire District Council may fund, in 
whole or in part, through CIL. It does not apply to the proportion of CIL passed to Town and Parish Councils. The Regulation 123 List 
is intended to support the adopted CIL Charging Schedule and the projects listed within will support the level of development identified 
in the adopted Local Plan.

11.10The Council’s Regulation 123 List became valid on the 8th April 2016. Although the Council has adopted its Regulation 123 List, the 
List has to be regularly reviewed to ensure it is up to date and subsequently the Council may produce a revised Regulation 123 List. 
The Regulations do not set out any statutory consultation requirements however National Planning Practice Guidance states that 
Charging Authorities should ensure that changes are clearly explained and subject to local consultation.

11.11For future consultations on an updated Regulation 123 List the Council will provide an electronic copy of the consultation document on 
its website as well as providing hard copies for reference use during office hours at the Council Offices, libraries and other deposit 



28

locations. Notifications will be sent to Elected Members, Parish Councils, those bodies who the Council considers to have an interest 
and those on the Planning Policy Consultation Database.

11.12Further information regarding the Regulation 123 List (April 2016) can be found here:
https://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/developers-contributions

CIL Spending Protocol 

11.13The CIL Spending Protocol will see how the Council intends to spend the CIL receipts received in the district (outside of the South 
Downs National Park). The Spending Protocol will set out:

 the proportion the Council will utilise for monitoring, 
 the frequency by which the Council will provide the Neighbourhood Proportion of the Levy to Town or Parish Councils, 
 how the Council will allocate the remaining CIL funding to strategic infrastructure types or projects set out on the Regulation 123 

List.

11.14The Council will initially undertake a targeted consultation on the draft CIL Spending Protocol with infrastructure providers and Town / 
Parish Councils to obtain the views of these stakeholders on what is being proposed. The responses received to this consultation will 
be presented to the Councils Cabinet alongside the final CIL Spending Protocol that is proposed to be presented to Full Council for 
Adoption.

https://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/developers-contributions


29

12. Planning Applications

12.1 East Hampshire District Council is the Planning Authority for those parts of the district outside of the South Downs National Park 
Authority. As Planning Authority, the Council considers and determines planning applications made under planning legislation with 
proposals ranging from minor household developments such as extensions, through to major applications for residential development, 
retail, office schemes, industrial schemes and infrastructure schemes (e.g. new roads). 

12.2 The Council does not determine planning applications relating to mineral processing and waste disposal. Such proposals are 
determined by Hampshire County Council. Further information can be found here: http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste.htm

12.3 The Council wishes to ensure that any person, group and service providers affected by or interested in a planning application has the 
opportunity to comments on the proposals. 

Pre-Application Advice

12.4 The Council considers it very important that the local community is involved the development management process as early as 
possible. The Council therefore encourages applicants on major, significant or sensitive sites to engage with the local community 
before a planning application is actually submitted to ensure that issues are identified and applicants have the opportunity to make 
appropriate changes to their scheme. 

12.5 The Council encourages potential applicants to engage with the local community on major development at the pre-application stage. 
However, pre-application community engagement is only mandatory where the planning application / proposal is for wind turbine 
development involving more than 2 turbines or where the hub height of any turbine exceeds 15 meters. 

12.6 The Council would expect applicants to undertake high quality consultation that is transparent for the community, is not misleading and 
makes it clear that no decision has been made by the Council. The Local Planning Authority wishes to encourage pre-application 
engagement with communities and developers where it will add value to the process and the outcome. 

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste.htm


30

12.7 Wherever possible, the Council will discuss the need for community involvement with applicants and agents at the Pre-Application 
stage. Further information on the Council’s pre-application advice service can be found at the following link: 
https://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-permission/pre-application-planning-advice

Design Review Panel
12.8 Where appropriate the Council will utilise the services of the Design Review Panel (also known as the Architects panel) which is a 

process whereby significant development proposals may be referred to either the South East Regional Design Panel or the East Hants 
Design Review Panel. These panels comprise independently appointed architects, designers and development professionals who 
provide unbiased design advice to the Council. There is the opportunity for the designer to present their scheme to the Panel. 

Development Consultation Forum
12.9 Where appropriate, the Council will establish a Development Consultation Forum as a mechanism to allow a developer of significant 

proposals to explain their proposals to councillors, public and key stakeholders at an early stage. The Forum will seek to: 

• Identify any issues that may be considered in a formal application; 
• Inform pre-application discussions between officers and the developer; and 
• Enable the developer to shape an application to address community issues. 

Planning Applications 
12.10Applicants should undertake early consultation with the community and the Council will, where ever possible encourage applicants to 

do so. Applicants may also wish to discuss proposals with the local Councillor(s) or Town / Parish Council.

Publicity 
12.11All planning applications are subject to statutory consultation requirements and these are set out in Appendix B together with the 

additional actions the Council undertakes over and above the statutory minimum. East Hampshire District Council will continue to 
engage its community on the basis of these requirements. 

12.12Where a press advertisement is required this is published in The Hampshire Independent. 

https://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-permission/pre-application-planning-advice


31

12.13Site Notices - A site notice will be placed on or close to the planning application site advertising the details of the proposed 
development.  

12.14Neighbour notification letters are sent to the occupiers of any “adjoining property” and give 28 days from the date of the letter to make 
comment. The definition of this is set out at the end of Appendix B. Where that property lies outside the East Hampshire District 
Council planning area (i.e. within the South Downs National Park or within an adjoining administrative area) the Council will notify the 
occupier of that property. For major or significant schemes the Council may, at its discretion, notify the occupiers of more properties 
than the minimum. 

12.15Where amendments are made to an application the Council may undertake additional publicity in the form of a subsequent round of 
neighbour notification. This will be for a period of 14 days and will only be undertaken where the amendments may have a material 
impact off the site. 

12.16When submitting a planning application, it would be helpful to include within the Planning Statement (or provide a separate statement 
on community involvement) how the community has been consulted, a summary of what comments have been received and how the 
scheme has been amended to address matters of concern.

Viewing / Commenting on a Planning Application 
12.17Planning applications can be viewed on the Council’s website and at the Council offices at Penns Place, Petersfield during working 

hours. The online planning application search register can be viewed here: https://planningpublicaccess.easthants.gov.uk/online-
applications//.

12.18Anyone can make comment on planning applications and comments can be made online via the planning application search register. 

12.19Comments can also be submitted via email / post. Representations received cannot be treated in confidence and will form part of the 
public planning application file which (subject to the Data Protection Act) is available on line, or, for inspection by appointment for ‘live’ 
files, at the Council offices. 

https://planningpublicaccess.easthants.gov.uk/online-applications//
https://planningpublicaccess.easthants.gov.uk/online-applications//
https://planningpublicaccess.easthants.gov.uk/online-applications/


32

12.20All representations will be taken into account in the decision making process and will be summarised. Representations should be sent 
in to the Council before the end of the consultation period, which will be the last of the neighbour notification, site notice or press 
advertisement periods. Where an application is considered at Planning Committee any late representation will also be brought to the 
attention of the committee.

12.21The Council has a scheme to allow the public to speak at its Planning Committee but there are some rules that must be followed. You 
can speak only on a planning application where you have submitted comments in writing within the publicised date for comments and 
where that application is to be determined by the Planning Committee. If you are an applicant or an objector we will tell you in advance 
when you have a right to speak to the committee and you must let us know 48 hours before the meeting if you do wish to speak.



33

13. Appendix A – Specific and General Consultation Bodies

13.1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012 require the Council to consult the following 
‘specific’ and general’ consultation bodies if proposals in planning policy documents affect them. A number of these bodies are also 
considered to be Duty to Co-operate bodies). It is important to note that the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 
(schedule 1) also requires qualifying bodies to consult the same consultation bodies in the preparation of Neighbourhood Development 
Plans. In instances where any of the organisations (bodies) detailed below cease to exist, successor bodies will be consulted.

Specific Consultation Bodies

Local Planning Authorities 
 Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council
 Chichester District Council 
 Hampshire County Council
 Hart District Council
 Havant Borough Council 
 South Downs National Park Authority
 Waverley Borough Council 
 Winchester City Council 

Town / Parish Councils 
 All Town and Parish Councils within and adjoining 

East Hampshire District 

Local Enterprise Partnerships
 Enterprise M3 LEP
 The Solent LEP

The Coal Authority
Homes and Communities Agency 
Natural England 
The Environment Agency 
Historic England 
Network Rail Infrastructure Ltd 
Highways England 
Marine Management Organisation
Relevant telecommunications companies 
Hampshire Constabulary/ Police and Crime Commissioner 
Relevant health bodies e.g. Clinical Commissioning Group
Relevant electricity and gas companies
Relevant sewerage and water undertakers



34

In addition to the specific consultation bodies listed above, the council/qualify body will involve as many people and groups as possible 
in the categories below:

General Consultation Bodies

 voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any 
part of the local planning authority’s area, 

 bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic 
or national groups in the local planning authority’s area, 

 bodies which represent the interests of different religious 
groups in the local planning authority’s area, 

 bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in 
the local planning authority’s area, 

 bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on 
business in the local planning authority’s area; 

Examples of organisations which are General Consultation Bodies

Environment and conservation groups (e.g. the Royal Society for the 
Protection of Birds and Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust)

Housing interest groups

Minority ethnic groups Landowners and developers
Gypsy and Traveller groups Local businesses/ bodies which represent local businesses
Sport England and Sport Hampshire Local resident associations
Youth groups, schools colleges Older persons groups
Health care groups Religious groups

Transport providers/operators



35

14. Appendix B – Publicity for Planning Applications

14.1 Publicity for Planning Applications within the East Hampshire Planning Area (i.e. that area of East Hampshire outside the South Downs 
National Park)

14.2 In addition to the publicity set out in these tables the Council will also consult those bodies set out the Town and Country Planning 
Development Management Procedure Order or Planning Practice Guidance.

Pre-submission of planning applications

Nature of Proposed 
Development

Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried out by East Hampshire 
District Council

Applications for 
planning permission 
and listed building 
consent

Where the applicant is not the owner of the land, 
notice served upon the owner where known, or if 
not known, press advertisement

Encourage the discussion of major development 
proposals with interested parties and local 
communities. For example, meet Parish or Town 
Council, notify neighbours, local exhibitions, 
newsletters, leaflets and websites.



36

Post Submission of Planning Applications

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried out 
by East Hampshire District 
Council

All applications except for:

 Listed Building Consent
 Prior Approval demolition of buildings
 Agricultural determinations as to 

whether prior approval is required
 Permitted development prior 

determinations, apart from those 
relating to dwellings

 Applications for Certificate of lawful 
development or use

 Details of valid application entered 
on statutory register

 Site notice or neighbourhood 
notification

 Neighbour Notification, or, 
where no neighbours, site 
notice

Applications (except for a Certificate of lawful 
development or use) affecting the character or 
appearance of a conservation area

 Press notice published by the 
Council

 Site notice displayed by Council for 
at least 7 days.

 Site notice displayed for 21 
days

Applications (except for a Certificate of lawful 
development or use) affecting the setting of a 
listed building

 Press notice published by the 
Council

 Site notice displayed by Council for 
at least 7 days.

 Site notice displayed for 21 
days

Application accompanied with an 
Environmental Statement when application 
initially submitted

 Press notice published by the 
Council

 Site notice displayed by Council for 
at least 21 days.

Nil

Application accompanied by an environmental  Press notice published by the  Site notice displayed for 21 



37

Post Submission of Planning Applications

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried out 
by East Hampshire District 
Council

statement when statement submitted at a later 
date

Council
 Site Notice displayed by the 

applicant for a least 7 days.

days

Application for planning permission which 
represents a departure from the Development 
plan

 Press notice published by the 
Council

 Site notice displayed by Council for 
at least 21 days.

Nil

Application for planning permission which 
affects a public right of way

 Press notice published by the 
Council

 Site notice displayed by Council for 
at least 21 days.

Nil

Application for planning permission for:
10 or more dwellings;
Residential development on a site of 0.5ha or 
more where number of dwellings not known;
1000m2 or more of commercial floorspace; or
Site area of 1.0ha or more.

 Press notice published by the 
Council

 A site notice to be displayed by the 
Council for at least 21 days or 
neighbour notification

 Both site notice to be 
displayed by the Council for 
at least 21 days and, where 
they exist, neighbour 
notification

Application for planning permission for:
 9 or less dwellings;
 Residential development on a site of 

less than 0.5ha where number of 
dwellings not known;

 Less than 1000m2 of commercial 
floorspace; 

 Site area of less than 1.0ha; or

 A site notice to be displayed by the 
Council for at least 21 days or 
neighbour notification

 Neighbour notification, or, 
where no neighbours, site 
notice



38

Post Submission of Planning Applications

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried out 
by East Hampshire District 
Council

 Householder development.
Application for Listed Building Consent except 

Those where the proposal is only alter 
the interior of a Grade II listed building 
or to vary/discharge conditions on a 
consent already granted

 Press Notice published by the 
Council;

 Site notice displayed by the Council 
for at least 7 days

 Site notice displayed by the 
Council for at least 21 days

 Neighbour notification

Application for Listed Building Consent 
where the proposal is only alter the interior 
of a Grade II listed building or to 
vary/discharge conditions on a consent 
already granted

Nil  Site notice displayed by the 
Council for at least 21 days

 Neighbour notification

Application for express consent to display 
advertisements

Nil  Site notice displayed by the 
Council for at least 21 days

 Neighbour notification
Application to undertake works to trees 
covered by Tree Preservation Order 

 Details of valid application entered 
on statutory register

Nil

Notification to undertake works to trees in a 
Conservation Area not covered by Tree 
Preservation Order 

Details of valid application entered 
on statutory register

Nil

Application for demolition of buildings in as 
to whether prior approval of Local Planning 
Authority is required (when not associated 
with an application for planning permission)

 Site Notice displayed by applicant Nil

Application for approval of method of 
demolition and/or restoration of site 

Nil Nil



39

Post Submission of Planning Applications

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried out 
by East Hampshire District 
Council

associated with the demolition of a building  
(when not associated with an application for 
planning permission)
Application for agricultural or forestry 
development as to whether prior approval of 
Local Planning Authority is required

Nil

Application for approval of siting, design 
and/or external appearance of agricultural or 
forestry development

 Site Notice displayed by applicant Nil

Application for Telecommunications 
development as to whether prior approval of 
Local Planning Authority is required where:
 The proposal represents a departure 

from the development plan; or 
 The proposal affects a public right of 

way

 Press Notice published by the 
Council;

 Site notice displayed by the Council 
for at least 21 days

 Neighbour notification

Application for Telecommunications 
development as to whether prior approval of 
Local Planning Authority is required where 
the site area is 1.0ha or more

 Press Notice published by the 
Council;

 Site notice displayed by the Council 
for at least 21 days or neighbour 
notification

 Neighbour notification

Application for Telecommunications 
development as to whether prior approval of 
Local Planning Authority is required where:
 The proposal is not a departure from 

 Site notice displayed by the Council 
for at least 21 days or neighbour 
notification

 Neighbour notification



40

Post Submission of Planning Applications

Nature of Proposed Development Statutory Publicity Additional publicity carried out 
by East Hampshire District 
Council

the development plan;
 Does not affect a public right of way; 

and
 The site is less than 1.0ha

Application for prior approval for 
householder development

 Neighbour notification for 21 days  Neighbour notification

Applications for Certificate of lawful 
development for existing development or 
use

Nil  Equivalent publicity for 
application for planning 
permission of that type

Applications for Certificate of lawful 
development for proposed development or 
use

Nil Nil

Change of use prior approval (permitted 
development where prior approval of the 
Local Planning Authority is required, 
depending on type, of transport, noise, flood 
risk or contamination)

Nil Nil

Definition of ‘adjoining property’: Any neighbouring property that shares a common boundary with the land subject to the proposed development.

In all cases the owners/occupiers of property are notified, land owners of open land or where the property is in extensive grounds and not within 50m of 
the application site, are not notified.



41

15. Glossary

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL)

A levy that local authorities can choose to charge on new developments in their area. The charges are based on 
formula relating to the size and type of new development and money can be used to fund infrastructure.

Development Plan Documents which set out the policies and proposals for the development and use of land. In the East Hampshire 
District (outside of the South Downs National Park Authority) the development plan currently comprises the Joint 
Core Strategy (2014), Housing and Employment Allocation Plan (2016) and the Saved Policies of the Local Plan 
Second Review (2006), Hampshire County Council Minerals and Waste Plan and Neighbourhood Plans.

Duty to Co-operate The Localism Act 2011 places a legal duty on Local Planning Authorities, County Councils, and public bodies to 
actively engage on an on-going basis to in Local Plan preparation in the context of strategic cross boundary 
matters.

Evidence Base Information gathered by the Local Planning Authority to support the Local Plan and other Development Plan 
Documents.

Local Development 
Document

The collective term for Development Plan Documents (DPDs), Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and 
the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS)

Provides a project plan identifying which development plan documents will be produced and when.

National Planning 
Policy Framework 
(NPPF)

Introduced in 2012, this framework sets out the government’s planning policies and how these are expected to be 
applied.

Neighbourhood Plans Neighbourhood Plans are a way for communities to allocate land for new homes, shops or offices to be built, and 
to have a say on what those new buildings should look like and the type of infrastructure which would be provided.

Planning policy 
consultation database

Consultation database maintained by the planning policy team which includes anyone who has requested to be 
consulted on the preparation of planning policy documents.

Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment (SEA)

A generic term used to describe environmental assessment as applied to policies, plans and programmes. The 
European ‘SEA Directive’ (2001/42/EC) requires a formal ‘environmental assessment of certain plans and 
programmes, including those in the field of planning and land use’.



42

Supplementary 
Planning Documents 
(SPDs)

Provide supplementary information in respect of the policies in Development Plan Documents. They do not form 
part of the Development Plan and are not subject to independent examination.

Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA)

Process to appraise policies to ensure they reflect sustainable development objectives (i.e. social, environmental 
and economic factors). 



NON EXEMPT

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

07 March 2018

The Residential Extensions & Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document.

Report by Planning Policy

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Councillors the revised Residential 
Extensions & Householder Development Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) which has been prepared by officers.

1.2 A draft version of the SPD was subject to public consultation for a period of eight 
weeks between 4 December 2017 and 29 January 2018. Appendix A 
accompanying this report contains the Consultation Statement which sets out 
how the Council promoted the consultation; the comments received and officer 
responses to these comments. 

1.3 Appendix B accompanying this report contains the revised Residential 
Extensions & Householder Development SPD that has been updated in response 
to some of the comments received during the eight week public consultation 
period.  The Council has previously issued design guidance for residential 
extensions and some of these principles remain relevant, but they have now 
been fully updated to be consistent with current national and local planning 
policies. Upon adoption, the SPD will be capable of carrying significant weight as 
a material consideration in the planning application process for areas outside of 
the South Downs National Park.

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:

i. notes the content of the Consultation Statement (Appendix A of this report)
ii. notes the content of the Supplementary Planning Document (Appendix B of 

this report) and recommend it to Cabinet for consideration on the 24 May 
2018.  



NON EXEMPT

3.0 Summary

3.1 This report and accompanying Appendices set out a summary of the comments 
received during the eight week public consultation on the Draft Residential 
Extensions & Householder Development SPD, which closed on the 29 January 
2018. 

3.2 This report summarises the comments received as part of the public consultation 
and any changes that have been made to the final SPD (Appendix B). 

3.3 The SPD provides details on how to achieve a well-designed residential 
extension, whilst respecting local amenity. Guidance is also provided on the 
acceptable design of new garages, annexes and boundary treatments (such as 
new walls or fences).

4.0 Subject of Report

4.1 The Draft Residential Extensions & Householder Development SPD was subject 
to Public Consultation between 4 December 2017 and 29 January 2018. During 
the public consultation period, 11 responses were received and these are 
detailed in the Consultation Statement (Appendix A). An additional response was 
received after the consultation deadline, on Tuesday 30 January 2018. This 
response has also been considered by planning officers, but has been marked as 
a late response in the Consultation Statement.

4.2 Responses were received from the operators of utilities infrastructure (Scottish & 
Southern Electricity Networks, Southern Water and Thames Water), statutory 
agencies (Highways England, Historic England and Natural England), three 
parish councils (Bramshott & Liphook, Headley and Medstead) and a small 
number of interested groups and individuals. Many of the responses expressed 
support for the principle of clarifying the Council’s expectations for the design of 
new residential extensions and other householder development. A number of 
changes to the draft SPD were however put forward (see Appendix B for details).

4.3 Scottish & Southern Electricity Networks and Thames Water both noted that 
householder developments could affect existing utilities infrastructure. In 
particular, the design and layout of extensions and other householder 
development could affect the routing of, or maintenance arrangements for 
overhead power lines, water mains or sewers. Thames Water also raised the 
issue of flooding for new basement development. However, this form of 
development is not covered by the SPD and the issue is already dealt with 
through the Building Regulations (i.e. in Part H of the Building Regulations).

4.4 Natural England expressed support for the SPD and in particular for the linkage 
with the Council’s Joint Core Strategy policy CP21 (Biodiversity). Prospective 
applicants could however be directed to contact the Hampshire Biodiversity 



NON EXEMPT

Information Centre, to ensure that potential impacts on protected species are 
identified. Historic England also expressed support for the document but 
suggested minor amendments to reflect that permitted development rights are 
more restrictive in conservation areas, and that listed building consent will be 
required for alterations to listed buildings. Highways England had no substantive 
comments to make.

4.5 In some of the responses from parish councils and interested members of the 
public, concern was expressed about the status of the SPD’s guidance. Whilst 
two parish councils expressed an interest in a strict enforcement of the guidance, 
the Alton Society and a member of the public suggested concern that the SPD 
may be overly prescriptive. It is however important to bear in mind that the SPD 
does not introduce new policy and only has the status of a material consideration 
in the planning application process. As always, the Council will consider each 
application on its own merits, whilst planning legislation is clear that applications 
should be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The SPD merely clarifies what the Council 
typically expects from householder development proposals, on the basis of the 
development plan and relevant national planning policies.

4.6 One member of the public suggested that the SPD was flawed in its approach to 
dealing with trees in proximity to householder development. The SPD does not 
however specifically deal with the implementation of the Council’s planning 
policies for the protection and enhancement of trees (e.g. CP20 (Landscape) and 
CP21 (Biodiversity) of the Joint Core Strategy). The protection and enhancement 
of trees is ensured with respect to these policies, but it is not generally within the 
scope of the SPD to elaborate on such matters. Nevertheless, it is recognised 
that the location of existing trees may contribute significantly to a streetscene and 
that proposals for new boundary treatments could influence this contribution.

4.7 Another response, received from a member of the public after the consultation 
deadline, suggested a number of caveats, qualifications and amendments to the 
SPD’s drawings and text. These suggestions reflect the respondent’s own 
experience with proposals for residential extensions. They are specific to 
exceptional circumstances or atypical cases and therefore add complexity or 
otherwise detract from the expression of the SPD’s general principles. It is 
important to note that the purpose of the SPD is to provide general principles but 
not to supersede policies of the development plan or national planning policies, 
which enable a flexible approach to be adopted where circumstances demand or 
allow.

4.3 Following the public consultation, the SPD has been revised (Appendix B of this 
report) where necessary to address issues raised during the consultation process 
and to correct some typographical errors.



NON EXEMPT

4.4 Upon adoption, the revised SPD will provide guidance for prospective applicants 
on how to achieve a well-designed residential extension, whilst respecting local 
amenity. Guidance shall  also be provided on the acceptable design of new 
garages, annexes and boundary treatments (such as new walls or fences).

4.5 The table below provides an indicative timetable of the stages to be undertaken 
to adopt the Residential Extensions & Householder Development SPD:

SPD to Cabinet 24 May 2018 
SPD to Council for Adoption 19 July 2018

 4.6 Once adopted, the Supplementary Planning Document will form part of the 
Planning Policy Framework for East Hampshire District (outside of the National 
Park).

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  There are no direct resource implications. Costs will be met within 
existing resources and budgets.

5.2 Legal:  There are legal issues to consider in progressing the SPD towards 
adoption, in relation to satisfying the necessary regulations. The SPD will be 
produced in compliance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. 

5.3 Strategy: The Residential Extensions & Householder Development SPD, when 
adopted, will be a material consideration for related planning applications in 
areas outside of the South Downs National Park. 

5.4 Risks: There is the potential for a third party to legally challenge the SPD. 
However, the SPD has been produced in compliance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

5.5 Communications: The draft SPD was subject to eight weeks public consultation 
which exceeds the minimum requirements of the Councils Statement of 
Community Involvement and those set out in Regulation 12 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  

Appendices:

Appendix A – Consultation Statement: The Residential Extensions & Householder 
Development Supplementary Planning Document

Appendix B – East Hampshire The Residential Extensions & Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document



NON EXEMPT

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins (20.02.18)
Legal Services: Sara Bryon (23.02.18)
Finance: Andy Miles (19.02.18)
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass (21.02.18)

Contact Officer: Kevin Thurlow
Job Title:       Principal Policy Planner
Telephone:       01730 234213
E-Mail:       Kevin.Thurlow@easthants.gov.uk





1

The East Hampshire District Local Plan: Draft Residential Development and 
Householder Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Regulation 12 Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 
2012. 

Persons consulted when preparing the supplementary planning document 

The Residential Development and Householder Extensions SPD was subject to public 
consultation for a period of 8 weeks between 4 December 2017 and 29 January 2018. 
Copies of the draft document and supporting information (namely a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening, Equalities Impact 
Assessment and the Statement of Matters and Availability (see Appendix 1) were made 
available to view at the following locations during opening hours: 

 East Hampshire District Council Offices
 Alton Information Office
 Bordon Information Office
 Bramshott and Liphook Parish Office
 Horndean Parish Office
 Alton Library 
 Bordon Library
 Horndean Library 
 Liphook Library 
 Petersfield Library

The SPD and supporting information was also made available to view online at: 
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-residential-extensions-householder-development-spd

(see Appendix 2 and Appendix 3). 

Representations were invited via our online consultation portal, post or via email. 

Documents available on the Council’s Local Plan Consultation Portal  
The Draft SPD was available to view online using our consultation portal. The portal enables 
users to submit comments on the document as they read it. The consultation portal can be 
accessed from the following link:
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/

Consultation letters and emails 
The Council notified all registered members on the East Hampshire District Local Plan 
consultation database. The database covers a wide range of stakeholders including local 
residents, businesses, and statutory bodies. In total, there are approximately 1,100 contacts 
on the database. The majority of members were contacted via email (see Appendix 4) and 
those without an email address were contacted via post (see Appendix 5). 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-residential-extensions-householder-development-spd
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/


2

Documents available on the Council’s website 
Copies of the Consultation Draft SPD, the Statement of SPD Matters and Availability, the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening 
Assessment; and Equalities Impact Assessment were made available to view/download on 
the Council’s website at:
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-residential-extensions-householder-development-spd

Summary of the main issues raised by those persons 
A total of  12 individuals and organisations responded to the draft Residential Development 
and Householder Extensions SPD, although only 11 of these were submitted before the 
close of the consultation period. The comments made are set out in full in the schedule 
attached as Appendix 6, with the 12th response marked as a late submission. 

How those issues have been addressed in the supplementary planning document 
The Officer comments relating to these concerns and how they have been addressed in the 
final version of the SPD can be found in Appendix 6.

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-residential-extensions-householder-development-spd


3

Appendix 1: Statement of SPD Matters and Availability 



4



5

Appendix 2: Planning Policy Consultation Webpage 



6

Appendix 3: Draft Residential Extensions and Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document Webpage 



7

Appendix 4: Email to Consultees  



8

Appendix 5: Letter to Consultees  



9



10

Appendix 6: Residential Extensions and Householder Development Supplementary Planning Document – Consultation Responses 
and Officer Comments

NB: all paragraph references in the ‘Officer Response’ column are to the revised SPD except where otherwise stated

Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

REP01 – 
Scottish and 
Southern 
Electricity 
Networks

Where overhead lines cross development sites, these will, with the exception of 400kV tower 
lines, normally be owned and operated by Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks.

In order to minimise costs, wherever possible, existing overhead lines can remain in place with 
uses such as open space, parking, garages or public highways generally being permitted in 
proximity to the overhead lines. Where this is not practicable, or where developers choose to lay 
out their proposals otherwise, then agreement will be needed as to how these will be dealt with, 
including agreeing costs and identifying suitable alternative routing for the circuits.  The existing 
customer base should not be burdened by any costs arising from new development proposals.

To ensure certainty of delivery of a development site, any anticipated relocation of existing 
overhead lines should be formally agreed with Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks prior to 
submission of a planning application.

Comments noted. The 
SPD has been revised 
through a new paragraph 
2.8 and related 
amendments at 
paragraphs 3.3 and 3.7, 
to inform homeowners 
that where proposals for 
extensions and other 
householder 
developments require the 
relocation of existing 
electricity infrastructure, 
agreement with Scottish 
and Southern Electricity 
Networks is likely to be 
required, in relation to 
costs and alternative 
routings.  

REP02 – 
Medstead 
Parish Council 

Medstead Parish Council have read the proposals and are supportive of the aims of the proposed 
document.

Support noted.

REP03 – 
Southern 
Water

Thank you for inviting Southern Water to respond to the East Hampshire's Draft Vehicle Parking 
Standards and Residential Development and Householder Extensions SPDs. Southern Water do 
not have any comments to make on this occasion.

Comments noted. No 
changes to the SPD are 
required.

REP04 – 
Thames Water

Thames Water are the statutory sewerage undertaker for the majority of the East Hants District 
and are hence a “specific consultation body” in accordance with the Town & Country Planning 

Comments noted. The 
SPD has been revised 



11

(Local Planning) Regulations 2012.  We have the following comments on the consultation on 
behalf of Thames Water: Wastewater [and Water] Infrastructure. 

There may be existing public sewers crossing the householder’s site. If building over or close to a 
public sewer is agreed to by Thames Water it will need to be regulated by a ‘Build over or near to’ 
Agreement in order to protect the public sewer and/or apparatus in question. It may be possible 
for public sewers to be moved at a developer’s request so as to accommodate development in 
accordance with Section 185 of the Water Act 1989. 

There may be existing water mains crossing the householder’s site. In such cases the developer 
may be required to pay for any mains diversions and new off-site infrastructure.
 
Thames Water requests that all basement development incorporates a positive pumped device or 
other suitable flood prevention device to avoid the risk of sewage backflow causing sewer 
flooding. This is because the wastewater network may surcharge to ground level during storm 
conditions. Such measures are required in order to comply with paragraph 103 of the NPPF which 
highlights the need to avoid flooding and also in the interests of good building practise as 
recognised in Part H of the Building Regulations. I trust the above is satisfactory, but please do 
not hesitate to contact me if you have any queries.

through a new paragraph 
2.8, and related 
amendments at 
paragraphs 3.3 and 3.7,  
to inform homeowners 
that where proposals for 
extensions and other 
householder 
developments would 
affect existing water 
supply and wastewater 
infrastructure (such as 
water mains or sewers), 
Thames Water or 
Portsmouth Water should 
be contacted, in relation 
to the potential for re-
routing or securing 
access for maintenance 
purposes. 

REP05 – 
Highways 
England

The strategic road network is a critical national asset and as such Highways England works to 
ensure that it operates and is managed in the public interest, both in respect of current activities 
and needs as well as in providing effective stewardship of its long-term operation and integrity.
 
We will therefore be concerned with proposals that have the potential to impact the safe and 
efficient operation of the SRN, in this case the A3. 

We have reviewed consultation and have no comments. 

Comments noted. No 
changes to the SPD are 
required.

REP06 – 
Headley Parish 
Council

This was considered a helpful document for householders, but certain recent planning application 
approvals have not reflected the principles outlined in the draft document. However, we look 
forward to its early implementation.

Comments noted. The 
SPD (as amended) will 
be implemented in 
Headley parish as a 
material consideration for 
future planning 
applications for 



12

residential extensions 
and other householder 
development. No 
changes to the SPD are 
required.
 

REP07 – 
Bramshott and 
Liphook Parish 
Council

Having read the proposed new development policy, Bramshott and Liphook Parish Council is in 
support of enhancing building standards and seeing good quality buildings and extensions in the 
East Hampshire area. The Parish has 2 conservation areas in the locality and the Council wishes 
to see these and other areas benefit from design led planning policies. The Council would also 
wish to see stricter enforcement if these standards are being flouted by homeowners and 
developers.

Comments noted. 
Paragraph 2.12 of the 
draft SPD identifies the 
importance of respecting 
the district’s built heritage 
and directs attention 
towards Joint Core 
Strategy policy CP30 
(Historic Environment) for 
purposes of conserving 
and enhancing the 
district’s heritage assets. 
However, the scope of 
the SPD is limited to 
general principles for 
residential extensions 
and householder 
development; it does not 
provide advice that is 
tailored to distinct parts 
of the built environment 
such as conservation 
areas. Instead and for 
these areas in particular, 
East Hampshire District 
Council has a 
programme of gradually 
updating its existing 
guidance documents to 



13

provide Conservation 
Area Appraisals and 
Management Plans. No 
changes to the SPD are 
required.

REP08 – Rod 
Eckles

Much of the detail seems to duplicate existing advice that can be found on the Planning Portal, 
but nonetheless seems to serve as useful guidance for general public consumption.

We do have some resevations about what seems to be over-prescriptive advice in some cases, 
for example the commentary relating to the form of dormer windows (3.29 – 3.32).  We would 
question whether it is appropriate for this type of generalized guidance to be too prescriptive on 
specific design matters: that reduces the opportunity or incentive for innovation. 

In a similar vein, under 3.8 Key Points, instead of "Extensions should reflect the appearance of 
the host dwelling" we would prefer "Extensions should be sympathetic with the appearance of the 
host dwelling".

Beyond these detailed points there is nothing that we feel worthy of formal comment in terms of 
required amendments, and we regard this as a helpful document.

Comments noted. 
Paragraph 2.5 of the 
draft SPD clarifies the 
status of the advice and 
guidance contained 
within. Specifically, the 
SPD outlines matters of 
principle, but each 
proposal will always be 
considered in its own 
merits, taking account of 
national planning policies 
and the development 
plan. Further, the SPD 
does not supersede the 
Council’s planning 
policies, which always 
encourage an exemplary 
standard of design and 
architecture (see policy 
CP29 of the Joint Core 
Strategy). When 
interpreted in the context 
of national and local 
planning policies, the 
SPD will not therefore be 
overly prescriptive. It 
does not prevent suitably 
designed alternatives 



14

from being justified and 
permitted. The purpose 
of the SPD is to clarify 
what the Council typically 
expects from 
householder 
development proposals, 
so it is relevant to include 
details of what is typically 
acceptable, to prevent 
misunderstandings 
occurring.

Notwithstanding the 
above, the ‘Key Points’ at 
paragraph 2.9 have been 
revised, to note that 
extensions should be 
sympathetic to the 
appearance of the host 
dwelling. This better 
acknowledges the scope 
for justifiable variation in 
design, in accordance 
with national and local 
planning policies.

REP09 – Andy 
Moffat

1. Supplementary Planning on this important subject is to be welcomed. However, the almost 
complete absence of reference to trees in proximity to such potential development is to be 
regretted as a serious flaw in the document. 
2. Trees are vital components of the urban landscape, as recognised in The Town and Country 
Planning Act (1990) which states (para 197): It shall be the duty of the local planning authority — 
(a) to ensure, whenever it is appropriate, that in granting planning permission for any 
development adequate provision is made, by the imposition of conditions, for the preservation or 
planting of trees; (my italics).
3. The ‘East Hampshire district local plan: joint core strategy’ also recognises

Comments noted. It is 
not the intention of the 
SPD to provide 
applicants with advice 
and guidance in relation 
to Joint Core Strategy 
polices CP20 
(Landscape) and CP21 
(Biodiversity), which are 



15

the importance of protecting existing green infrastructure, including trees:
“New development will be required to:…
d) protect and enhance natural and historic features which contribute to
the distinctive character of the district’s landscape, such as trees,
woodlands, hedgerows,.….” (my italics).
4. The importance of urban trees has also been emphasised strongly in recent (2018) 
Government national policy contained in ‘A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the 
Environment’
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d
ata/file/673203/25-year-environment-plan.pdf).
5. So it is important that existing and emerging policies and regulatory
mechanisms are used to protect trees whenever possible. British Standard
BS5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction – Recommendations) 
exists to guide development where trees exist in close proximity, and many local authorities insist 
on its use by applicants when submitting plans for residential and householder development. 
There are compelling reasons why this is so, including:
 Development can damage or destroy above-ground components of the tree which can disfigure it, or 
cause pathways for infection and risk to
future longevity;
• More importantly, below ground excavation for provision of
foundations, utilities or basement extensions inevitably poses a risk to
the root structures of trees within , or even outside the property
boundary. Significant damage to tree roots can pose a risk to tree health and longevity, or to its 
future stability in the face of storms.
6. Trees are inevitably vulnerable to the effects of even small-scale
development in the residential setting. BS5837 has been written and is
used successfully across the country to help in the design of extensions and other residential 
development – it is not a document meant to preclude it. The methodology is relevant to all trees 
in the proximity of proposed development – it operates independently of the Tree Preservation 
Order process.
7. In addition to providing global benefits such as carbon sequestration andbiodiversity, we 
increasingly understand the benefits of trees to
householders, including enhancing microclimate, attenuating noise and air pollution, increasing 
property value as well as providing amenity. So it is vital that applicants are given strong guidance 
when considering

the principal local 
planning policies for the 
protection and 
enhancement of natural 
features such as trees, 
which are of particular 
importance for the 
landscape and 
biodiversity of East 
Hampshire, It would 
therefore be 
inappropriate for the SPD 
to focus on many of the 
benefits of retaining and 
enhancing tree cover on 
development sites. 
Instead, the proposed 
guidance and advice is 
specifically focused on 
the matters detailed at 
paragraph 2.10 of the 
draft SPD. The scope of 
the SPD does however 
encompass boundary 
treatments, which may 
include trees. The SPD 
has therefore been 
revised with a new 
footnote at paragraph 
3.11 to reference the 
suggested British 
Standard: BS5837:2012 
and link to relevant 
policies in the Joint Core 
Strategy (i.e. CP20 and 



16

development, and I believe it is the responsibility of EHDC to follow many other local authorities in 
doing so. Insertion of appropriate material referencing BS5837 in a revised Supplementary 
Planning Document would comply with these responsibilities. I hope you are able to comply with 
this request.

CP21).

REP10 – 
Natural 
England

Natural England welcomes paragraph 2.13 which highlights the need for development proposals 
to maintain, enhance and protect the district’s biodiversity in accordance with JCS policy CP21 
(Biodiversity) and highlighting that residential extensions could affect protected species, such as 
bats. In addition to advising prospective applicants to consult East Hampshire District Council’s 
Local planning application requirements document,  Natural England advise that the 
Supplementary Planning Document also  includes recommending that applicants contact the 
Hampshire Biodiversity  Information Centre for information to see if there are any records of 
protected species within the vicinity of the proposed development This will ensure that protected 
species are fully taken into account.    

A link to the Hampshire Biodiversity Information centre can be found here. 

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/biodiversity/informationcentre

Support noted. The SPD 
has been revised at 
paragraph 1.14, to refer 
prospective applicants to 
the Hampshire 
Biodiversity Information 
Centre, to better ensure 
that protected species 
are fully taken into 
account.

REP11 – 
Historic 
England

We welcome the production of this SPD as encouraging good design in the District. We 
particularly welcome paragraph 2.12 as highlighting the need for particularly sensitive design 
where the extension would or might affect a heritage asset or assets.
It may be worth noting in paragraph 2.17 that the size of extensions allowed as permitted 
development is more restricted in conservation areas, and that even if an extension to a listed 
building is permitted development and therefore does not require a specific grant of planning 
permission, listed building consent will still be required.

Support noted. The SPD 
has been revised at 
paragraphs 1.18 and 
1.19, to note that 
different permitted 
development rights apply 
in conservation areas 
and that extensions to 
listed buildings will 
require listed building 
consent.

Late 
Submission:

REP12 – 
Adrian Bird

Just missed your deadline on this but hope that you will find some of the comments on my 
markup of your draft document constructive. In the twilight of a long career much of which has 
been spent designing just this sort of work, I would add that the line between 'guidance' and 
'dogma' is very fine, and a light touch is needed in getting the right solutions.
I'm also attaching our 'guidance' from the Bramshott and Liphook VDS (never made SPG/D due 
to poor (low) final  public response) which the Preservation Society is currently revising and 
updating so that it is capable of being appended to the upcoming NDP, and which you might find 

Comments noted. The 
SPD will be revised to 
correct the grammatical 
error identified at 
paragraph 1.14.

The SPD is primarily 



17

amusing (and of some relevance).
NB: Cannot download comments from PDF as have marked up original version with pen. Please 
see PDFs. [Officer summary: response identifies a grammatical error at paragraph 2.13 in the 
draft SPD (‘Protected’ instead of the correct ‘Protection’); suggests additional text at paragraph 
2.17 of the draft SPD, to refer to “fall back” positions offered by permitted development rights; 
suggests additional text at paragraph 3.3 of the draft SPD to note that there are times when 
subservience to the existing dwelling may not be the appropriate solution for an extension; 
suggests caveats and qualifications for drawings on pages 10, 11, 12, 15, 18, 19 and 20 of the 
draft SPD, relating to clarity and potential for other solutions; suggests additional text at 
paragraph 4.13 of the draft SPD to note that high fences, where essential, should set back to 
allow space for hedge planting, using shade-tolerant species.] 

concerned with the 
interpretation of planning 
policies CP27 and CP29 
of the Joint Core 
Strategy. It would 
therefore be 
inappropriate to 
elaborate the provisions 
of permitted development 
rights, as “fall back” 
positions or otherwise. 
Permitted development 
rights are described on 
the Government’s 
Planning Portal, which is 
signposted in the SPD.

Paragraph 2.5 of the 
draft SPD clarifies the 
status of the advice and 
guidance contained 
within. Specifically, the 
SPD outlines matters of 
principle, but each 
proposal will always be 
considered in its own 
merits, taking account of 
national planning policies 
and the development 
plan. When interpreted in 
the context of national 
and local planning 
policies, the SPD will not 
prevent suitably designed 
alternatives from being 



18

justified and permitted. It 
is therefore unnecessary 
to qualify the guidance in 
the manners suggested 
at paragraphs 3.3 and 
4.13 of the draft SPD. 
The addition of the 
proposed, circumstance-
specific advice would 
reduce the clarity of the 
SPD’s principles. 

All diagrams are 
illustrative of the SPD’s 
general principles and do 
not seek to reflect all 
potential designs that 
may be acceptable in 
planning policy terms. 
Additional drawings to 
cover particular 
circumstances requiring 
a different approach may 
confuse readers and 
detract from the 
expression of the general 
principles. No further 
changes are required.



1

The East Hampshire District Local Plan

‘Residential Extensions & 
Householder Development’ 

Supplementary Planning 
Document

February 2018 



2

CONTENTS
1. INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................3

WHAT IS A SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD)?...........................................................................................3
WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS SPD?..........................................................................................................................3
NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT ......................................................................................................................................4
LOCAL POLICY CONTEXT............................................................................................................................................4
WHEN DOES THIS GUIDANCE APPLY? ...........................................................................................................................6

2. EXTENSIONS ......................................................................................................................................7

GENERAL ADVICE FOR EXTENSIONS .............................................................................................................................7
SPECIFIC ADVICE......................................................................................................................................................9
REAR EXTENSIONS ...................................................................................................................................................9
SIDE EXTENSIONS ..................................................................................................................................................12
FRONT EXTENSIONS ...............................................................................................................................................14
EXTENSIONS ON CORNER PLOTS ...............................................................................................................................15
ROOF EXTENSIONS (INCLUDING DORMERS AND ROOFLIGHTS)..........................................................................................16

3. OTHER HOUSEHOLDER DEVELOPMENT ............................................................................................18

GARAGES AND OUTBUILDINGS .................................................................................................................................18
ANNEXES .............................................................................................................................................................19
BOUNDARY TREATMENTS........................................................................................................................................20

4. GLOSSARY........................................................................................................................................22



3

1. INTRODUCTION

What is a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)?

1.1 A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) elaborates upon policies in the 
Development Plan, in this instance the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2028 (adopted in June 2014).   SPDs are one 
of the material considerations that can be taken into account when determining 
a planning application.

1.2 This document is a SPD which supports and helps to interpret East Hampshire 
District Council’s design policies in its JCS, as these apply to residential 
extensions and other householder developments. The SPD elaborates upon 
aspects of the following East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy Policies:

 Policy CP27: Pollution
 Policy CP29: Design

1.3 Please note that this document does not apply to developments within the 
South Downs National Park. 

1.4 This supplementary planning document will help prospective applicants to 
make successful planning applications for residential extensions to their homes 
and for other minor householder developments. Please read and take account 
of the following guidance before submitting a planning application. 

What is the purpose of this SPD?

1.5 The purpose of this Supplementary Planning Document is to provide guidance 
for home-owners in East Hampshire (outside of the South Downs National 
Park) on how to deal with potential design and amenity issues for extending a 
dwelling, building a new outbuilding, or erecting a new boundary. The Council 
wishes to make clear what it expects from applicants for these kinds of 
development, in terms of its strategic design and pollution planning policies.

1.6 The District Council must take into account the effect which any proposed 
extension may have on neighbouring households, the property itself and the 
appearance of the area where you live. This SPD outlines the design and 
amenity principles that will be followed in assessing relevant planning 
applications. However, each case will always be considered on its own merits, 
taking account of all relevant policies of the Council’s development plan. This 
SPD does not supersede but only helps to interpret policies CP27 and CP29 of 
the Council’s JCS. This SPD should therefore be considered alongside the 
Local Plan and any relevant Neighbourhood Plan.   



4

National Policy Context 

1.7 Good design does not always mean greater cost.  Employing an architect and 
using better materials may cost more to start with, but in the long term a well 
designed and constructed extension will cost less to maintain and is more likely 
to increase the value of your home. Planning legislation and national policy 
further underlines the importance of ensuring good design in new development.

1.8 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires local planning 
authorities and all other relevant parties to exercise their functions “with the 
objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable development”. The 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) expresses the Government’s view 
of what sustainable development means for the practice of the planning system 
in England. The NPPF makes clear that sustainable development involves 
replacing poor design with better design (paragraph 9), whilst seeking to secure 
a high quality design and a good standard of amenity is identified as one of the 
Government’s core planning principles (paragraph 17).

1.9 Paragraphs 56-68 of the NPPF confirm the importance that the Government 
attaches to design and the built environment. Amongst other things, it states 
that planning permission should be refused for development of poor design that 
fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality 
of an area and the way it functions.

1.10 These “key messages” from legislation and national policy have informed the 
Council’s local plan, in particular the requirements of policies CP27 and CP29 
of the JCS.

Local Policy Context

1.11 Policies CP27 (Pollution) and CP29 (Design) of the Council’s JCS highlight the 
importance of ensuring that for new extensions, annexes, garages or 
boundaries:

 the occupiers of neighbouring properties are not adversely affected by 
poorly-positioned new buildings, extensions or boundary treatments 
(Policy CP27); 

 the design and layout of new buildings or extensions are appropriate to 
their settings in terms of the scale, height, massing and density of 
development; and in terms of their relationships to adjoining buildings, 
spaces around buildings and landscape features (criterion d), Policy 
CP29);



5

 new buildings, extensions or boundaries make a positive contribution to 
the local area by the use of good quality materials (criterion e), Policy 
CP29);

 new parking arrangements are within curtilage where possible and help to 
secure a high quality environment (criterion k), Policy CP29).

1.12 The remainder of this SPD provides more detailed guidance in relation to the 
above aspects of policies CP27 and CP29. Other policies from the Council’s 
development plan will also be relevant, such as saved policy HE2: Alterations 
and Extensions to Buildings. East Hampshire District Council offers a pre-
application advisory service, which provides advice on proposals in advance of 
a formal planning application. This service can help to identify the relevant 
policies and interpret their implications for the proposed development.

1.13 In particular, please note that in conservation areas and in locations where 
development could affect a listed building, a scheduled ancient monument, an 
archaeological site, or a historic park and garden: the advice of this SPD must 
be considered in the context of JCS policy CP30 (Historic Environment). 
Planning permission is likely to be refused for proposals that are inconsistent 
with the requirement to conserve, enhance, maintain or manage the district’s 
heritage assets.

1.14 Similarly, development proposals will need to maintain, enhance and protect 
the district’s biodiversity in accordance with JCS policy CP21 (Biodiversity). 
Although proposals for residential extensions etc. are unlikely to have a 
significant effects on the district’s protected areas (e.g. Special Protection 
Areas or Special Areas of Conservation); development could affect protected 
species, such as bats which may roost in the roof spaces or eaves of existing 
dwellings. Prospective applicants are advised to consult East Hampshire 
District Council’s Local planning application requirements document (available 
on the Council’s website1) for details of what may be required in support of a 
planning application, to ensure that the requirements of policy CP21 would be 
met. Prospective applicants should also contact the Hampshire Biodiversity 
Information Centre2 to determine if there are any records of protected species 
within the vicinity of the proposed development. 

1.15 Some parish councils in East Hampshire have prepared neighbourhood plans 
which, once they have been formally “made”, become part of the development 
plan. Up-to-date information on the coverage and the content of neighbourhood 
plans (outside of the South Downs National Park) is available on the District 
Council’s website. Some parish councils also have village design statements, 
which may be material planning considerations. Information about village 
design statements can be obtained from parish councils.

1 Please see: 
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20Planning%20Application%20Requireme
nts_4.pdf 
2 Please see: 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/biodiversity/informationcentre 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20Planning%20Application%20Requirements_4.pdf
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20Planning%20Application%20Requirements_4.pdf
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/biodiversity/informationcentre


6

When does this guidance apply?

1.16 This SPD only applies to development proposals in parts of East Hampshire 
outside of the South Downs National Park.

1.17 The guidance of this SPD only applies in consideration of JCS policies CP27 
and CP29. It does not seek to interpret other design and amenity policies such 
as those found in relevant neighbourhood plans; or other policies of the 
development plan that would also apply to a proposal. Prospective applicants 
are strongly advised to read and take account of all relevant policies in the 
Council’s Local Plan and in neighbourhood plans which have been “made”, or 
have been successful at local referendum. 

1.18 Some proposals for extending a house, making minor alterations, or building a 
new outbuilding may not require planning permission, because they would 
constitute “permitted development”. This is development that is already 
permitted by Part 1 of Schedule 2 of The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), without the need 
for permission from the District Council. However, even in these cases, the 
advice of this document may still be helpful for achieving a high standard of 
design and for avoiding future conflicts with neighbours. Please note that 
permitted development rights are more restrictive in conservations areas.

1.19 The Government’s online Planning Portal provides further information on 
whether you’re likely to require planning permission for home improvement 
projects. Please note that listed building consent will be required for extensions 
to listed buildings.



7

2. EXTENSIONS 

2.1 Thinking of extending your home? The following guidance will help you plan 
your extension, by identifying some of the key points to consider for achieving a 
high quality design whilst respecting residential amenity.

General Advice for Extensions

2.2 Alterations and extensions must be of a high quality of design which responds 
positively to the opportunities for improving the original building.  To achieve 
this goal it is essential to assess the factors which make up the character, 
appearance and setting of your home.  

2.3 The general form of an extension, its roof pitch and eaves details, its 
profile/outline, the materials used, positions of windows and doors and their 
details should all relate to the original building and the existing street scene and 
building patterns. Extensions are generally most successful when they are 
subservient to the host dwelling. 

 

This diagram shows an example of a well thought-out extension and garage, 
which are subservient to the original house



8

By contrast, this diagram shows an example of poorly-designed extensions 
that dominate and detract from the original house

2.4 Consideration should also be given to the size of an extension and whether it 
would adversely affect your neighbours.  For example, would it result in 
overshadowing or overbearing of their gardens/amenity space, or cause a loss 
of daylight or sunlight into the existing rooms of a neighbouring property? 
Would the position of new windows result in overlooking of neighbouring 
properties? Impacts are unlikely to be acceptable where new windows for 
ground or first floor habitable rooms allow unrestricted views into the rooms of 
neighbouring buildings. No part of the extension (including rainwater goods and 
foundations) should physically extend beyond the site boundaries.

2.5 An extension that is in-keeping with and subservient to the original house can 
be achieved by various means, such as by:

 positioning the ridge of the extension at a lower height than the ridge (and 
sometimes also the eaves) of the existing dwelling;

 setting the extension back from the front elevation;
 respecting the existing fenestration and “solid-to-void” ratio on public 

elevations;
 using building materials and finishes that are similar in colour, appearance 

and texture to those of the existing dwelling.

2.6 Generally extensions should look as if they could be part of the original design, 
although very skilful and imaginatively designed extensions can also be 
successful.

 
2.7 In terms of roof design, a pitch that matches that on the existing house is 

advisable. Flat-roofed extensions are unlikely to be acceptable unless the roof 
of the original building is flat.



9

2.8 The layout and positioning of an extension could sometimes affect the 
operation or maintenance of nearby utilities infrastructure, such as water mains, 
sewers or overhead electricity lines. Where proposals would require the 
relocation of this infrastructure, or where new access arrangements would be 
required for maintenance purposes, householders should contact the relevant 
utility infrastructure owners/operators3 prior to the submission of a planning 
application, to discuss costs and re-routing options.

2.9 Key Points for General Advice:

 Extensions should be subservient to the host dwelling.
 Extensions should be sympathetic to the appearance of the host 

dwelling.
 Extensions must not cause unacceptable overshadowing of, or 

overbearing impacts on neighbouring property.
 Windows to habitable rooms should not allow unrestricted views into 

neighbouring windows or private amenity areas.

3 NB: for electricity infrastructure the relevant contact is likely to be Scottish & Southern Electricity Networks; 
for water supply or wastewater infrastructure, this is likely to be either Thames Water or Portsmouth Water.



10

Specific Advice

2.10 Each of the following sections provide more specific advice about certain types 
of residential extension and should be read in the context of relevant policies in 
the Development Plan, including any relevant Neighbourhood Plan.

Rear Extensions

 
2.11 Proposals for new rear extensions will be considered in terms of their impact on 

the privacy, amenity and possible dominance over neighbouring properties. For 
purposes of applying JCS policies CP27 and CP29, this consideration will 
typically include an assessment of the proximity to the neighbours, degree of 
projection from the established building line, and proposed height and building 
mass (i.e. how bulky the extended building would appear). New extensions 
should not detract from the residential amenity or character of the local area, by 
adversely affecting these relationships between adjoining properties.

Two versions of a rear extension, showing how the degree of projection can 
affect the character of the host dwelling. The image on the right hand side 
illustrates a more sympathetic rear extension.

2.12 The potential impact on amenity will typically be considered by taking 
measurements from the proposed extension to the window wall elevations of 
adjacent properties.

2.13 The maximum limit to which extensions will be favourably considered is 
generally determined by drawing a straight line at an angle of 45o towards an 
adjacent property from the nearest projecting corner of the extension, when 
viewed from above. If the centre of a habitable room window on a neighbouring 
property lies on this line (or lies within the triangle created by the vertical 
surfaces of the properties and this line; see image below) then the extension is 
likely to have an unacceptable impact on the daylight received by this window. 
An extension with an unacceptable impact is illustrated on the following page.



11

2.14 The foregoing is a useful rule of thumb, but other material considerations will be 
taken into account to decide on the likely impact of a proposal on local 
residential amenity, such as window size, the orientation of properties relative 
to the trajectory of the sun and the presence of intervening physical features 
(such as the height of boundaries and the presence of trees). These factors can 
also affect the amount of daylight/sunlight received by adjoining properties, so 
the above rule of thumb will not be the only consideration.  

2.15 In addition to the above advice, two storey rear extensions should respect a 21 
metre back-to-back separation distance between properties in order to avoid 
any undue overlooking of the neighbouring dwellings and their private amenity 
space. Separation distances can sometimes be less than this when dwellings 
are orientated at an angle to one another.

2.16 Key Points for Rear Extensions:

 Pay careful attention to the impact of a rear extension on the scale 
and character of the original building and on the character and 
appearance of the area.

 Adhere to the 45o rule to safeguard residential amenity.
 Windows should not result in the overlooking of windows and private 

amenity areas to the neighbouring property/properties.



12

Side Extensions

2.17 In most urban, suburban and village situations, the design of two-storey and 
first floor side extensions should allow for a visual break from a communal 
boundary to ensure separation from adjacent dwellings and to prevent the 
creation of a ‘terracing effect’ where this would be inappropriate, given the 
character of the local area.

The perception of terracing can be an inadvertent consequence of badly-
designed side extensions. The first image illustrates two extensions that “close 
the gap” between adjacent dwellings to such an extent that the character of the 
area is likely to be adversely affected. The second image illustrates an example 
that is more acceptable, where a reasonable gap has been maintained between 
the dwellings.

2.18 Generally speaking, two storey extensions should not be flush with the front 
main wall of the house but should be set back slightly. This can help to ensure 
their subservience to the original building and can help to avoid the perception 
of terracing, when little or no gap to the communal boundary can be achieved. 



13

It is often preferable to have a lower ridge height for a two storey side 
extension, to lessen its impact on the street scene and ensure that it does not 
dominate the original building.

  

Original dwelling With proposed side extension

  

Original dwelling With proposed side extension

 

Two versions of a side extension, showing an unsympathetic extension with a 
flat roof and an acceptable alternative, with a roof that is in-keeping with the 
original dwelling, with a slightly lower ridge height. 

2.19 To avoid an overbearing impact on a neighbouring property, a minimum 
separation distance between the flank wall of a two storey side extension and 
the rear elevation of a neighbouring property of 12 metres will be encouraged. 

2.20 Key Points for Side Extensions:

 Side extensions should not lead to an unacceptable loss of space 
between an original building and its neighbours. In order to avoid 
terracing, two storey extensions should leave a gap to the communal 
boundary and incorporate a set-back from the front elevation.



14

 Side extensions should be subservient to the original building, with a 
lower ridge height.

Front Extensions

2.21 Virtually all forms of front extensions require planning permission where they 
extend beyond a wall which fronts onto a highway and forms either the principal 
or side elevation of the dwelling. This may exclude small porches and recessed 
areas.

2.22 Front extensions will normally only be accepted on dwellings located well back 
from the road; or where the street scene already includes a staggered building 
line as part of the area’s distinctive character. Where applicable, the 45o rule 
should be respected (see advice on rear extensions for details). 

2.23 Front extensions may be more appropriate in countryside locations, where the 
character of the built environment is low density with houses set back and/or 
well screened from the public highway. In all cases front extensions should be 
subservient to the original dwelling: the extension should not project 
significantly beyond the front main wall of the original building, or be visually 
prominent from the street.  Two-storey front extensions may only be accepted 
where the house is set well back from the road, is well screened and in areas 
where there is not a uniform building line.

The two proposals in red show front extensions that project significantly from 
the front wall of the original dwelling, disrupting the building line as a visually-
prominent feature. The third proposal in blue is clearly subservient and does 
not project far beyond the front wall.



15

2.24 Front extensions should be well designed to avoid disfiguring the face of the 
house. New windows should be in proportion with and reflect those of the host 
dwelling: this could mean respecting the solid-to-void ratio and/or pattern of 
fenestration of the front elevation. The materials and design details (such as the 
eaves, weatherboards) should also be in-keeping. 

2.25 Key Points for Front Extensions:

 Front extensions might not be acceptable in suburban areas, where 
they could upset regular building lines and local character. Houses 
will often need to be set back from the road for a new front extension 
to be acceptable.

 In cases where porches may be acceptable, they should be 
subservient to the original building and complement rather than 
compete with existing features.

 Sympathetic fenestration and design details will be important for 
ensuring that a front extension enhances the character of the house. 

Extensions on Corner Plots

2.26 Whilst extensions on corner plots should adhere to the guidance outlined 
elsewhere in this document, there are a number of further matters to consider, 
particularly in urban and suburban locations.

2.27 Corner plots can be especially difficult as any extension must achieve a degree 
of compatibility with two, potentially very different, streetscapes.  Consideration 
will need to be given to an active frontage along both street frontages. Where a 
house faces the public realm from more than one aspect, particular attention 
should be given to the fenestration and design details of the new extension. 
There should be windows facing both street frontages, to allow for natural 
surveillance and visual interest from the street. Any extension should be set 
back from the front elevation of the host dwelling and should respect all building 
lines, to avoid becoming an incongruous feature within one or more streetscape 
and to help the building “turn the corner”. A gap must be maintained between 
the extension and existing boundaries.



16

Plan-view of a proposed corner plot extension that is unacceptable because of 
a failure to respect one of the building lines and because it impinges on the 
existing boundary.



17

2.28 Key Points on Corner Plots:

 Corner extensions are visible from a number of locations. It will 
therefore be especially important to assess their impact and produce 
a high standard of design and detailing.

 The extension should assist in presenting an active frontage for both 
streetscapes.

 Extensions should respect all building lines and should be stepped 
back from the front elevation, whilst maintaining a gap with existing 
boundaries.  

Roof extensions (including dormers and rooflights)

2.29 The design and profile of a domestic roof makes an important contribution to 
the dwelling’s overall appearance. Roof extensions can therefore have a 
positive or a negative impact on the character of the property and its 
surroundings. Significant changes to the profile or pitch of the roof are generally 
unacceptable because they are likely to be unsympathetic to the overall design 
of the house. 

2.30 The insertion of dormers can be appropriate where they would complement the 
proportions, size, arrangement and details of existing windows. New dormer 
windows need to be well designed, which normally relies on ensuring that they 
are not over-scaled and do not dominate the roof. This can be achieved by 
insetting from the existing eaves, verges and ridge. They should not protrude 
significantly from the roof profile; a small dormer will be preferable to a large 
‘box’ dormer. Such box dormers are nearly always over-scaled and 
unsympathetic to the character of the host building and are unlikely to be 
supported. 

2.31 The detailing also needs to be good quality and the materials need to be well 
related to the existing roof in terms of their colour and profile. Particular 
attention should be given to the roof design of a dormer. A hipped dormer will 
usually be suitable only on a building with a hipped roof, as it could otherwise 
appear incongruous. A pitched roof will normally be preferred to a flat roof, 
unless the character of the dwelling suggests otherwise. The size of the dormer 
should take into account the necessary insulation, so that the structure avoids 
‘gaining weight’ later.



18

Two of these proposals are unacceptable due to their size, and their intrusive 
effect on the roof of the existing dwelling. The smaller dormer is in-keeping with 
the roof of the dwelling and of a more appropriate size.

2.32 Dormers and rooflights should be well related to the existing fenestration on the 
building, for example by lining up with the existing windows, or being centrally 
located between existing windows, and they should be smaller than the 
windows beneath them. New rooflights should not protrude significantly from 
the roof, should be evenly spaced and should not dominate the roof.

2.33 Key Points for Roof Extensions:

 Roof extensions should not significantly alter the pitch or profile of 
the existing roof

 New dormers should not dominate the roof and should complement 
the proportions, size, arrangement and details of existing windows. 
They should relate well to, but be smaller than the windows beneath 
them.

 The design of the dormer should be in-keeping with the existing roof, 
particularly in terms of its materials and roof design.

 New rooflights should also be well-related to the existing fenestration 
and should not dominate the roof.



19

3. OTHER HOUSEHOLDER DEVELOPMENT 

Garages and Outbuildings

3.1 Garages and other outbuildings can have a similar impact to other extensions 
on the existing dwelling. Any outbuilding should be subservient to the main 
dwelling and respect the materials, scale and character of the existing 
residential building(s). 

3.2 In general, outbuildings should be situated in an inconspicuous position when 
viewed from the public realm. It will rarely be considered acceptable to site 
outbuildings in front of the existing property, as it would not appear subservient 
to the main dwelling and could conflict with any established building lines. 
Particular attention should be given to proposed outbuildings within a 
conservation area, and the setting of a Listed Building or neighbouring Listed 
Buildings.

3.3 The layout and positioning of a new garage or outbuilding could sometimes 
affect the operation or maintenance of nearby utilities infrastructure, such as 
water mains, sewers or overhead electricity lines. Please note the advice of 
paragraph 2.8 above in relation to utilities infrastructure.

3.4 Garages should be set back from the main building line and there should 
remain sufficient space forward of the garage for car parking. It is also desirable 
to provide turning space within the curtilage of the dwelling. 

      

  

The illustration on the left shows an unacceptable design for a garage, which is 
set forward of the front main wall and is over-sized relative to the host dwelling. 



20

The drawing on the right shows an acceptable design, where the garage is set 
back from the dwelling, and is clearly subservient.

3.5 Outbuildings, as with other extensions, should not impact upon the amenity of 
any neighbouring property. They should not lead to an unacceptable increase 
in overshadowing, loss of privacy or disturbance. Where applicable, the 45o rule 
should be respected (see advice on rear extensions for details).

Annexes

3.6 Annexes to existing dwellings are specifically intended to provide ancillary 
accommodation, for example to accommodate relatives or dependants. Such 
an annex should be designed to reflect the close functional relationship 
between the new accommodation and the existing dwelling: typically, it should 
not have a separate entrance or staircase, nor should it include a separate 
kitchen. This can be facilitated by ensuring that the annex is physically attached 
to the dwelling at all levels (e.g. for a two-storey annex, there should be internal 
connections on both storeys). Such an extension should not result in an 
overbearing structure, and should not overshadow adjoining properties (see 
above for specific guidance). 

3.7 Where design constraints make it necessary to build a detached annex rather 
than an extension, the detached building can still remain functionally related to 
the existing dwelling through its design. A detached annex should share 
vehicular access and private amenity space with the host dwelling and should 
appear subservient to the dwelling in terms of its height, scale and mass. It 
should be located very close to the existing dwelling to support the shared use 
of communal (e.g. cooking and washing) facilities. Please also note the advice 
of paragraph 2.8 above in relation to potential impacts on utilities infrastructure.

3.8 The use of an annex as ancillary accommodation will be controlled by a 
planning condition or a legal agreement. 

3.9 Key Points For Garages, Outbuildings & Annexes:

 Garages and outbuildings should respect the scale and character of 
the existing dwelling. 

 The siting of any outbuildings should respect any established 
building line or be set back from the existing dwelling.

 Sufficient space for car parking and turning should remain between 
any proposed garage and the highway.

 Proposals should not impact upon the amenity of any neighbouring 
property.

 Annexes should be designed to reflect their status as ancillary 
accommodation for an existing dwelling, and should be physically 
attached or located very close to the dwellinghouse. 



21

Boundary Treatments

3.10 Boundary treatments such as fences, walls and hedges, whether traditional or 
modern, contribute a great deal to the streetscape and character of an area. 
They are important for establishing the areas of private amenity space and 
often make a positive contribution to the settings of buildings. As such, careful 
thought should be given to the potential impact of their demolition. In 
conservation areas, consent to demolish will be required and is unlikely to be 
acceptable where harm would be caused to the streetscene. The substantial 
alteration of historic boundary treatments is unlikely to be acceptable.

The type of boundary treatment can have a significant impact on the 
streetscene. A more open, safe and visually interesting public realm can be 
created by designing new boundary treatments that create views into and out of 
residential properties.

3.11 Where new boundary treatments are proposed, care must be taken to ensure 
that the proposals (including the materials and detailing) are sympathetic to the 
surroundings4. Care should be taken to ensure that any proposed walls and 
fences do not harm the streetscene. Where residential areas have a distinctive, 
open or sylvan character, the erection of walls and fences over 1 metre at the 
front of the property is unlikely to be acceptable. The character of such estates 
is derived from the open, landscaped environment and physical, built barriers 
will significantly detract from that character. Likewise, boundary treatments that 

4 In relation to potential impacts on existing trees, please note that British Standard BS5837:2012 sets out 
general principles and procedures to be applied, to achieve a harmonious and sustainable relationship 
between trees and structures. The recommendations and guidance in this British Standard will help to ensure 
that proposals are sympathetic to trees that could be affected by new boundary treatments. The protection 
and enhancement of natural features such as trees may be required in accordance with policies CP20 and CP21 
of the Council’s Joint Core Strategy.



22

would obstruct visibility for highway purposes, or would otherwise cause danger 
to highway users will be unacceptable.

The introduction of walls and fences within a rural area will change the natural 
and open character of an area and create a more urban appearance.

3.12 Poorly designed boundary treatments can undermine the quality of the built 
environment and can negatively affect the relationships between buildings. New 
boundary treatments should generally be of the style typical of the immediate 
locality, unless an alternative would help to create a more active street frontage 
that would improve natural surveillance. New boundaries should be set back 
from the public highway and in all cases, the use of incongruous materials (e.g. 
a wooden fence when the area is characterised by brick walls) will be resisted.

3.13 In most cases, walls and fences that are less than one metre in height will not 
require planning permission, and this increases to a maximum of two metres on 
boundaries which are not adjacent to a highway. 

3.14 Key Points for Boundary Treatments:

 The removal or substantial alteration of traditional or historic 
boundary treatments is unlikely to be acceptable.

 Boundary treatments should be designed in materials and details 
that respect the surrounding streetscape or area.

 Boundary treatments should not be located directly adjacent to the 
highway.



23

4. GLOSSARY 

Active Frontage: this is a façade or side of a building that includes windows, doors, 
balconies and design features that add visual interest from the street. It enables 
people to see into and out from the building, helping to provide natural surveillance 
for the street and helping to create a sense of place.

Amenity: this refers to the pleasant or attractive qualities of a place or a building; 
what an occupant or visitor would expect to enjoy from using that place/building (e.g. 
natural daylight, privacy, peace and quiet).

Building Line: an imaginary line that describes the physical limit of a row of 
buildings in relation to a street. It can be uniform, when all buildings are a certain 
distance from the road, or variable when buildings are staggered and at varying 
distances from the road. 

Boundary Treatment: the way in which the borders of a property or space are 
defined using physical structures or features such as fences, walls and hedges. 

Character: this is the combination of matters such as: land uses, the design and 
layout of buildings and public spaces, typical views and other distinctive features 
such as local topography and natural greenspace, which come together to make one 
place feel different and function differently from another.  

Context: this is the setting for a building or a development site, which is influenced 
by surrounding land uses, any notable landscape features, and (more broadly) the 
character of the surrounding area.

Curtilage: this is the area of land immediately surrounding a house or other building 
that is associated with the use of that house/building. It includes the garden and 
driveway and is usually defined by physical boundaries. Ancillary buildings are often 
located within the curtilage of a house. 

Density: in design terms, this is the number of buildings or amount of floorspace for 
a given area of land.

Elevation: this is a side-view perspective of a building, from the exterior.

Fenestration: this is the design and placement of openings (windows and doors) in 
a building.

Habitable Rooms: this is a room that is used for dwelling purposes, but which is not 
solely a kitchen, utility room, bathroom, cellar or sanitary accommodation.

Mass: the mass of a building is how massive it appears on the basis of its perceived 
size, shape and form.



24

Natural Surveillance: the informal and incidental observation of people in public 
areas. 

Overbearing: the impact of a building on its surroundings in terms of its scale, 
massing and general dominating effect.

Overshadowing: the impact of a building on its surroundings in terms of the effect 
that its scale, mass and height may have on blocking out daylight and sunlight for 
nearby properties.

Private Amenity Space: this is outside space that is associated with a dwelling and 
is for the enjoyment and benefit of residents, protected from public view by the 
design of the dwelling/boundary treatments.

Solid-to-Void Ratio: this is the ratio of the sum of the areas of window and door 
openings to the gross area of an exterior wall of a building.

Streetscape: this is the physical features that comprise how a street appears (the 
road, external facades of buildings, pavements, street furniture, trees, verges and 
open spaces).

Street scene: the appearance of a street, including the building frontages where 
these are visible, from a certain perspective.



NON EXEMPT

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

07 March 2018

The Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document.

Report by Planning Policy

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Councillors the revised Vehicle Parking 
Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) which has been prepared 
by officers.

1.2 A draft version of the SPD was subject to public consultation for a period of eight 
weeks between 4 December 2017 and 29 January 2018. Appendix A 
accompanying this report contains the Consultation Statement which sets out 
how the Council promoted the consultation; the comments received and officer 
responses to these comments. 

1.3 Appendix B accompanying this report contains the revised Vehicle Parking 
Standards SPD that has been updated to reflect the comments received during 
the eight week public consultation period.  It is important to note that upon 
adoption the SPD will supersede the Residential Parking Standards for East 
Hampshire (2008). 

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:
i. notes the content of the Consultation Statement (Appendix A of this 

report)
ii. notes the content of the Supplementary Planning Document 

(Appendix B of this report) and recommend it to Cabinet for 
consideration on the 24 May 2018. 

iii. notes that following the adoption of the SPD, the Residential 
Parking Standards for East Hampshire (2008) will be withdrawn. 



NON EXEMPT

3.0 Summary

3.1 This report and accompanying Appendices sets out a summary of the comments 
received during the eight week public consultation on the Draft Vehicle Parking 
Standards SPD that closed on the 29 January 2018. 

3.2 This report summarises the comments received as part of the public consultation 
and any changes that have ben made to the final SPD (Appendix B). 

3.3 The SPD sets out East Hampshire District Council’s off-street parking standards 
relating to new development in the District that is located outside of the South 
Downs National Park (SDNP). This SPD will support the Council’s 
implementation of strategic policy CP31 of the Joint Core Strategy.

4.0 Subject of Report

4.1 The Draft Vehicle Parking Standards SPD was subject to Public Consultation 
between 4 December 2017 and 29 January 2018. During the public consultation 
period 19 responses were received and these are detailed in the Consultation 
Statement (Appendix A). 

4.2 Six Statutory Consultees responded to the consultation with only Hampshire 
Police recommending that additional information be added to the SPD to provide 
more strenuous requirements for communual parking.

4.3 In terms of other respondents, the key response themes can be summarised as:

 Concern that insufficient flexibility is given to enable lower parking 
standards in the Whitehill Bordon Regeneration Area (specifically the new 
town centre).

 The minimum parking standards for office and residential uses should be 
set higher.

 Minimum cycle parking standards should be set higher and cover more 
uses (e.g. retail).

 Visitor parking provision is set too high. 
 Minimum Parking Space Sizes and Garage Sizes – differing views.
 Some support for Electric Vehicle charging standards for major residential 

developments but also an objection to this requirement.
 New schools could be designed with drop off facilities and greater 

reference should also be made to HCC’s On-site School Parking 
Guidelines of April 2013.

 Clarity required on some of the non-residential parking standards.



NON EXEMPT

4.3 Following the public consultation the SPD has been revised (Appendix B of this 
report) where necessary to address issues raised during the consultation process 
and to correct some typographical errors. 

4.4 The SPD sets out East Hampshire District Council’s off-street parking standards 
relating to new development in the District that is located outside of the South 
Downs National Park (SDNP). This SPD will support the Council’s 
implementation of strategic policy CP31 of the Joint Core Strategy.

4.5 The table below provides an indicative timetable of the stages to be undertaken 
to adopt the Vehicle Parking Standards SPD:

SPD to Cabinet 24 May 2018 
SPD to Council for Adoption 19 July 2018
 

4.6 Upon adoption the Supplementary Planning Document will form part of the 
Planning Policy Framework for East Hampshire District (outside of the National 
Park). 

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  There are no direct resource implications. Costs will be met within 
existing resources and budgets.

5.2 Legal:  There are legal issues to consider in progressing the SPD towards 
adoption, in relation to satisfying the necessary regulations. The SPD will be 
produced in compliance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. 

5.3 Strategy: The Vehicle Parking Standards SPD, when adopted, will form part of 
the Districts (outside of the South Downs National Park) Development Plan. The 
SPD will supersede the Residential Parking Standards for East Hampshire 
(2008).

5.4 Risks: There is the potential for a third party to legally challenge the SPD within 
a three month period following adoption. However, the SPD has been produced 
in compliance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012.

5.5 Communications: The draft SPD was subject to eight weeks public consultation 
which exceeds the minimum requirements of the Councils Statement of 
Community Involvement and those set out in Regulation 12 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  



NON EXEMPT

Appendices:

Appendix A – Consultation Statement: The Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Document

Appendix B – East Hampshire The Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning 
Document

Background Papers:

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins (Signed off 20.02.18)
Legal Services: Sara Bryon (Signed off 23.02.18)
Finance: Andy Miles (Signed off 20.02.18)
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass (Signed off 21.02.18)

Contact Officer: Ian Mawer
Job Title:       Planning Policy Team Leader 
Telephone:       01730 234152
E-Mail:       ian.mawer@easthants.gov.uk



1

The East Hampshire District Local Plan: Draft Vehicle Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Regulation 12 Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012 

Persons consulted when preparing the supplementary planning document 

The Vehicle Parking Standrads SPD was subject to public consultation for a period of 8 
weeks between 4 December 2017 and 29 January 2018. Copies of the draft document and 
supporting information (namely a Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment Screening, Equalities Impact Assessment and the Statement of 
Matters and Availability (see Appendix 1) were made available to view at the following 
locations during opening hours: 

 East Hampshire District Council Offices
 Alton Information Office
 Bordon Information Office
 Bramshott and Liphook Parish Office
 Horndean Parish Office
 Alton Library 
 Bordon Library
 Horndean Library 
 Liphook Library 
 Petersfield Library

The SPD and supporting information was also made available to view online at:
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-vehicle-parking-standards-spd
(see Appendix 2 and Appendix 3). 

Representations were invited via our online consultation portal, post or via email. 

Documents available on the Council’s Local Plan Consultation Portal  
The Draft SPD was available to view online using our consultation portal. The portal enables 
users to submit comments on the document as they read it. The consultation portal can be 
accessed from the following link:
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/

Consultation letters and emails 
The Council notified all registered members on the East Hampshire District Local Plan 
consultation database. The database covers a wide range of stakeholders including local 
residents, businesses, and statutory bodies. In total, there are approximately 1,100 contacts 
on the database. The majority of members were contacted via email (see Appendix 4) and 
those without an email address were contacted via post (see Appendix 5). 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/consultation
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-vehicle-parking-standards-spd
https://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/


2

Documents available on the Council’s website 
Copies of the Consultation Draft SPD, the Statement of SPD Matters and Availability, the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening 
Assessment; and Equalities Impact Assessment were made available to view/download on 
the Council’s website at:
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-vehicle-parking-standards-spd

Summary of the main issues raised by those persons 
A total of  19 individuals and organisations responded to the draft SPD. The comments 
made are summarised in the schedule attached as Appendix 6. 

Six Statutory Consultees Responded to the consultation and five of these organisation (listed 
below) did not request any changes to be made to made to the Draft SPD:

 Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks
 Highways England
 Southern Water
 Natural England
 Historic England

Hampshire Police were the only statutory consultee that suggested modifications to the 
SPD. Hampshire Policy have recommended that the reference in the SPD to Secure By 
Design is not prescriptive enough and that the SPD should include some detailed 
requirements in relation to communual parking.

In terms of other respondents, the key response themes can be summarised as:

 Concern that insufficient flexibility is given to enable lower standards to be provided 
in parts of the Whitehill Bordon Regeneration Area (e.g. the new Town Centre).

 The minimum parking standards for office and residential uses should be set higher
 Minimum cycle parking standards should be set higher and cover more uses (e.g. 

retail).
 Visitor parking provision is set too high 
 Minimum Parking Space Sizes and Garage Sizes – differing views.
 Some suppot for Electric Vehicle Standards for major residential developments but 

also an objection.
 New schools could be designed with drop off facilities and Greater reference should 

also be made to HCC’s On-site School Parking Guidelines of April 2013
 Clarity required on some of the non-residential parking standards

How those issues have been addressed in the supplementary planning document 
The Officer comments relating to these concerns and how they have been addressed in the 
final version of the SPD can be found in Appendix 6.

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/draft-vehicle-parking-standards-spd


3

Appendix 1: Statement of SPD Matters and Availability 



4



5

Appendix 2: Planning Policy Consultation Webpage 



6

Appendix 3: Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document Webpage 



7

Appendix 4: Email to Consultees  



8

Appendix 5: Letter to Consultees  



9



10

Appendix 6: Vehicle Parking Standrads Supplementary Planning Document – Summary of Consultation Responses and Officer 
Comments

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

1 Scottish and 
Southern 
Electricity 
Networks

Where existing infrastructure in inadequate to support the increased 
demands from the new development, the costs of necessary upsteam 
reinforcement required would normally be apportioned between developer 
and DNO (Distribution Network Operator) in accordance with the current 
Statement of Charging Methodology agreed with the industry regulator 
(OFGEM). Maximum timecales in these instances would not normally 
exceed arund 2 years and should not therefore impede delivery of any 
proposed housing development.
  

Comments noted. No changes required.

2 Mr David 
Restell

Proposed requirement is insufficient to cope with current car ownership and 
the number of homes put on developments. Sword Close, Clanfield is an 
example of too few parking spaces. It has been observed that 1 bedroom 
homes have 2 occupants, both with cars and sometimes a works van too. 
With rising housing costs more teenagers stay at home into their late 20's 
and cause an additional car ownership. Therefore minimum standard 
should be 1 more space than there are bedrooms for each home. 
Additionally social events in a home can cause 5 or 6 cars per home to 
visit. Several such events in one street e.g. on a bank holiday, require far 
more visitor parking. An increase in visitor parking would also facilitate 
space for delivery vehicles as more companies are using large vehicles for 
this purpose.

SUMMARY: Proposed standard does not reflect the practical current need 
for parking for dwellings. The minimum standard should be 1 more parking 
space than there are bedrooms per home.

The standards are minimum, meaning 
that more parking can be provided in 
accordance with local circumstances. 
It is important to note that parking 
provision should be within the overall 
aim of encouraging use of sustainable 
modes of transport, and excessive 
amounts of parking will be discouraged 
as this can result in poor design and 
harsh urban landscapes, and lessen the 
amount of open space provided.

No change.

3 Medstead 
Parish 
Council

Medstead Parish Counil have read the proposals and are supoortive of the 
aims of the proposed document.

Support noted. No changes required.



11

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

4 Southern 
Water

I can confirm Southern Water do not have any comments to make on this 
occasion.

Noted. No changes required.

5 Tony 
Ransley

Office Parking Standards: Please review your requirements for offices in 
the light of a car per desk and the HSE desk space requirements which are 
“In a typical room, where the ceiling is 2.4m high, a floor area of 4.6m2 (for 
example 2.0 x 2.3m) will be needed to provide a space of 11 cubic metres.

Garages: The “Modern” estate home typically has garages narrower than 
2.5. The Gardor range for example starts at 2.134m. Consider that the 3m 
minimum width is insufficient and should be 3.5m.

Parking space sizes: Given that 2.4 meter does not allow for two larger 
cars to be parked next to each other and their occupants to exit . Can I 
request you revisit that and allow at least 2.8 meters and more properly 3 
meters.

Reference is made to a Smart Parking Model Byelaw which makes 
provisions for implementing smart parking strategies to address three 
distinct issues relative to off-street parking:

1) Reducing the standards for required parking; 
2) Providing innovative solutions for shared and off-site parking; and
3) Parking area design

http://www.mass.gov/envir/smart_growth_toolkit/bylaws/SP-Bylaw.pdf 

The standards are minimum, meaning 
that more parking can be provided in 
accordance with local circumstances. 
It is important to note that parking 
provision should be within the overall 
aim of encouraging use of sustainable 
modes of transport. We anticipate that 
new office provision will be located 
within town centres or the main 
settlements where there will be 
opportunities for employees to use 
transport.

The garage sizes are minimum and 
therefore larger garages can be 
provided.

The parking space sizes are minimum 
and therefore larger spaces can be 
provided.

No change.

6 Highways 
England

We have reviewed the consultation and have no comments. Noted No change.

7 Four Marks 
Parish 
Council

Four Marks Parish Council wholeheartedly support the proposals in this 
document and firmly believe that the adoption of minimum parking 
standards is essential for any future development in the EHDC area. 

http://www.mass.gov/envir/smart_growth_toolkit/bylaws/SP-Bylaw.pdf


12

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Policy Standards: 
We agree the standard of 2 spaces for 2/3 bed dwellings and 3 spaces for 
4 plus bed dwellings. However from our own experience we question just 
one space for all one bedroom dwellings. On our new housing 
developments these often go to young couples as first time buyers, who 
both work, and each run a car to get to work.

We question if the parking space size of 2.4m X 4.8m is adequate for 
vehicles on Traveller sites,recognising that many vehicles that use these 
sites are of commercial or semi commercial type. 

Retail: We question whether provision for A1 shops is adequate. 

For future school development the site should be sufficiently large to 
include as a condition, the provision of on site off street drop off zones 
similar to those provided at airports.

Paragraph 3.1.6 As a slight aside, we identify an inconsistency in the way 
that settlements appear to be categorised. In this document Horndean is 
shown as a Large local service centre. In an accompanying Document both 
Horndean and Four Marks are shown as Small local service centres, whilst 
Liphook is simply classed as a large village. It would be helpful to 
understand these classifications and the inconsistencies.

Garage sizing: we recognise that garages are all too often only used for 
storage, and to be realistic perhaps they should not be included as a 
parking space.

The standards are minimum, meaning 
that more parking can be provided in 
accordance with local circumstances. 
It is important to note that parking 
provision should be within the overall 
aim of encouraging use of sustainable 
modes of transport, and excessive 
amounts of parking will be discouraged 
as this can result in poor design and 
harsh urban landscapes, and lessen the 
amount of open space provided.

Referrence has been added to the 
Hampshire County Council School 
Parking Guidelines.

This section has been updated with 
references to a number of settlements 
removed. 

Garages will only be counted as a 
parking space where they meet or 
exceed the minimum sizes detailed in 
the document.



13

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Layout: (Paragraph 4.2.2) We agree that tandem parking can reduce the 
likelihood of the rear parking space being used, and that such 
arrangements should be discouraged. The document says that triple 
tandem parking should be discouraged. We believe it should not be 
permitted at allin future design. We also support the statement that it is not 
a given that garages will count as parking space. In fact we believe the 
inclusion of the garage in calculations, to be the cause of most on street 
residential parking, as they are mostly used for storage. Arethink is needed 
here.

Paragraph 4.2.3 - We firmly believe that overall policy 
should afford higher importance to the provision of parking and recognise 
that the required standards may well justify and result in a lower housing 
density to accommodate the required number of parking spaces as well as 
retaining ‘green’ and landscaped front gardens.This is especially important 
in rural and semi rural areas. This may well be a contentious suggestion 
but deserves serious discussion and realistic consideration to ensure future 
environments are not purely vegetation free urban environments blighted 
by on street parking.

Four Marks Parish Council strongly support this document, and your 
assertion that use of maximum standards can cause parking difficulties, 
safety concerns, and adversely impact on the overall visual appearance of 
the area, and are clearly not adequate to improve parking issues in future 
developments.

The standards are minimum, meaning 
that more parking can be provided in 
accordance with local circumstances. 
Excessive amounts of parking will be 
discouraged as this can result in poor 
design and harsh urban landscapes, 
and lessen the amount of open space 
provided.

8 Headley 
Parish 
Council

We support the comment that there is greater need for additional parking in 
rural developments and wish to highlight that the already addressed issue 
that a parking width measurement of 2.4 x 4.8m is inadequate for many 
modern cars and would like to see this increased. Minimum standards are 

Noted. The standards are expressed as 
a minimum and therefore larger spaces 
can be provided.



14

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

not always sufficient, and the Council should have the ability to be flexible 
with every application being considered on its own merits.

9 Paul 
Basham 
Associates 
on behalf of 
Barratt 
David 
Wilson 
Homes

Visitor Parking

There is a concern however with the level of visitor parking for cars being a 
minimum of 1 space per 4 dwellings (0.25 per unit). This standard is above 
those set within any other council under Hampshire 

County Council jurisdiction. Visitor car parking standards for other 
Hampshire Authorities are lower (typically 0.2 per unit).

There does not appear to be sufficient evidence to support the increase in 
visitor parking when councils such as the New Forest District and Hart 
District have similar car ownership levels given the similar rural nature. The 
evidence does state that car ownership in East Hampshire is higher than 
the national average and than values in many other districts within the 
county, although this does not necessarily follow through to the need for 
increased visitor parking provision. 

Given that visitor parking cannot be provided within curtilage and truly 
remain free-for-all, the proposed level of visitor parking is therefore likely to 
dominate the streetscape, and have a negative impact on the urban realm. 
The provision is therefore in direct conflict with the key objective of the 
standards (identified in Para 2.6.1) which states ‘without an unacceptable 
detrimental impact on the local road network, or the visual appearance of 
the development (from excessive and inconsiderate on street parking).’ It is 
therefore felt that the visitor parking standards should be reduced to reflect 
other borough/district standards which would result in a less detrimental 
urban realm design. 

The draft standards do not provide any guidance regarding the formality of 

Comments noted. The Council 
acknowledge that the visitor parking 
standards for residential units are 
greater than those for other local 
authorities with similar characteristics 
and that no evidence has been provided 
to justify the minimum requirement of 
0.25 per unit. 

Change: The requirements for minimum 
Car parking requirements for short stay 
(visitor) parking have been amended to 
1 space per 5 dwellings (0.2 per 
dwelling). 



15

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

the visitor parking spaces as to whether these have to be formally marked 
out bays off-street or whether a number of spaces could be informal on-
street spaces similar to Eastleigh Borough Council’s standards and clarity 
should be provided on this point.

An overprovision of visitor parking would therefore result in a direct conflict 
with Policy CP31 of the Joint Core Strategy which aims to reduce the 
reliance on the private vehicle. 

Parking bay sizing and garage sizing

The bay dimensions proposed in EHDC’s draft standards are 2.4m x 4.8m 
for cars (Table 1, Para 4.1.2), single garages being a minimum of 3m in 
width by 6m in length (internally) and double garages being a minimum of 
6m by 6m (internally) (para 5.1.1) is in accordance with standards provided 
by many other council standards and is also in line with many developers’ 
own design guidance/standard garage product. 

Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 

The draft standards also provide guidance on the provision of parking for 
electric vehicles (under section 3: Parking Standards) which are claimed to 

Comment noted. 

Additional guidance has been added is a 
section titled Visitor Parking for 
residential schemes which states: 

‘In new residential developments, visitor 
parking must be provided in public areas 
where it can be accessed by all. Visitor 
parking must be readily apparent from a 
visitors view point and easily accessible 
from the street. It must also be equally 
distributed through the development. 
Signing is recommended to identify the 
status and location of unallocated 
communal parking spaces.’

Comments noted. No change



16

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

be more feasible on major developments of 10 homes or more. The 
standards state that such a provision should be considered on a ‘case by 
case basis’ (Page 11) where private driveways and garages are treated as 
parking spaces. However clearer guidance is needed regarding the 
requirement and specification for electric cars at residential uses as per the 
other land uses, if these are realistically to be provided. 

Supported Noted. However, the 
document has been revised to 
encourage provision of electric vehicle 
charging provision from different 
development types and further 
supporting guidance has been added in 
Section 4.6. 

10 Bramshott 
and Liphook 
Parish 
Council

The draft Vehicle Parking Standards have taken account of increased sizes 
of private vehicles and the high dependence on vehicle use in this area of 
Hampshire. Improved design guidance should have a positive effect on 
road safety, aesthetics and landscaping. Bramshott and Liphook Parish 
Council supports efforts to encourage and promote sustainable 
development including the provision of facilities for electric powered 
vehicles in new developments.

Support Noted. No change.

11 Tim 
Pickering

Given the expected development within the East Hants area, including the 
“Land East of Horndean”, and the continued redevelopment of Whitehall 
and Bordon, I request that the council take this opportunity to strengthen 
the SPD for the benefit of all East Hants residents, and the council 
themselves. 

Specifically, the document fails to provide suitable rules for: 

 Fails to implement and enforce what appears to be the latest East 
Hampshire Cycle Strategy Document, “A Cycle Plan for East 
Hampshire, dated 2004” 

 2004” Recommendations (Section Longer term parking and security 
risks; 

 Cycle parking for wet weather conditions; 
 Various types of Bicycle, including Bicycle used as a Mobility Aid; 
 Appropriate locations of cycle parking; 



17

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

 A Minimum Cycle parking Provision for all Building Use Classes. 

Section 3

The lack of definition of any minimum cycle parking numbers for anything 
other than C3 and B1, B2, and B3 standards is inadequate, especially 
given the lack of any minimum specification for the provision of wider 
cycling (or wider Active Travel ) facilities, such as Showers and Lockers, is 
a fundamental failure, especially as part of large developments. 

Any formula for short stay visitor cycle parking that results in the lack of a 
requirement for a visitor space for developments of less than 10 houses is 
fundamentally flawed. At least 1 visitor cycle space should be provided for 
any development in excess of 2 dwellings. 

I recommend that the formula be adjusted to the following, which takes into 
consideration the difficulty of adding provision later, given the length of time 
that developments last for, and considers the period between SPD 
updates: 

“Short stay (visitor) cycle parking requirement –2 visitor spaces is always 
required for developments of 2 or more dwellings , and increases 
dependent upon the number of dwellings proposed. Where the number of 
dwellings proposed is not a multiple of 10, provision will be rounded up. For 
example, for a proposal of 33 homes, 6 short stay (visitor) cycle parking 
spaces is the minimum requirement (2+(33/10)=5.3, rounded up to 6). For 
single dwelling developments, a single visitor space is required.” 

This is a similar approach utilised within the Portsmouth City 

The SPD provided cycle parking 
standards for a range of uses including 
Retail (A1 uses), Education 
Establishements (D1 uses and the 
majority of Health Centres) and a range 
of there uses (e.g.eating and drinking 
establiushments and community / village 
halls).

Change: residential parking standards 
has been amended from ‘one space per 
20 dwellings’ to ‘visitor cycle spaces will 
be expected at 10% of the long stay 
spaces in developments of 5 units or 
more’. 



18

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Supplementary Planning Document, 

Non residential cycle parking

I recommend that, for simplicity reasons, East Hants utilise the same 
minimums as defined by the Basingstoke and Deane Non-Residential 
Parking SPD (published 2003). It utilises a general rule of 1 space per 6 
member of staff, a really good target to aim for. This also shows how far 
behind similar councils the East Hampshire Council SPD is. 

The current non-residential cycle storage is only defined for B1, B2 and B3 
classes of building, leaving the following completely uncovered. 

Without covering these classes, the economic benefit of cycling cannot be 
unlocked. 

Basingstoke and Deane and currently 
consulting on an updated parking 
supplementary planning document 
which requires standards based on floor 
area that is broadly aligned with what is 
contained within the East Hampshire 
Parking Standards Document or one 
provision based on the number of staff.

Change: for B1(a), B1(b/c) and B2 uses 
the following text has been added to the 
long stay parking requirements ‘or 1 
space per 8 staff (whichever is greater)’.

Change: for B8 uses the following text 
has been added to the long stay parking 
requirements ‘or 1 space per 10 staff 
(whichever is greater)’

The SPD provided cycle parking 
standards (both long and short stay) for 
a range of uses including Retail (A1 
uses), Education Establishements (D1 
uses and the majority of Health Centres) 
and a range of there uses (e.g.eating 
and drinking establiushments and 



19

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

 Class A – shops (including some services) 
 Class A1 – shops and retail outlets 
 Class A2 – professional services 
 Class A3 – food and drink 
 Class A4 – drinking establishments 
 Class A5 – hot food and takeaway 
 Class D – non-residential institutions 
 Class D1 : Many “Public” services, ie Medical or health services 

premises, Crèches, Schools, Museums, Libraries, Exhibition halls, 
places of workship. 

 Class D2: Cinemas, Concert halls, Bingo halls or casinos, Dance 
halls, Swimming baths, skating rinks, gymnasiums or “area for other 
indoor or outdoor sports or recreations 

Section 6.3: Cycle parking design and layout

I request that the document be updated to utilise the excellent rules and 
advice laid out in Section 5 of the Portsmouth Parking SPD, modified as 
per recommendations elsewhere in this document. 

community / village halls).

Comments noted.
Change: Some additional guidance has 
been added to the Cycle parking design 
and layout chapter. 

12 Southern 
Planning 
Practice

Clarification sought on the draft parking standard for petrol stations is the 
appropriate retail category (of which there are two). To my way of thinking a 
petrol station with a Tesco Express, Budgens or M&S must fall within the 
A1 Shops (food retail) category and require car parking at 1 space per 
14m2 covered area. However if a petrol station shop is not operated by a 
supermarket company but is run by the garage owner and provides a range 
of goods along the lines of:

Car related products, newspapers & magazines, sandwiches and other hot 

This will be consider on a case by case 
basis dependant upon the type of retail 
offer being proposed at the petrol filling 
station.



20

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

and cold food to go and some convenience goods lines would this fall 
within the A1 Shops (non-food retail and general retail) category?

Clarification is required on whether the car parking standard be calculated 
on the basis of the gross floor area of the building or can customer toilets 
and back of house staff facilities be excluded from the floor area 
calculation? In other words is it the gross floor area of the sales area that 
should be used?

The SPD states that Gross External 
Area (GEA). 

Change: the text supporting non 
residential standards has been 
amended to state Floorspace is Gross 
External Area (GEA) which will include 
the thickness of the external wall.

13 Hampshire 
Police

If insufficient residential parking is provided any on site visitor parking 
spaces will be used to accommodate resident’s overflow parking and after 
that vehicles will continue to be parked wherever a space can be found. 
Which is the situation now, and an issue this SPD seeks to address. 

Comments in relation to Primary Schools: At drop off and pick up times the 
pressure to park on the road network is so great that often motor vehicles 
are parked within the prohibited zone, which compromises the safety of the 
children. There are many reasons why guardians drive their wards to 
school. At the planning stage it is difficult to foresee the parking 
requirement at drop off and pick up time. However, schools could be 
designed with drop off facilities, nearby roads could be designed with 
greater ‘on street’ parking opportunities, and schools could be positioned to 
take advantage of other nearby parking opportunities. 

Planning guidance advises that “Natural surveillance of parked cars is an 
important consideration.” To reduce the opportunities for crime it is 
important that there is natural surveillance of parked motor vehicles from 
the associated dwelling. 

Paragraph 4.2.6 advises that Secured by Design should be considered in 

Comments noted.

Change: The SPD has been updated to 
include references to the Hampshire 
County Council School Parking 
Guidelines.



21

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

relation to the design and layout of car parks, this is not prescriptive and 
allows for none of the requirements to be incorporated into the design. 
Specific requirements should be stated; such as: 

 Where communal car parking areas are necessary they should be 
in small groups, close and adjacent to homes and must be within 
view of active rooms (See Note) within these homes. 

 Note: The word ‘active’ in this sense means rooms in building 
elevations from which there is direct and regular visual connection 
between the room and the street or parking court. Such visual 
connection can be expected from rooms such as kitchens and living 
rooms, but not from more private rooms, such as bedrooms and 
bathrooms. 

 Rear car parking courtyards are discouraged for the following 
reasons: 

o They introduce access to the vulnerable rear elevations of dwellings 
where the majority of burglary is perpetrated 

o In private developments such areas are often left unlit and therefore 
increase the fear of crime 

o Un-gated courtyards provide areas of concealment which can 
encourage anti-social behaviour 

 Where rear car parking courtyards are considered absolutely 
necessary they must be protected by a gate, where gardens abut 
the parking area an appropriate boundary treatment (e.g. a 1.5m 
fence supplemented by trellis to a height of 1.8m) must be installed 

 Communal parking facilities must be lit to the relevant levels as 
recommended by BS 5489:2013. 

Paragraph 4.4.4 states “If underground or multi storey parking is to be 
provided, particular attention should be paid to the provision of lighting and 
safety, to ensure all attempts are taken to design out opportunities for 
crime.” However, the SPD should take the stance that all parking should be 

Comments noted. 

Change: The SPD has been updated to 
include the suggested text. 



22

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

designed to reduce the opportunities for crime. 

Paragraph 4.5.1 advises that residential parking should not normally be 
allocated unless there are concerns that persons other than residents might 
use the spaces. Dwellings that do not have in curtilage parking should have 
a minimum number of allocated parking spaces, this provides for a fair 
distribution of parking opportunities and prevents a few residents owing a 
high number of motor vehicles dominating the parking opportunities. 

Comments noted. 

Change: An additional paragraph has 
been added to the Design section to 
state ‘All parking should be designed to 
reduce the opportunities for crime’. 

Comments noted.

Change: Section 3.5 has been 
amended to reflect the benefits of 
allocating parking provision for long stay 
(resident) parking. 

14 Whitehill 
Bordon 
Project 
Team 
(EHDC)

It is noted in the document that you cite the availability of services and 
facilities at Whitehill and Bordon in the new town.

Combined with the transport hub this will make the new town centre and 
some surrounding sites more accessible.

The ability to consider less car parking for application sites that are in more 
accessible locations is welcomed, and very much desired, as we 
understand there will be small future development sites close to the new 
town centre in Whitehill and Bordon which may only be able to comply with 
the minimum standard, this may indeed also be the case in other locations 
across the district.

The inclusion of standards for electric vehicle charging points is also 
welcomed.

Support Noted.



23

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

15 Natural 
England

No comments to make. Noted

16 Historic 
England

We welcome the recognition of the need for sensitivity in conservation area 
in paragraph 6.3.3.

Comment Noted

17 Persimmon 
Homes 
South Coast

As a house builder, the Company’s operations
are not affected by the majority of the provisions within the draft SPD. 
However, the requirement for electric vehicle charging points set out in the 
draft SPD would have a significant bearing on our operations. As such it is 
this element which forms the basis of our representations to the 
consultation on the draft Vehicle Parking Standards SPD. 

From the policy basis cited within the adopted Local Plan, there is clearly 
no requirement for or mention of the provision of charging points on 
residential parking spaces. Based on the approach advocated by the NPPF 
and PPG which states that the role of SPDs is to amplify rather than 
introduce new policy. 

It is our view therefore that the requirement for EV charging points as set 
out in the draft SPD is an introduction of new policy, contrary to the role of 
SPDs.

It is acknowledged that there is a policy requirement within the adopted 
Core Strategy for new development related to the Whitehill & Bordon 
Allocation to deliver electric vehicle charging points.

While this is an issue that has been subject to the examination process and 
consequential viability assessment, the evidence and examination on this 
point related to Whitehill and Bordon only. Therefore, if the council wishes 
to introduce a new policy requirement for charging points it should do so 
through the local plan making process where the issues can be sufficiently 
examined and viability tested. 

Comments noted.

Change: The requirements for Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure have 
been revised.

Change: The minimum requirements for 
residential development and all other 
land uses where a minimum 
requirement for electric vehicle provision 
have been removed. 

The following text has been inserted: 

‘The Council will encourage provision of 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure. 

Further guidance is provided in Section 
4.6.’



24

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

It is evident that at present while there is a clear national policy direction 
towards charging provision for EVs the emphasis is on commercial 
locations and not residential locations.

We request therefore that the council with draw the requirement for electric 
vehicle charging points on new residential development. This is to ensure 
that the Parking Standards SPD accords with the NPPF, PPG and East 
Hants adopted policy. 

18 Rowlands 
Castle 
Parish 
Council

The SPD appears well-argued and sound, recognising that policy by itself 
will not bring about lower car use in a rural location with essentially minimal 
public transport alternatives.

Section 3:

 Rail: The station in Rowlands Castle may be accessible but it has 
very limited parking provision and many users park in the 
surrounding area instead. With reference to paras 3.1.2 and 3.1.3, 
the train service is not sufficient to allow for less parking than the 
minimum standard.

 Bus: The reference in para 3.1.8 to bus routes to Havant, Emsworth  
and beyond is misleading. There is only one bus route, running at 
two-hourly intervals, with just 5 daily buses from Monday to 
Saturday. The service does not warrant inclusion in the SPD.

 Education Establishments: The minimum car parking requirements 
for visitors (p19/20) should be much more prescriptive and 
quantifiable than the proposed text. Greater reference should also 
be made to HCC’s On-site School Parking Guidelines of April 2013, 
from which EHDC appears to have taken various details for its SPD.

Comments Noted.

Change: Section 3  has been updated 
and all references to Rowlands Castle 
and a number of other settlements have 
been removed.

Comments Noted. 
Change: Referrence has been added to 
the Hampshire County Council School 
Parking Guidelines.



25

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Section 4 – We support proposals on layout / design in order to encourage 
as much off-road, and particularly off pavement, parking. However 
sufficient green space for environmental as well as drainage reasons is 
also necessary.

Section 5 –

 Electric Vehicles. support the provision for future increased use of 
electric vehicles and the parking standards for larger developments 
(p11 and 5.6).

 HGVs: support the provision of HGV parking (para 5.10) where 
necessary for deliveries to appropriate new commercial/retail 
developments.

Section 7 (Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Travel Statements). 
We would suggest the title of this section be amended to ‘Transport’ rather 
than ‘Travel’ Statements because that is the terminology used throughout 
the rest of the section. The standardisation of terminology throughout 
avoids confusion.

From local experience we believe the threshold for requiring a TA should 
be lower than 50 residential units (para 7.1.5) and would suggest 30 units 
instead for any one development or, where there are
adjacent development proposals, a combined threshold of 30 units.

Noted. 

Change: additional text has been added 
to the Section 3.3 - Design to state 
‘permeable surfaces should be used 
wherever possible to reduce surface 
water runoff and assist with sustainable 
drainage measures’.

Support noted. However, the document 
has been revised to encourage provision 
of electric vehicle charging provision 
from different development types and 
further supporting guidance has been 
added in Section 4.6. 

Comment noted.
Change: the title of Section 7 has been 
amended to state ‘Travel Plans, 
Transport Assessments and Transport 
Statements’.

Comments noted. The thresholds are 
set by HCC, however flexibility is 
acknowledged in the supporting text 
(para. 6.1.6). No change required. 

19 GVA on 
behalf of 
Whiltehill 

Our comments, on behalf of the Whitehill & Bordon Regeneration 
Company, are made in the context of the on-going redevelopment of 
Bordon Garrison through the creation of Prince Philip Park, a residential led 



26

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Bordon 
Regernation 
Company

(2,400 dwellings) mixed use project which received HPA consent in late 
2015 (ref 55587/001). 

Whitehill & Bordon has been designated by the NHS as the pilot lead for 
the built environment. A lead component of this workstream, championed 
by the EHDC portfolio holder and deputy leader, is an emphasis on 
sustainable movement, notably walking and cycling, and modal shift from 
car based travel to healthier means

Whitehill & Bordon is also designated as a Green Town. Policy objectives 
for this are set out in the adopted Joint Core Strategy (JCS 2014). Indeed, 
JCS paragraph 3.22 sets out the combined objectives for the Green Town, 
and in particular Objective WB4 states: To increase local jobs, minimising 
the need to travel outside the town to work and supporting walking, cycling 
and public transport over the car.

The JCS includes numerous policies specific to specific to Whitehill & 
Bordon, including in relation to car -parking, as Policy CSWB17 states: 
Development proposals will provide car parking in accordance with the Car 
Parking Strategy for Whitehill & Bordon. The strategy balances the need for 
car parking with the need to promote sustainable transport.

A HPA S.106 contribution towards transport totalling nearly £10m includes 
a substantial proportion towards increasing the number/frequency of bus 
services, which isn’t reflected in paragraphs 3.1.9/3.1.10 of the draft SPD. 

The draft SPD’s change in approach from now seeking to set minimum, 
rather than maximum, parking standards is very significant inthe Whitehill & 
Bordon context and would fundamentally change the approach taken to 
date. EHDC has also approved a HPA site-wide ‘Structuring Plan’ (as 
required under HPA condition 6) (as revised in 2017) which includes 
addressing movement and transport matters, including street hierarchy, 
connectivity, public transport and parking. Indeed Section 6 of the approved 



27

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

Structuring Plan Explanatory Document sets out parking standards (both 
relating to town centre parking and parking outside the centre), which for 
reasons above, including sustainability, take a different approach to parking 
standards contained in the draft SPD.

The HPA Structuring Plan (and subsequently approved Town Centre 
Design Code ref 55587/050) hasformed the basis upon which, for example, 
the latest town centre Phase 1 RMA proposals have been prepared and 
submitted to EHDC. This RMA includes residential development (177 units) 
which are mostly 2-bed and proposed with 1 vehicle parking space (and 2 
cycle spaces) per unit, with no separate dedicated visitor spaces to be 
provided, which is in line with the approved Structuring Plan. This approach 
directly conflicts with proposed draft SPD standards which set a minimum 
requirement for 2 vehicle spaces for a 2 bed unit, with an additional 1 short 
stay visitor 
space per 4 units.

Visitor Parking 
The need to provide visitor parking, could in some locations (and specific 
HPA parcel designs) be integrated readily easily, especially when 
integrated within green verges or street tree planting. In other locations, 
such as smaller HPA parcels or quieter streets, this could add unnecessary 
regulation as a natural/self-regulated on -street visitor parking could work 
equally well. However different considerations apply to creating a new town 
centre in Whitehill & Bordon and as stated above. 

There is a ‘place-making’ concern about the inclusion of visitor bays which 
tend to lead to very engineered solutions, which often (in order to save 
space) create footpaths that weave around these bays, thereby not 
supporting a straight desire line route for pedestrians. 

The blanket application of the emerging visitor space standard could add 
the need to create around a further 600 parking spaces for visitors to serve 



28

ID Respondent Response Summary Officer Response 

the consented 2,400 HPA dwellings which is very significant in terms of 
land-take/parcel densities and WBRC’s place-making agenda.

Unless the draft SPD can take a more flexible approach to parking 
standards within the Whitehill & Bordon regeneration project area, then we 
would invite EHDC to amend the draft SPD to exclude the whole of the 
Whitehill & Bordon regeneration project area.

Whilst draft SPD paragraphs 2.5.4/2.5.5 do allow for a departure from the 
SPD parking standards if ‘robust evidence’ can be provided, we contend 
that we have already passed this point (particularly with the approval of the 
HPA Structuring Plan) thereby reinforcing the need for Whitehill & Bordon 
to be excluded from the scope/applicability of the SPD.



The East Hampshire District Local Plan

‘Vehicle Parking Standards’ 
Supplementary Planning 

Document

JULY  2018



2

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION 4
1.1 What is a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)? 4
1.2 What is the purpose of this SPD? 4
1.3 Policy context 5
1.4 When does this guidance apply? 8
1.5 Why produce new standards? 9
1.6 Key objective 11

2 PARKING STANDARDS 12
2.1 Accessibility and opportunities for public transport 25

3 SIZE, LAYOUT AND DESIGN OF PARKING SPACES 27
3.1 Size 27
3.2 Layout 28
3.3 Design 30
3.4 Location of parking 31
3.5 Allocation of parking 32
3.6 Residential amenity and on street parking 32
3.7 Car Parking Surveys (where relevant) 33

4 TYPES OF PARKING 35
4.1 Garages 35
4.2 Visitor parking 36
4.3 Disability parking spaces 37
4.4 Parents and children parking spaces 37
4.5 Petrol stations with retail provision 37
4.6 Electric vehicles 38
4.7 Mobility scooters and motorcycle parking 41
4.8 Children’s scooters 41
4.9 Buses/coaches 41
4.10 HGVs 42

5 BICYCLE PARKING 43
5.1 Types of cycle parking 43
5.2 Long stay cycle parking (communal) 43



3

5.3 Long stay cycle parking (individual dwellings) 44
5.4 Short stay cycle parking 45
5.5 Further Guidance 45

6 TRAVEL PLANS, TRANSPORT ASSESSMENTS AND TRANSPORT 
STATEMENTS 46

7 MONITORING 48

APPENDIX 1 – EVIDENCE TO JUSTIFY PARKING STANDARDS IN 
THE DISTRICT 49

APPENDIX 2 – GUIDANCE ON ALTON NEIGHBOURHOOD 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES TR3 CYCLE STORAGE AND 
PARKING AND TR5 PARKING PROVISION AND STANDARDS 
(2017) 59



4

1 Introduction

1.1 What is a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)? 

1.1.1   A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) elaborates upon policies in the 
Development Plan, which in the case of East Hampshire are the ‘saved’ 
policies in the adopted East Hampshire District Local Plan Second Review 
(2006), the adopted Joint Core Strategy (2014, for the period 2011-2028), and 
the Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocation Plans. It is intended that 
the Local Plan Second Review (2006) policies will be replaced by the Local 
Plan Review. The timetable for preparing the Local Plan Review are set out in 
the Local Development Scheme.

1.1.2   This SPD elaborates upon Joint Core Strategy Policy CP31. The standards in 
this SPD will upon adoption by the Council, supersede those in the Parking 
Standards Guidance note which were adopted in July 2008. 

1.1.3   SPDs are one of the material considerations that can be taken into account 
when determining a planning application.

1.2 What is the purpose of this SPD?

1.2.1   This document sets out East Hampshire District Council’s off-street parking 
standards relating to new development in the District that is located outside of 
the South Downs National Park (SDNP). The SDNP is preparing its own Local 
Plan and Parking Standards SPD. 

1.2.2   Parking standards for the Alton Neighbourhood Plan area are included in 
Policies TR3 and TR5 in the made Alton Neighbourhood Plan. This SPD does 
not replace policies TR3 or TR5 (see section 2.4 for more detail on the 
relationship between this SPD and the Alton Neighbourhood Plan).

1.2.3   Proposed parking provision as part of development proposals seeking planning 
permission will be assessed against the guidance set out in this document 
(with exceptions as described). Parking in proposed developments should not 
create undue impact on the built environment, street congestion, road safety 
issues or create tensions within a community.



5

1.2.4   Guidance is given on the levels of car, cycle, motorcycle and disabled parking 
that should be provided. The inclusion of design advice demonstrates how 
parking should be integrated into a high-quality external space that is 
accessible to all.

1.2.5   In addition, the document sets out the circumstances in which developers will 
be required to submit a Travel Plan to support a planning application.

1.2.6   The document is intended for use by applicants, agents, developers, architects, 
consultants, residents, elected Members of the Council, and other decision-
making bodies. For applicants, agents and architects it should be used during 
the preparation of a planning application, or prior to seeking more formal pre-
application advice from the Council. 

1.2.7   The adoption of this document has resulted in the Residential Parking 
Standards for East Hampshire (2008) being withdrawn for those parts of the 
District outside of the South Downs National Park.

 

1.3 Policy context 

1.3.1   This SPD has been informed by, and is based on, both national and local 
planning policy. The planning policies relevant to this SPD are detailed below.

National Policy
1.3.2   The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out Government 

planning policies that must be taken into account in the preparation of Local 
Plans and is a material consideration in planning decisions. Revised Parking 
Standards should be prepared in accordance with the policy context set out in 
the NPPF. 

1.3.3   The NPPF has, as one of its core principles, a requirement for development to 
encourage sustainable transport. “Planning should…actively manage patterns 
of growth to make fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling, 
and focus significant development in locations which can be made more 
sustainable” (Paragraph 17). 

1.3.4   This emphasis, set out in more detail in Chapter 4 of the NPPF, seeks to 
promote sustainable transport. It recognises that “transport policies have an 
important role to play in facilitating sustainable development but also in 
contributing to wider sustainability and health objectives”. It states that “the 



6

transport system should be balanced in favour of sustainable transport modes, 
giving people a real choice about how they travel” (Paragraph 29).

 
1.3.5   Chapter 4 of the NPPF goes on to provide more detail, stating that “All 

developments which generate significant amounts of movement should be 
required to provide a Travel Plan” (Paragraph 36). It also states (Paragraph 39) 
that when setting local parking standards for development local planning 
authorities should take into account: 

 the accessibility of the development; 
 the type, mix and use of development;
 the availability of and opportunities for public transport; 
 local car ownership levels; and 
 an overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles. 

1.3.6   Additional guidance in a Planning Update from Government dated March 2015 
states that “Local planning authorities should only impose local parking 
standards for residential and non-residential development where there is a 
clear and compelling justification that is necessary to manage their local road 
network.”  (https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-update-march-
2015). 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
1.3.7   The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides further detailed guidance on 

the policies set out in the NPPF. It should be read in conjunction with the 
NPPF. 

1.3.8   The PPG requires local planning authorities to “seek to ensure parking 
provision is appropriate to the needs of the development and not reduced 
below a level that could be considered reasonable” (PPG, Paragraph 008, 
Reference ID: 42-008-20140306). 

1.3.9   It states that “Maximum parking standards can lead to poor quality 
development and congested streets” and provides greater freedom for local 
planning authorities to set parking standards appropriate to their areas. (PPG, 
Paragraph 008 Reference ID: 42-008-20140306). 

1.3.10   In accordance with national policy, it is important to ensure that East 
Hampshire’s parking standards reflect local circumstances and strike the right 
balance between providing appropriate levels of car parking spaces while also 
promoting sustainable forms of transport in areas of good public transport 
accessibility.

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-update-march-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-update-march-2015


7

Local Policy 
1.3.11   The East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2028 

was adopted in June 2014. This was prepared in partnership with the South 
Downs National Park. Saved policies in the adopted East Hampshire District 
Local Plan Second Review (2006) still apply until such a time that they are 
replaced by an adopted Development Plan Document. 

1.3.12   JCS Policy CP29 Design states that development will need to provide car 
parking in a way that secures a high quality environment and is conveniently 
located, within curtilage wherever possible, taking account of relatively high 
levels of car ownership where necessary. 

1.3.13   JCS Policy CP31 Transport requires that development proposals “provide 
adequate, convenient and secure vehicle and cycle parking in accordance with 
adopted standards”. 

1.3.14   The supporting text of JCS Policy CP31 Transport (paragraph 8.25) highlights 
that within the district the high levels of car ownership and limited public 
transport, combined with the rural character of the area, mean that a reduction 
in parking capacity or further discouragement of parking would not necessarily 
discourage car use. 

1.3.15   JCS Policy CP15 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople states that 
sites for Gyspies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople should have adequate 
provision for access, parking, turning and servicing.

Alton Neighbourhood Plan
1.3.16   Following a positive referendum result, East Hampshire District Council made 

the Alton Neighbourhood Plan at a Council meeting on 12 May 2016.  The 
Alton Neighbourhood Plan includes two policies which set parking standards, 
Policy TR3 Cycle Storage and Parking and Policy TR5 Parking provision and 
standards. These policies are part of a transport chapter that seeks to ensure 
the local transport network can adapt and improve in relation to proposed 
growth, that sufficient parking is provided and that it is easier for people to 
walk, cycle or take public transport, thus reducing demand for use of the 
private vehicle. 



8

1.4 When does this guidance apply?

1.4.1   Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

1.4.2   The Alton Neighbourhood Plan forms part of the Development Plan. Proposed 
parking provision as part of development proposals in the Alton Neighbourhood 
Plan area should be considered in accordance with the Alton Neighbourhood 
Plan. (See www.easthants.gov.uk/neighbourhood-plans/alton-neighbourhood-
plan).   This SPD does not replace Alton Neighbourhood Plan policies TR3 or 
TR5

1.4.3   The vehicle parking standards for development in Alton Neighbourhood Plan 
area are set out in Policy TR5. Policy TR5 is an up to date policy in a 
Development Plan that carries full weight in the decision making process.

 
1.4.4   The Vehicle Parking Standards SPD does not replace Policy TR5, however, in 

its consideration of non residential parking, the supporting text of Policy TR5 
references the parking standards applied by Hampshire County Council. This 
SPD will replace the standards applied by Hampshire County Council that the 
Council adopted for use. 

1.4.5   “This policy expects non–residential developments at Alton to provide some 
off-street parking for use by employees and clients at that development. As a 
general guide applicants should utilise the non-residential standards until 
recently applied by Hampshire County Council” (Alton Neighbourhood Plan, 
page 54). 

1.4.6   Thus, when considering parking standards for non-residential uses in the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan area, the factors listed in Policy TR5 ‘non-residential 
parking’ subsection remain considerations, and the vehicle parking standards 
acting as a general guide are those in this Vehicle Parking Standards SPD. A 
Guidance Note produced by Alton Town Council clarifies this position, and also 
clarifies the position with regards to cycle parking standards (as per Policy 
TR3). The Guidance Note is available at Appendix 2 and can also be viewed 
on the Alton Town Council Website1. 

1.4.7   The JCS forms part of the Development Plan and includes specific policies that 
relate to the Strategic Allocation at Whitehill and Bordon. Policy CSWB13 Car 
Parking says that, “Development proposals will provide car parking in 
accordance with the Car Parking Strategy for Whitehill and Bordon”. The 

1 http://www.alton.gov.uk/Neighbourhood_Plan_Monitoring_Group_6394.aspx

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/neighbourhood-plans/alton-neighbourhood-plan
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/neighbourhood-plans/alton-neighbourhood-plan
http://www.alton.gov.uk/_UserFiles/Files/FINAL%20Guidance%20note%20on%20Policies%20TR3%20and%20TR5.pdf


9

aforementioned strategy is dated 2013, and as detailed development proposals 
continue to be worked up for the site, regard will also be had to the parking 
standards in this SPD as well as the strategy. Flexibility is needed to ensure 
that the most appropriate standards are provided on each part of the site, with 
regard needed to accessibility and opportunity for public transport, especially in 
the town centre. 

1.4.8   The South Downs National Park Authority is preparing its own Local Plan and 
Vehicle Parking Standards SPD. This SPD does not apply to areas of East 
Hampshire district that are within the South Downs National Park. 

1.4.9   With the exception of above, the parking standards in this SPD apply to all 
developments for the provision of one or more residential units (gross) and all 
developments that result in the creation of non-residential floorspace. If a 
planning application for extension/alterations (residential and non-residential) 
involves a significant increase in area then the impact of the development on 
parking will be a material consideration and additional parking spaces may be 
sought to ensure that a suitable level of parking provision is made.

1.4.10   Where mixed use, residential and commercial developments are proposed, the 
parking requirements for each element should be calculated individually. 
However, consideration should be given to how parking spaces can be shared 
between uses, particularly where the non-residential use is more likely to 
attract the need for parking during the day. Applicants will be required to 
demonstrate how these shared spaces will be managed to ensure that the 
needs of all uses on the site will be met, for example by preparing a parking 
strategy.

1.5 Why produce new standards?

1.5.1   Hampshire County Council (HCC) withdrew its residential parking standards in 
2011 and its non-residential parking standards in 2014. It is not a given that 
parking standards must be in place, as planning decisions can rely on national 
planning policy. However, where there is a local justification for using 
standards, national planning policy supports them. 

1.5.2   The Government acknowledged that car use will not be lessened by arbitrarily 
restricting off street parking spaces. Whilst the emphasis remains on promoting 
sustainable modes of travel and widening choice, in a district that is 
predominantly rural in nature and where there is higher than average car 
ownership, appropriate provision of parking on new developments is 
necessary. As the Government acknowledges, failure to provide adequate 



10

parking can lead to parking misery, and be to the visual detriment of otherwise 
well planned and designed developments. Also, too much parking can result in 
poor design and harsh urban landscapes, and lessen the amount of open 
space provided.  

1.5.3   Evidence collected to date indicates that there is a clear and compelling 
justification for introducing parking standards in the district (outside of the 
SDNP). See Appendix 1. East Hampshire has a high proportion of households 
with two or more cars or vans, and many residents rely on the car or van 
(whether driving or as a passenger) to travel to work. In addition to statistical 
data, evidence has been collected from previous planning permissions and 
parking surveys, showing examples of parking on pavements blocking 
pedestrian access, safety concerns as parking causes road users onto the 
other side of the road into a corner, and spaces in front of garages that are not 
big enough to accommodate a car, but are big enough to encourage an 
unsatisfactory attempt at parking. Particular attention was given to applications 
where issues have been raised by the occupiers of properties where parking 
provision was provided to the 2002 maximum standards.

1.5.4   Recognising the potential negative impact on local areas of maximum parking 
standards, this SPD expresses the standards as a minimum requirement. 
Where robust evidence can be provided to the contrary, a departure from the 
standards will be considered, however the Council remains committed to 
ensuring that adequate parking is provided to serve new development. 

1.5.5   The HCC standards applied reductions in car parking for areas with higher 
levels of accessibility. Although this approach has proved successful in some 
of the district’s urban areas with good levels of public transport, the application 
of notional reductions in parking standards within indicative accessibility zones 
is less applicable to locations that are not served by a frequent public transport 
services. Whilst accessibility of the development is a consideration when 
setting standards, to avoid over complication, the standards in this SPD apply 
to all areas. However, if there is a specific case to justify lesser provision, for 
example due to proximity to a public transport interchange, then this will be 
considered on a case by case basis, following the case for a reduction in 
parking provision being made in the development proposal. Further information 
about accessibility and opportunities for public transport is available in section 
2.1.  

1.5.6   This SPD also offers a more detailed definition of use classes, particularly 
within the Retail classification, to differentiate between the different types of 
development proposals across the district. 



11

1.6 Key objective

1.6.1   The key objective of these standards is to help provide functional 
developments maximising opportunities for use of sustainable modes of 
transport, where people can sustainably and easily carry out their daily travel 
requirements without an unacceptable detrimental impact on the local road 
network, or the visual appearance of the development (from excessive and 
inconsiderate on street parking).  

1.6.2   Policy CP31 of the Joint Core Strategy encourages the fullest possible use of 
sustainable modes of transport and reduced dependence on the private motor 
vehicle. This remains the overall aim but is balanced with the local 
circumstances (as documented in Appendix 1), and the Government’s 
recognition that maximum car parking standards can cause parking misery. 
These standards seek to ensure that appropriate parking is provided, with an 
emphasis on ensuring there is parking available for bicycles. The standards 
also allow for deviation in accordance with accessibility and availability and 
opportunities for public transport, walking and cycling, to ensure that travelling 
by private motor vehicle is not actively encouraged, rather is adequately and 
safely facilitated within new developments where it is required. 

1.6.3   The Council's parking standards are set in Section 2 overleaf.

 



12

2 Parking standards
Minimum Car Parking 
Requirements

Minimum Cycle Parking Requirement  Size of 
dwelling 
(gross) Long stay 

(resident)
Short stay 
(visitor)

Long stay 
(resident)

Short stay (visitor)

Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure

1 bed dwelling 1 space per 
dwelling

1 space per 5 
dwellings 

1 space per 
dwelling

2/3 bed 
dwelling

2 spaces per 
dwelling

1 space per 5 
dwellings 

2 spaces per 
dwelling

4+ bed dwelling 3 spaces per 
dwelling

1 space per 5 
dwellings 

2 spaces per 
dwelling 

Visitor cycle spaces will 
be expected at 10% of 
the long stay cycle 
spaces in developments 
of 5 units or more. 

The Council will encourage the 
provision of electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure. 

Further guidance is provided in 
Section 4.6.

Short stay (visitor) car parking standard – where the number of dwellings proposed is not a multiple of 4, provision will be rounded up. For 
example, for a proposal of 10 homes, 2 short stay visitor car parking spaces is the minimum requirement.  However, provision is not required 
for proposals of less than 5 homes, but is encouraged where it is possible to incorporate into the development.  

Short stay (visitor) cycle parking requirement – Visitor cycle spaces will be expected at 10% of the long stay spaces in developments of 5 units 
or more. Where the number of long stay residents spaces is not a multiple of 10, provision will be rounded up when the proportion is equal to or 
greater than .5, and rounded down when less than .5. For example, for a proposal of 12 2/3 bed homes, 24 long stay cycle spaces would be 
required, and therefore in this instance 2 short stay visitor spaces should be provided to serve the development. 

Motorcycle parking – development proposals should provide motorcycle parking where possible, particularly where the proposed development 
consists wholly or in part of flats (i.e. where private garages are not available for parking motorcycles). The amount to be provided will be 
considered on a case by case basis. 



13

Older People’s Housing 

Development Requirement
Sheltered Housing 

This type of housing is diverse, 
and ranges from retirement living 
homes for the over 55s with few 
shared facilities which are 
managed and maintained by staff 
living off site to homes with full 
time onsite managers and varying 
degrees of personal care as 
required. These types of housing 
will attract people with a wide 
demographic and health profile 
with variable car ownership levels.

Given the broad range of accommodation available within this type of housing and the resulting variability 
of parking requirements, parking will be considered on a site by site basis. A full assessment of likely 
parking need should be provided with a development proposal (including information about number of 
employees, expected visitor patterns and type of parking needed). 

As a starting point, it is likely that retirement homes (for example, homes for the over 55s/60s) will need to 
provide at least one parking space per home, subject to location (for example, rural) and accessibility by 
public transport, with additional space for visitors and staff. Where the type of housing involves more care 
and less likely travelling by car of residents, the amount of parking likely to be needed by residents may 
be less, however, more parking for staff may be required. Consideration should be given to the provision 
and allocation of disabled parking, recognising that a higher proportionate may be appropriate than the 
standard for dwelling houses. 

Cycle parking for long and short stay cycling (particularly for staff and visitors) and storage and charging 
provision for mobility vehicles, should be included where appropriate.

Nursing and Rest Homes

Residents of this type of housing 
will receive a high degree of 
support and care. This would 
include specialist care homes, for 
example those catering particularly 
for dementia care. 

Parking will be considered on a site by site basis. A full assessment of likely parking need should be 
provided with a development proposal (including information about number of employees, expected visitor 
patterns and type of parking needed).

The amount of parking needed will depend on the level of care, whether the home is catering for a 
particular condition (for example, specialist dementia care), the location (for example, rural) and 
accessibility by public transport. This type of housing is likely to require less parking than ‘sheltered 
housing’ as above for residents, but more parking for staff, visitors and visiting medical staff (including 
emergency services). Consideration should be given to the provision and allocation of disabled parking, 
recognising that a higher proportion may be appropriate than the standard for dwelling houses.

Cycle parking for long and short stay cycling (particularly for staff and visitors) and storage and charging 
provision for mobility vehicles, should be included where appropriate.



14

Caravans (including mobile home parks, Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople plots) 

Development Minimum Parking requirement
Mobile home parks (C3 land use) Parking provision should be made in accordance with the requirements for dwelling houses. 

Traveller pitches (all pitches 
occupied by ethnic Travellers, 
regardless of meeting the planning 
definition as set out in Planning 
Policy for Traveller Sites). 

Parking provision should broadly follow the requirement for dwelling houses, however, particularly where 
sites are in rural locations, and given the tendency for the Traveller community to own vehicles for 
domestic and business use, higher than average levels of provision may be needed (although note 
excessive parking will be discouraged). Resident parking should be provided for, on individual pitches.  

Parking spaces must be a minimum of 2.4 x 4.8 metres, but where possible, provision should 
acknowledge the likelihood of larger cars and light vans on site, and provide some spaces at 2.4 x 5.5 
metres in size. 

Visitor parking is an important consideration for Traveller pitches. Some visitor parking should be 
provided, ensuring that each pitch can accommodate at least one vehicle parking space for visitors, and if 
not, separate visitor parking within the overall site is provided. Separate parking areas should be situated 
in an area in good sight of the residents. Provision of visitor parking should particularly be the case where 
there is the potential risk that parking could overflow from the site and have a detrimental impact on the 
local highway network. 

Visitors sometimes bring touring caravans to a site for a few days at a time to attend a family event. 
However, Traveller accommodation is generally conditioned for a specific number of caravans, and 
visitors bringing touring caravans onto site could potentially contravene the conditions of the planning 
permission. Applicants seeking permission for Traveller accommodation should consider their likely visitor 
needs, and whether a planning condition 
specifying the number of days the site can be occupied by more than the allowed number of caravans 
(which permits visitors and allows attendance at family or community events) may be an appropriate 
mechanism (in accordance with Planning Policy for Traveller Sites, 2015, para. 28). 



15

Travelling Showpeople plots (all 
plots occupied by Travelling 
Showpeople, regardless of 
meeting the planning definition as 
set out in Planning Policy for 
Traveller Sites).

Travelling Showpeople plots are generally larger than Traveller pitches to accommodate the storage of 
equipment. Proposals should broadly follow the parking requirement for dwelling houses. 

Parking spaces for the residential use must be a minimum of 2.4 x 4.8 metres, but where possible, 
provision should acknowledge the likelihood of larger cars and light vans on site, and provide some 
spaces at 2.4 x 5.5 metres in size. The provision of space for the storage of equipment is a separate 
issue to general parking, and a separate planning consideration. 

Some visitor parking should be provided, ensuring that each plot can accommodate at least one parking 
space for visitors, and if not, separate visitor parking within the overall site is provided. Separate parking 
areas may present security considerations for residents in some cases and should therefore be situated 
in an area in good sight of the residents.  Provision of visitor parking should particularly be the case where 
there is the potential risk that parking could overflow from the site and have a detrimental impact on the 
local highway network. 



16

Business Uses 

Minimum Cycle Parking 
Requirement  

 
Description 

Minimum Car 
Parking 

Requirements Long stay Short stay 
(visitor)

Minimum 
Motorcycle 

Requirement

Minimum 
Requirement for 
Disabled Parking 

spaces

Electric Vehicle 
Charging 

Infrastructure 

B1(a) office 1 space per 
30sqm

1 space per 
150sqm or 1 
space per 8 staff 
(whichever is 
greater)

1 space per 
500sqm 

B1(b)/(c) high tech / 
light industry 

1 space per 
45sqm

1 space per 
250sqm or 1 
space per 8 staff 
(whichever is 
greater)

1 space per 
500sqm 

B2 general industrial 1 space per 
45sqm

1 space per 
350sqm or 1 
space per 8 staff 
(whichever is 
greater)

1 space per 
500sqm 

B8 warehouse 1 space per 
100sqm

1 space per 
500sqm or 1 
space per 10 
staff (whichever 
is greater)

1 space per 
1000sqm 

One space for 
every 25 car 
parking 
spaces. This is 
an additional 
space rather 
than a 
proportion of 
the provision. 

Allocated parking 
spaces should be 
provided in a ratio of 
5% of the total 
provision. These are 
part of the car 
parking provision – 
not additional 
provision. 

The Council will 
encourage the 
provision of electric 
vehicle charging 
infrastructure. 

Further guidance is 
provided in Section 4.6. 

Floorspace is Gross External Area (GEA) which will include the thickness of the external wall
Rounding will be done on the basis that provision should be rounded up when the proportion is equal to or greater than .5, and rounded down 
when less than .5.  This includes where the floor space proposed is less than the standard, for example, a B1(a) office of 250sqm would need 
to provide 1 short stay (visitor) cycle space (250/500 = 0.5, rounded up to 1). The exceptions to this are: disabled provision where there should 
always be at least one space provided.  



17

Retail Uses

Minimum Cycle 
Parking 

Requirement  

Land Use Minimum Car 
Parking 

Requirements
Long stay Short 

stay

Minimum 
Requirement 

for Motorcycle 
/Mobility 
Scooters

Minimum 
Requirement 
for Disabled 

Parking 
spaces

Minimum 
Requirement for 
Parent and Child 
Parking Spaces

Electric Vehicle 
Charging 

Infrastructure

1 space per 
20sqm covered 
areas

1 space per 
6 staff or
1 space per 
300sqm 
whichever 
is the 
greater

1 space 
per 
200sqm 

A1 Shops 
(non-food 
retail and 
general retail) 

1 space per 
30sqm 
uncovered area

1 space per 
6 staff or
1 space per 
300sqm 
whichever 
is the 
greater

1 space 
per 
200sqm

A1 Shops 
(food retail) 

1 space per 
14sqm covered 
areas

1 space per 
6 staff or
1 space per 
300sqm 
whichever 
is the 
greater

1 space 
per 
200sqm 

One space for 
every 25 car 
parking spaces. 
This is an 
additional space 
rather than a 
proportion of the 
provision 

Allocated 
parking spaces 
should be 
provided in a 
ratio of 5% of 
the total 
provision. These 
are part of the 
car parking 
provision – not 
additional 
provision. 

Allocated parking 
spaces should be 
provided in a ratio of 
5% of the total 
provision. These are 
part of the car 
parking provision – 
not additional 
provision.

The Council will 
encourage the provision of 
electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure. 

Further guidance is 
provided in Section 4.6. 

Petrol 
stations

Petrol stations with a shop will be considered under the appropriate retail category but with petrol pump spaces counting as one 
space each. The canopy of a petrol station or car wash does not count as a covered area in terms of A1 retail space, where retail 
floor space is being provided. If retail provision is being made alongside a petrol station, whilst these are minimum parking 
standards, consideration of the provision of easily accessible additional parking for retail spaces along with signage promoting its 
use is encouraged. (See section 5.5 where further detail is provided). 



18

Car sales / 
car sales and 
garage (sui 
generis use)

These will be considered on a case by case basis, as the nature of sales, and intensity of repairs varies. Consideration must take 
account of the accessibility of the location, and the parking restrictions on neighbouring roads. Where parking is restricted nearby, 
or overspill is likely to cause significant problems for the local road network, a proposal must ensure sufficient staff and customer 
parking is provided on site. As a general guide, the following may be appropriate;

 For workshop staff, 1 space per 45sqm GEA
 For sales staff, 1 space per full time person
 3 customer spaces per service/repair bay
 1 space per 10 cars on sale

Floorspace is Gross External Area (GEA) which will include the thickness of the external wall

Rounding will be done on the basis that provision should be rounded up when the proportion is equal to or greater than .5, and rounded down 
when less than .5.  This includes where the floor space proposed is less than the standard, for example, an A1 shop of 100sqm would need to 
provide 1 short stay cycle space (100/200 = 0.5, rounded up to 1). The exception to this is disabled provision where there should always be at 
least one space provided. 



19

Education Establishments 

Minimum Car Parking 
Requirements

Minimum Cycle Parking 
Requirements

Land use 

Staff Visitor Long stay Short stay

Minimum 
Motorcycle and 

Bus/Coach 
Requirements

Minimum 
Requirement for 
Disabled Parking 

spaces

D1 Educational 
Establishments
(Primary 
Schools)1

1 space per 
teaching 
member of 
staff 

2 spaces per 3 
non-teaching 
staff 

1 child scooter space 
per 10 pupils plus 1 
cycle space per 20 
pupils.

1 cycle space per 20 
staff, located in a 
separate non-pupil 
area

4 spaces per 
establishment

D1 Educational 
Establishments
(Secondary 
Schools)1

1 space per 
teaching 
member of 
staff 

2 spaces per 3 
non-teaching 
staff.

This will be 
considered 
on a case by 
case basis, 
balancing 
managing the 
impact of 
parking on 
the local road 
network with 
encouraging 
sustainable 
modes of 
transport. 

1 cycle space per 10 
pupils

1 cycle space per 20 
staff, located in a 
separate non-pupil 
area

4 spaces per 
establishment

Minimum of 1 
motorcycle space, or 1 
space per 25 car 
parking spaces. This is 
an additional space 
rather than a proportion 
of the provision. 

A bus/coach loading 
area, provided either on 
or off-site, for primary-
age education and 
above, unless 
otherwise justified.

Allocated parking 
spaces should be 
provided in a ratio of 
5% of the total 
provision. These are 
part of the car 
parking provision – 
not additional 
provision. 

D1 Educational 
Establishments
(Day nurseries / 
playgroups 
(private) and 
crèches)

1.5 spaces per 
2 members of 
staff.

This will be 
considered 
on a case by 
case basis, 
balancing 
managing the 
impact of 

1 space per
6 members of staff

4 spaces
per 
establishment

One space for every 25 
car parking spaces. 
This is an additional 
space rather than a 
proportion of the 
provision. 

Allocated parking 
spaces should be 
provided in a ratio of 
5% of the total 
provision. These are 
part of the car 
parking provision – 



20

parking on 
the local road 
network with 
encouraging 
sustainable 
modes of 
transport.

not additional 
provision. 

D1 Educational Establishments
(16+ Colleges and further 
education colleges)

Determined within a Travel Plan (already in place or submitted with an application)

1 Further Guidance on site school parking provision is contained within the Hampshire County Council on-site School Parking Guidelines (2013)

Rounding - any rounding will be done on the basis that provision should be rounded up when the proportion is equal to or greater than .5, and 
rounded down when less than .5.  The exceptions to this are: disabled provision where there should always be at least one space provided 

Member of staff – this is full time equivalent (FTE).

The most significant impact on the local highway network in relation to educational establishments is caused by and during drop off and pick up 
time. To discourage driving to pick up or drop off, the amount of parent/visitor parking should be limited, and should not be provided to the 
extent that it encourages trips by car that could be carried out more sustainably. However, when considering how much parking to provide, 
account should be taken of the ease with which drop off and pick up can be done on foot, by bicycle or by public transport, and the local 
circumstances in terms of impact on the local road network. 

Large educational establishments sometimes have facilities that are used for different purposes, such as gyms, leisure and entertainment. If 
any of these uses are likely to be in use during usual working hours, particularly during drop off or pick up times, additional parking may be 
justified.  



21

Health Establishments 

Land use Minimum Car 
Parking 
Requirements

Minimum Cycle 
Parking 
Requirements

Minimum Requirement 
for Motorcycle /Mobility 
Scooters

Minimum 
Requirement for 
Disabled Parking 
spaces

Electric Vehicle 
Charging 
Infrastructure

Private hospitals, 
community and 
general hospitals

Determined within a Travel Plan

Health centres

Doctors, dentists 
Veterinary 
surgeries

2 spaces per 
consulting room

1 space per 2 
consulting rooms or 1 
space per 6 staff, 
whichever is greatest

One space for every 25 car 
parking spaces. This is an 
additional space rather than 
a proportion of the provision 

Allocated parking 
spaces should be 
provided in a ratio of 
5% of the total 
provision. These are 
part of the car parking 
provision – not 
additional provision. 

The Council will 
encourage the 
provision of 
electric vehicle 
charging 
infrastructure. 

Further guidance 
is provided in 
Section 4.6. 

Rounding - any rounding will be done on the basis that provision should be rounded up when the proportion is equal to or greater than .5, and 
rounded down when less than .5.  The exception to this is disabled provision where there should always be at least one space provided.

Member of staff – this is full time equivalent (FTE).



22

Care Establishments

Land use Minimum parking requirement
Day centres for those with 
learning/ physical 
disabilities

Homes for children

Family Centres
Residential units for 
those with 
learning/physical 
disabilities 

This will be considered on a case by case basis taking account of the detail of the proposal and the local 
circumstances in terms of accessibility and the local road network. Account will be taken of the amount of staff, 
whether staff are residing over night, and the likelihood and frequency of visiting professionals and friends/family. 
 



23

Other uses 

Minimum Cycle Parking 
Requirements

Land Use Minimum Car 
Parking 

Requirements Long stay Short stay 
(visitor)

Minimum 
Requirement 

for 
Motorcycle 

/Mobility 
Scooters

Minimum 
Requirement 
for Disabled 

Parking 
spaces

Minimum 
Requirement 
for Electric 

Cars

Cinemas, theatres and 
conference facilities 

1 space per 5 
fixed seats 

1 space per 6 staff or
1 space per 40sqm 
GEA (whichever is the 
greatest)

1 space per 
20sqm 

Eating and drinking 
establishments 

1 space per 5sqm 
dining/bar/dance 
area 

1 space per 6 staff or 
1 space per 40sqm 
(whichever is the 
greatest)

1 space per 
20sqm 

Community/village halls 1 space per 
10sqm open hall

1 space per 6 staff or
1 space per 40sqm 
GEA (whichever is the 
greatest)

1 space per 
20sqm 

Places of worship and 
associated halls

1 space per 5 
fixed seats plus 1 
space per 10sqm 
open hall

1 space per 6 staff or
1 space per 40sqm 
GEA (whichever is the 
greatest)

1 space per 
20sqm 

Playing fields 12 spaces per 
hectare pitch area

1 space per 6 staff or
1 space per 40sqm 
GEA (whichever is the 
greatest)

1 space per 
pitch

Sports halls 1 space per 5 
fixed seats plus 1 
space per 30sqm 
playing area

1 space per 30sqm
playing area and 
where applicable 1 
space per 5 fixed 
seats 

1 space per 
pitch / court 

One space for 
every 25 car 
parking 
spaces. This is 
an additional 
space rather 
than a 
proportion of 
the provision.

Allocated 
parking spaces 
should be 
provided in a 
ratio of 5% of 
the total 
provision. 
These are part 
of the car 
parking 
provision – not 
additional 
provision. 

The Council will 
encourage the 
provision of 
electric vehicle 
charging 
infrastructure. 

Further guidance 
is provided in 
Section 4.6. 



24

Swimming pools, health 
clubs, gyms

1 space per 5 
fixed seats plus 1 
space per 10sqm 
open hall/pool 
area

1 space per 10sqm 
open hall/pool area 
and where applicable 
1 space per 5 fixed 
seats

1 space per 
20sqm 

Courts (squash, tennis) 1 space per court 1 space per 6 staff or 
1
space per 5 courts

1 space per 
court

Hotels/motels/guest 
houses 

1 space per 
bedroom 

1 space per 6 staff or
1 space per 40sqm 
GEA (whichever is the 
greatest)

1 space per 
10 bedrooms

One space for 
every 25 car 
parking 
spaces. This is 
an additional 
space rather 
than a 
proportion of 
the provision.

Allocated 
parking spaces 
should be 
provided in a 
ratio of 5% of 
the total 
provision. 
These are part 
of the car 
parking 
provision – not 
additional 
provision. 

The Council will 
encourage the 
provision of 
electric vehicle 
charging 
infrastructure. 

Further guidance 
is provided in 
Section 4.6. 

.    

Floorspace is Gross External Area (GEA). 

Any uses not specifically described above will be considered on a case by case basis. 

Rounding - any rounding will be done on the basis that provision should be rounded up when the proportion is equal to or greater than .5, and 
rounded down when less than .5.  The exceptions to this are: disabled provision where there should always be at least one space provided
Member of staff – this is full time equivalent (FTE).



25

2.1 Accessibility and opportunities for public transport 

2.1.1   These parking standards apply to all areas (excluding the areas as 
discussed in section 1.4). However, the accessibility of a development 
proposal and the availability and opportunities for public transport remain a 
key consideration when determining the appropriate amount of parking 
provision. The standards are minimum, meaning that more parking can be 
provided in accordance with local circumstances. However, parking 
provision should be within the overall aim of encouraging use of sustainable 
modes of transport, and excessive amounts of parking will be discouraged. 

2.1.2   East Hampshire District is a diverse district where access to public 
transport and shops and services varies significantly. For example;

     Alton Town Centre - offers the widest choice of alternative transport 
with a mainline train station, serving a variety of locations and a bus 
station that provides services across the District and to Farnham, 
Guildford and beyond. Alton Town Centre also provides a range of 
shops and services which lessen the need for individual travel.

     Whitehill Bordon -  Whitehill and Bordon is relatively well served by 
public transport with buses and coach services which connect 
Whitehill and Bordon to Basingstoke, Alton, Liphook, Haslemere, 
Farnham, Aldershot and Portsmouth. As part of the regeneration of 
Whitehill and Bordon a new town centre will be delivered that will 
provide health facilities and mixed used hub including provision for 
public services as well as shops, foodstore, cinema, restaurants 
and commercial office spaces. In addition, the wider regeneration 
project will provide new schools, a leisure centre, an energy centre 
and improvements to public transport (bus service frequency). This 
will improve the accessibility and sustainability of the town despite 
there not being a train station at Whitehill and Bordon, investment 
in public transport improvements will provide greater connectivity to 
rail stations in the local area.  

2.1.3   In light of the above, there are likely to be situations where less parking 
than the minimum standards are appropriate, such as proposals in 
locations:

 close to sustainable transport interchanges 
 close to a range of services / facilities, 
 that are strategic development areas such as the Whitehill Bordon 

Regeneration Project Area. 

 



26

Demonstrating accessibility and opportunities for public transport 

2.1.4   Where parking provision is being proposed below the minimum standards, 
the applicant should submit evidence to demonstrate that the level of 
parking provision proposed is sustainable, adequate and will not have a 
detrimental impact on the local highway network. For strategic development 
areas this could consist of any agreed Structuring Plans. Where such 
evidence does not exist, a Car Parking Survey should be produced See 
Section 3.7). These will be considered on a case by case basis.

2.1.5   With regards to sustainability, this should include demonstrating where the 
site is located in relation to the highly accessible locations, the availability of 
public transport and opportunities for safe walking and cycling. This could 
be part of the design and access statement (if required) or in a stand along 
accessibility statement. The application should address how this has been 
considered in relation to the parking proposed for the development.

2.1.6   When distances are measured it should be the on the ground travel 
distance rather than ‘as the crow flies’ to ensure it is as realistic as possible.

2.1.7   Please note: It is unlikely to be appropriate to lower parking standards 
simply because there is capacity for parking on the immediate road 
network. Lowering provision should primarily be related to accessibility to 
services and facilities and opportunities for travel by public transport, and 
safe walking and cycling. 



27

3 Size, layout and design of parking spaces

3.1 Size 

3.1.1   Table 1 sets out standard space requirements of some typical vehicles. 
These should be used as basic minimum reference values but different 
layouts such as parallel, herringbone and in-line, have slightly different 
overall space requirements. 

3.1.2   In addition, sufficient space for turning facilities on site to allow vehicles to 
enter and leave in a forward gear will be encouraged. Where vehicles 
reversing from or onto the highway would give rise to local highway safety 
issues, on-site turning space will be compulsory. 

Additional Notes:
 These dimensions refer to standing space only and do not take account of access, 

manoeuvring space or space required for loading/unloading. 
 Operational parking space for commercial and service vehicles will depend on the 

type attracted to a development and should provide for manoeuvring space to 
enable vehicles to exit the site in forward gear.

 Appendix D of the Hampshire County Council School Parking Guidelines (April 
2013), details preferred sizes of parking bays for school development proposals in 
Hampshire. 

3.1.3   Development proposals providing significant amounts of customer parking, 
such as supermarkets and large retail uses, may consider whether the 
typical size of a space at 2.4 x 4.8m is appropriate given the prevalence of 
large 4x4 style vehicles. For example, the dimensions of a Volvo XC90 
(2015) are 2 x 4.95m, which is longer than the standard space requirement, 
and only allows 20cms of space on each side between the car and the 
parking space boundary. A BMW X5 is of a similar size, with a Range 
Rover and Audi Q7 being approximately 5m in length.  Provision of 
standard parking spaces in places where a higher number of larger private 

Table 1: Standard space requirements of typical vehicles

Type of Vehicle Size

Powered Tow Wheelers 1.5 x 2.5 metres
Car 2.4 x 4.8 metres
Light vans 2.4 x 5.5 metres
Rigid vehicles 3.5 x 14 metres
Articulated vehicles 3.5 x 18.5 metres
Coaches (60 seats) 3.5 x 14 metres



28

motor vehicles are likely, can cause parking difficulties, and make access to 
the vehicle challenging, particularly with children.  Applicants are 
encouraged to consider including some larger spaces in the proposal. 

3.2 Layout

3.2.1   Whilst this document focuses on the single consideration of parking, 
development proposals need to balance parking provision, its location and 
layout with the overall aim of good design and attractive and safe places. 
The safety and ease of movement of cyclists, pedestrians and those with 
mobility restrictions should be a primary consideration when considering the 
layout of parking. 

3.2.2   Tandem parking (i.e. one car behind another) can reduce the likelihood of 
the rear parking space being used. Where a minimum of three parking 
spaces is required, ‘triple’ tandem parking (as shown below) where two 
spaces are provided in front of each other, in front of a garage, is 
discouraged, as it is unlikely the garage will be used as parking. In such 
cases, it is not a given that the garage will count as a parking space, and 
consideration will need to be given to the type of housing proposed and 
whether parking can be better provided. The prevalence of this layout of 
parking on a development site is unlikely to be acceptable. Table 1 sets out 
the standard space requirements of typical vehicles. Where tandem parking 
results in cars parking close to public footpaths, particular care must be 
taken to ensure vehicles do not overhang and cause an obstruction to the 
public footpath.  

3.2.3   Where two spaces are to be provided without a garage, it is preferable that 
those spaces are provided side by side if general design principles support 
it. It is acknowledged that side by side parking needs to be balanced with 
ensuring front gardens are not predominantly hard standing. The prevalent 
use of tandem parking within a major development is generally 
discouraged. 



29

3.2.4   If a parking space is provided in front of a garage, it needs to be big enough 
to accommodate a car without overhanging the public footpath or road, 
taking account of larger cars (as described in section 4). If it is not the 
intention that an area in front of a garage is a parking space, it should not 
be big enough to encourage attempts at parking. Below is a photograph of 
such at situation at a development in Four Marks. 

3.2.5   Avoidance of the prevalence of any single type of parking layout in a major 
development proposal can assist with overall visual appearance and 
encourage the use of parking spaces, rather than ad hoc parking for 
example on pavements for ease of access to properties. Laybys, and 
identified on street parking spaces, can help provide a variety of parking 
spaces, with the added benefit that identified on street parking can help 
slow traffic. 

3.2.6   Where communal car parking areas are necessary they should be in small 
groups, close and adjacent to homes and must be within view of active 
rooms. The word ‘active’ in this sense means rooms in building elevations 
from which there is direct and regular visual connection between the room 
and the street or parking court. Such visual connection can be expected 
from rooms such as kitchens and living rooms, but not from more private 
rooms, such as bedrooms and bathrooms. 



30

3.2.7   Rear car parking courtyards are discouraged for the following reasons: 

 They introduce access to the vulnerable rear elevations of dwellings 
where the majority of burglary is perpetrated 

 In private developments such areas are often left unlit and therefore 
increase the fear of crime 

 Un-gated courtyards provide areas of concealment which can 
encourage anti-social behaviour 

3.2.8   Where rear car parking courtyards are considered absolutely necessary 
they must be protected by a gate, where gardens abut the parking area an 
appropriate boundary treatment (e.g. a 1.5m fence supplemented by trellis 
to a height of 1.8m) must be installed 

3.2.9   Communal parking facilities must be lit to the relevant levels as 
recommended by BS 5489:2013. 

3.3 Design 

3.3.1   As with layout, design can affect how usable and attractive parking is, and 
thus how successful it is at keeping cars from parking on the roadside. 
Sometimes, even though parking is provided in developments, its location, 
layout, and/or design, means it is not fully used and users prefer to park in 
alternative places. 

3.3.2   Parking spaces need to be fully functional, and designed for usability, rather 
than to meet a quota. Parking is of such importance to the overall function, 
use and saleable value of properties, that it should be considered from the 
outset in development proposals, to ensure parking spaces are 
appropriately used and do not dominate the street scene. 

3.3.3   All parking should be designed to reduce the opportunities for crime. In 
addition, permeable surfaces should be used wherever possible to reduce 
surface water runoff and assist with sustainable drainage measures.

3.3.4   The siting of trees and street furniture should be used to informally manage 
parking and attention will need to be given to the type of material used. 
Trees also add landscaping to an often ‘hard’ landscape. 



31

3.3.5   In larger car parks, an option to cater for the variety of vehicle sizes is to 
provide ‘buffer areas’ between spaces, such as demonstrated below.  This 
can work well for retail uses such as supermarkets. 

3.3.6   Large car parks need to ensure there are clear directions for pedestrians, 
and safe access routes. Where parking provision is provided in a multi 
storey to support a retail or commercial use or transport hub, particular 
consideration should be given to pedestrian routes, use of trolleys and 
signage, to ensure pedestrian safety and ease of movement for vehicles. 

3.3.7   Any up to date advice and guidance on design and layout that is relevant 
should be considered in conjunction with this document. 

3.4 Location of parking

3.4.1   Whilst a balance is needed between the dominance of parking and 
attractive developments, poorly located parking that is not used can cause 
anti social parking elsewhere that is visually detrimental to the character of 
the area, and cause safety concerns. 

3.4.2   Parking provision for residential development needs to give significant 
consideration to distances from parking spaces to main doors of properties 
– to avoid for example, those seeking to park with children or shopping, 
parking nearer to the property, outside of formal parking spaces.

3.4.3   Clearly in larger car parks for retail, employment, leisure or health uses, 
everyone cannot park near to the entrance. In such cases, the spaces 
closest to the entrance should be reserved for those with mobility 
restrictions and parents and children. To encourage people to make full use 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjW06TorsTSAhVDrRQKHbrZCvkQjRwIBw&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.rifuture.org%2Fthe-supermarket-in-woonsocket-first-of-the-month%2F&bvm=bv.148747831,d.ZGg&psig=AFQjCNHYJeSwJSFIAK2SeMmwXKR_vzR1VA&ust=1488975116779262


32

of the car park, it is important that direct and usable pedestrian routes are 
provided and clearly signed.  This is especially important where trolleys are 
likely to be used – pedestrian routes should be able to accommodate 
trolleys without forcing people to weave in and out of parked cars. 

3.4.4   If underground or multi storey parking is to be provided, particular attention 
should be paid to the provision of lighting and safety, to ensure all attempts 
are taken to design out opportunities for crime. 

3.5 Allocation of parking

3.5.1   For long stay (resident) parking allocated parking spaces include any 
spaces within the curtilage of a property (e.g. garage or driveway parking) 
and any spaces in communal areas where the space is reserved for a 
particular property. 

3.5.2   For flatted developments, allocated parking can be a desirable solution, 
guaranteeing residents their own space or spaces, which will always be 
available to them. Allocated spaces should be as close to the dwelling to 
which they are allocated as possible, for convenience, but also to 
encourage ownership of the space and to reduce the opportunity for vehicle 
crime. 

3.5.3   For non-residential development types and mixed use developments it is 
acknowledged that shared parking facilities are more flexible and make 
more efficient use of available space. Such proposals will be considered on 
a case by case basis. 

3.6 Residential amenity and on street parking

3.6.1   Car parking can dominate residential development, whether it is new large 
developments, domestic extensions or infill development in the existing 
urban area. Particular attention should be given to developments which 
convert dwellings into flats as although the amount of development does 
not increase, the intensity does.

3.6.2   It will not necessarily be appropriate to lower parking standards simply 
because there is capacity for parking on the immediate road network. This 
approach can individually or cumulatively alter and detrimentally affect the 
character and visual amenity of an area and may be considered 
unacceptable. 



33

3.6.3   If on-street parking is intrinsic to the character of the area, the main concern 
will relate to additional capacity. If sufficient, safe, or appropriate on-street 
parking is not available then indiscriminate parking will occur, resulting in 
highway safety issues or inappropriate parking on grass verges. The 
general presumption is that sufficient parking should be provided within the 
development site and reliance should not be made of on-street parking 
unless it has been appropriately designed in from the start (i.e. new large 
residential developments).

3.6.4   Should a developer wish to use on-street capacity then they should firstly 
be aware of potential concerns relating to the character and amenity of a 
road. If on-street parking is already an established part of the character, 
surveys should be undertaken and submitted with the planning application 
to identify the current level and capacity of on-street parking in the vicinity 
of the site.

 

3.7 Car Parking Surveys (where relevant)

3.7.1   The minimum standards prescribed in this SPD are the starting point for 
development proposals to consider. These are minimum standards, and 
therefore it is expected that in some cases, provision higher than these 
standards will be appropriate.  However, where less than the minimum is 
being proposed, or the minimum is being greatly exceeded, a car parking 
survey will be required to support the proposed provision. 

3.7.2   A parking survey should consider: 

 the accessibility of the development to services and facilities;
 the type, mix and use of development;
 the availability of and opportunities for public transport, safe walking and 

safe cycling;
 local car ownership levels; 
 current level of parking demand on the highway network in the area local 

to the proposed development site; and
 an overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles.

3.7.3   For uses where standards are not specified, and/or provision is to be 
considered on a case by case basis, a parking survey is required. 

3.7.4   With regards to assessing the current parking demand in the local area, this 
should be considered through on-site assessments, and liaison with 
Hampshire County Council and the District Council. Any surveys requiring 



34

the collection of primary data should be undertaken over a period of at least 
one week including both weekends and weekdays at a variety of times 
throughout the day including late in the evening and early in the morning. 
School holidays and weeks including bank holidays should be avoided. 

3.7.5   This will allow a true reflection of the existing car parking arrangements to 
be established and this should be submitted with the planning application.



35

4 Types of parking 

4.1 Garages

4.1.1   A single garage/car port should measure a minimum of 3m in width by 6m 
in length internally and a double garage/car port should measure a 
minimum of 6m by 6m internally. This will allow room for a car to be parked 
and still allow space for access down the side of the vehicle. The length is 
to allow room for storage, particularly cycles. A garage meeting these size 
requirements will count as one car parking space, and two bicycle spaces, 
subject to any exceptions described in this document. 

4.1.2   A reduced size of garage/car port is unlikely to count as a vehicle parking 
space as it is unlikely to provide sufficient space for a vehicle and/or some 
storage.  

4.1.3   Garages are generally attached to individual residential properties, or within 
the curtilage of the property. Rows of garages within a development 
proposal, as a stand alone building such as below, are discouraged, and 
the spaces within the garages will not count towards parking provision as 
they are primarily used for storage. This is different to a double or single 
garage within the curtilage of a residential property. 

4.1.4   The photographs overleaf below are examples of this at Former OSU Site, 
Liphook (ref: 33993/072). These garages are likely being used for storage 
not parking, particularly if cars are parking in front of the entrance to the 
garage.  Such designs create hard urban landscapes, and do not 
encourage use for parking.  



36

4.1.5 This does not apply to car ports that cannot easily be used for storage. Car 
ports can assist with the design of hard landscaped car parks, and also 
encourage people to use the parking spaces, to help avoid frosts, or keep 
cars in the shade. 

4.2 Visitor parking

4.2.1.1 In new residential developments, visitor parking must be provided in public 
areas where it can be accessed by all. Visitor parking must be readily 
apparent from a visitors view point and easily accessible from the street. It 
must also be equally distributed through the development. Signing is 
recommended to identify the status and location of visitor parking spaces.



37

4.3 Disability parking spaces

4.3.1   Suitable parking spaces should be provided for people with disabilities. 
Where disabled parking is provided on non residential development 
proposals, the provision is made as part of the overall provision, rather than 
in addition.   

4.3.2   Parking spaces for disabled persons must also be designed in accordance 
with Building Regulations Part M2 and the Approved Documents to the 
Building Regulations should provide design guidance on design methods 
that would comply with the Regulations.

4.4 Parents and children parking spaces

4.4.1   Such spaces can prove exceptionally beneficial at retail uses to the overall 
functioning and safety of car parks.  Parent and children spaces should be 
larger than the general parking provision and provide sufficient width space 
for car doors to be opened fully and buggies to fit alongside the vehicle. 
Consideration should be had to the tendency for vehicles transporting 
children to be of a larger style (including 4x4s). 

4.5 Petrol stations with retail provision

4.5.1   Where retail provision (often operating akin to a mini supermarket) is 
provided alongside a petrol station, parking challenges can be commonly 
experienced. This is often caused by customers who have filled up at the 
petrol station taking considerable time to shop and pay, whilst leaving their 
vehicle at the pump.  Customers are unsure whether to move the vehicle to 
the retail parking area, having filled up with fuel. Equally, customers making 
a quick stop to the retail provision often park for ease and speed in non 
designated spaces which prevent all petrol pump spaces being used 
immediately (i.e. they block vehicles in at pumps, thus leaving front pump 
spaces empty until the space behind has been vacated). 

4.5.2   The minimum parking standards note that where there is retail provision 
alongside a petrol station, whilst these are minimum parking standards, 
consideration of the provision of easily accessible additional parking for 
retail spaces along with signage promoting its use is encouraged.  It is 
important that the parking spaces for the retail provision are easily 

2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m


38

accessible and encourage use, and are preferably provided as close to the 
shop entrance as possible.   Signage making it clear that spaces can be 
vacated after fuelling (if supported by the operator), and requiring those 
using the retail provision only to park in the designed retail spaces is 
encouraged. Signage and road marking to prevent parking that results in 
blocking vehicles at pump spaces is required. 

4.5.3   These uses are often congested at peak times and need to be well 
managed to avoid queuing on the local road network and safety concerns 
for customers and nearby pedestrians.  

4.6 Electric vehicles 

4.6.1   In July 2017, the Government announced that new diesel and petrol cars 
and vans will be banned in the UK from 2040 to help tackle air pollution. 
This steers a transition from diesel and petrol fuelled cars towards electric 
powered cars, with some commentators estimating this is most likely to 
increase exponentially between 2020s and 2030s. As such, new 
development proposals should not only be mindful of this, but should 
support and enable this transition. 

4.6.2   The NPPF states that there is an overall need to reduce the use of high-
emission vehicles. Ownership of ultra low emission vehicles3 (ULEVs) has 
increased exponentially over recent year with over 70,000 such vehicles 
now registered in the UK, an increase of 55,000 over a two year period (Q3 
2014 – Q3 2016). Within the district there are 157 ULEVs registered (DFT 
Vehicle Licensing Statistics, Q3 2016). The Council’s Energy Strategy 
(2014-2019) acknowledges that the district has relatively few charging 
points and sets out the Council’s commitment to installing EV charging 
points across the district on council property. 

4.6.3   For the purposes of this document, an Electric Vehicle (EV) is considered 
as any road vehicle with a battery that is intended to be charged from mains 
electricity. Therefore, plug-in hybrid, extended range EVs and pure electric 
EVs are all included under the definition of EV used in this document.

4.6.4   The Joint Core Strategy contains specific policies that relate to the Whitehill 
Bordon Regeneration Area. Policy CSWB18 ‘Low Carbon Vehicles’ states 
that ‘development proposals will promote the use of low-carbon vehicles, 

3 refers to electric, plug-in hybrid and hydrogen fuel-cell vehicles.



39

including electric vehicles and other alternative low-carbon fuel technology, 
to reduce the carbon emissions resulting from the development. The 
development will promote and deliver the necessary infrastructure to 
support electric vehicles and alternative fuel travel’.

4.6.5   Within the Whitehill Bordon Regeneration Area, the Council will therefore 
seek the following:

 For residential schemes, as a minimum all new development should 
ensure that the electricity infrastructure for individual dwellings is 
sufficient to enable supply to be provided for electric vehicle charging. 
Developers are also encouraged to provide Electric Vehicle charging at 
the time of build in some of the visitor parking bays. If these facilities 
are not provided at the time of build then the design of parking 
arrangements and electrical connections in such a way that EV 
charging points can be retro fitted to parking bays without unreasonable 
levels of disruption

 For business uses (B1a, B1b/c, B2, B8), a minimum of 2 spaces and 
charging points where 25 - 100 car parking spaces are to be provided. 
2 additional spaces and charging points for every 100 car parking 
spaces thereafter. These are part of the car parking provision – not 
additional provision. 

 For retail uses (A1), Health Establishments and the uses detailed in the 
‘other uses’ parking standards category in this document provision is 
encouraged in accordance with the standard set out above for 
business uses, if visitor time is likely to be sufficient to warrant 
installation. To be considered in a Travel Plan if required. 

4.6.6   In those parts of the district located outside of the Whitehill Bordon 
Regeneration Area, the Council will encourage provision in accordance with 
the standards detailed in para 4.6.5. However, as a minimum all new 
development should ensure that the electricity infrastructure for the 
development is sufficient to enable supply to be provided for electric vehicle 
charging. 

What type of charger should I provide? 
4.6.7 Currently there are three levels of charging capability, notably:

 Standard chargers are typically rated at 3kw and can fully charge 
a vehicle in 6 – 8 hours and are best suited for overnight charging. 
This is the standard used for residential properties as they can be 



40

installed as part of the electricity supply without any additional 
capacity on a distribution board.  

 Fast chargers are typically rated between (7-22kW) and can fully 
recharge some models in 3-4 hours. 

 Rapid DC chargers are typically rated at 50kW and can charge an 
EV to 80% charge in 30 minutes (depending on battery capacity).

4.6.8   In determining the appropriate power capability to install at a given parking 
space the main consideration is how long vehicles would typically be 
expected to park at that location.  For example, charging infrastructure at 
places of work and retail developments would be expected to provide ‘fast’ 
charge capability, ideally at 22kW, due to the shorter amount of time a 
vehicle would typically be parked for. 22kW are three times as fast as 7kW 
chargers. However, as technology advances there may be changes to 
these figures, and regard should always be had to the latest best available. 

4.6.9   Charge points at public parking spaces, for example at retail car parks or 
places of work, must be accessible to the general public / employees.

4.6.10   Management and maintenance arrangements for charge points in private 
car parks should be determined on a site by site basis to meet the needs of 
the users in question. A wide variety of options exist to control access to 
charge points and allocate electricity charges to individual users.

Connectivity to local energy network
4.6.11   The connection to the local electricity distribution network should have 

sufficient capacity to enable all active EV charging points to operate 
simultaneously at the full power they are designed for. 

4.6.12   Where relevant, a full cabling network should be installed in the car parking 
area to support all active charging points.

4.6.13   Large developments with dedicated electricity sub-stations should specify 
the sub-station to a sufficient capacity to fully cater for all EV charging 
requirements. 

Location and restrictions
4.6.14   It is expected that active EV parking spaces will be located in prominent 

positions in car parks in order to contribute to raising the profile of EVs. In 



41

public parking areas it would generally be expected that parking spaces 
with active charging provision are dedicated to EVs, with appropriate 
signage in place to deter the space being taken by other vehicles. However, 
in a large car park with multiple charge points it could be reasonable that 
only a proportion of active parking spaces are dedicated to EVs at the 
outset and that this is reviewed regularly through a travel plan or equivalent 
process.

4.7 Mobility scooters and motorcycle parking

4.7.1   A mobility scooter is approximately 130cm long x 61cm wide. In non 
residential developments, there is the potential for spaces to be provided 
that could accommodate a mobility scooter or a motorcycle, and identified 
as such. This is particularly the case for food shops where there is likely to 
be a higher need for mobility scooter parking. This parking should be close 
to the entrance, and should provide an immovable stand that both vehicles 
can be securely locked to. 

4.7.2   Where motorcycle parking is provided within residential developments 
(separate to within garages and on drives), it should be provided such that 
the motorcycles are able to be locked to an immovable stand.  
Consideration should be given to a shed structure to provide additional 
security, similar to cycle sheds, or whether there is scope to share space.  
Security is of considerable concern for those parking motorbikes and 
indeed cycles away from properties, and as such, any parking area should 
be well positioned in terms of surveillance from residents, well lit, and easily 
accessible. 

4.8 Children’s scooters

4.8.1   These are frequently used by children on the school run when walking with 
parents/guardians. Provision of scooter parking at primary schools will save 
the responsible adult having to take the scooter home, and bring it back for 
pick up. 

4.9 Buses/coaches

4.9.1   Parking space for coaches in the district’s towns, in particular Alton and in 
future Whitehill and Bordon, may be considered in the future to 
accommodate groups of visitors arriving for the tourism, retail and 
hospitality offer. Such proposals would be considered on a case by case 
basis. 



42

4.10 HGVs

4.10.1   HGV movements generally relate to the retail uses, with regular deliveries, 
particularly to supermarkets. Proposals for developments that will receive 
deliveries via a HGV must ensure there is sufficient parking space for all the 
HGVs that are likely to be on site at any one point in time. It will not be 
acceptable for HGVs to be forced to temporarily park on the local road 
network (outside of a designated bay) due to insufficient parking on site. 



43

5 Bicycle parking  

5.1 Types of cycle parking 

5.1.1   Bicycle parking standards are included per use class and are given as 
minimum requirements. If the requirement for bicycle parking becomes 
particularly great, for example, if a development is predominantly without 
the benefit of garages, then there is scope to review the minimum 
requirement through a travel plan. 

5.1.2   In designing cycle parking facilities, it is important to differentiate between 
long and short stay provision. Long stay parking is generally intended for 
residents and / or staff at a site. 

5.1.3   Long stay cycle parking is defined as covered and enclosed cycle parking 
that is suitable for leaving bikes in all day and / or overnight and providing 
weather protection, and security against theft or vandalism. 

5.1.4   Short stay parking is generally intended for visitors to shops, offices and 
other facilities and therefore does not need to be as secure as long stay 
facilities. Design guidance for both types of cycle parking is set out below. 

5.2 Long stay cycle parking (communal)

5.2.1   For cycle parking in shared buildings (anything other than individual family 
homes) to be considered ‘secure’ bikes should be protected by a lockable 
door or a security door, which restricts access to the cycle parking to 
authorised persons only and enable bikes to be secured individually. 

5.2.2   Communal cycle-parking can be provided within the main building, in 
secure facilities such as in underground car parks, in purpose-designed 
buildings. 

5.2.3   Where cycle parking is provided within the building, it needs to be 
conveniently located, close to the main point of access. Cycle parking for 
flats can sometimes be located in communal areas, such as in hallways or 
under stairs, but if so, it needs to be properly designed so that it is secure.



44

5.2.4   Where cycle parking is to be provided within a separate building, the 
building will need to be secure (of solid construction and with a watertight 
roof) with lockable doors, 

5.2.5   In stores for more than two bicycles, the preferred spacing of cycle stands 
is about 1000mm, so that two cycles can be stored in the space. 

5.2.6   The outermost stands should be no closer than 550mm to a parallel wall, 
but preferably should allow more space than this (550 - 900mm). In 
addition, there should be at least 550 mm clear space between the ends of 
individual stands and any wall. The same applies where cycle parking is 
provided in a building. 

5.2.7   Storage should allow for cycles that are 1.8m in length. The top rail of the 
rack should be 750mm above the ground. Adequate space must be 
provided to manoeuvre cycles in and out of spaces easily. Doors to the 
storage area must be positioned to allow easy access to racks. 

5.2.8   Where long stay cycle parking is provided for non-residential uses 
(specifically business uses) consideration should also be given to the 
additional needs of cyclists such as the availability of an appropriate 
number of showers, changing facilities and lockers as well as space for 
drying wet clothes.

5.3 Long stay cycle parking (individual dwellings)

5.3.1   Cycle parking spaces can be included in residential garages, should it meet 
the standards referred to in Section 4.1. No external storage facility would 
be required for that property if the requirement can appropriately be met 
within the garage. If a house does not have a garage, an outbuilding or 
shed within the curtilage of the property may be able to provide sufficient 
space for the long stay (resident) cycle parking requirement. The 
outbuilding or shed should be accessed by a lockable door, be secure and 
covered, and allow sufficient space for storage of other garden equipment. 
Consideration should also be given to whether bicycles need to be taken 
through the property to use, which would likely reduce their usability.  This 
is not encouraged, and may result in the parking space not counting



45

5.3.2   Where long stay cycle parking is provided consideration should also be 
given to the additional needs of cyclists such as the availability of an 
appropriate number of showers, changing facilities and lockers as well as 
space for drying wet clothes.

5.4 Short stay cycle parking

5.4.1   Short stay cycle parking is required by visitors or customers to a building 
and should be located in a safe, convenient location. The provision of 
Sheffield type stands for short stay cycle parking is recommended as they 
allow the cycle frame and at least one of the wheels to be locked to the 
stand. Sheffield type stands provide more stability and security than can be 
achieved by using a style of stand which only allows the front wheel to be 
locked and is ideally weather proof. Short stay cycle parking should:

 Allow natural surveillance
 Be well lit
 Be conveniently located within a short distance of the building 

entrance 
 Be located away features that may deter use (e.g. bin stores)
 When located in the footway, stands should include a tapping rail 

to warn the visually impaired

5.5 Further Guidance

5.5.1   Developers are expected to meet the design standards above, which 
provide minimum space and security standards, to ensure that cycle 
parking is both useable and safe. However, the Council recognises that 
cycle parking can come in many different forms, and good design is 
encouraged here as much as for any other part of proposed development. 
For example, Conservation areas need to be treated with particular 
sensitively when choosing the appropriate type of cycle parking. 



46

6 Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Transport 
Statements

6.1.1   The NPPF says, “All developments that generate significant amounts of 
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport 
Assessment.” (para. 32). 

6.1.2   The NPPF describes a Travel Plan as a key tool to facilitate “use of 
sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or people” (paras. 
35 and 36) and says that “All developments which generate significant 
amounts of movement should be required to provide a Travel Plan”. 

6.1.3   A Transport statement is a simplified version of a Transport assessment 
(see definitions below). In summary, any development that generates 
significant amounts of movement will be required to provide a Transport 
assessment/transport statement and a Travel Plan. 

6.1.4   The NPPF defines each document as: 

Transport assessment: A comprehensive and systematic process 
that sets out transport issues relating to a proposed development. It 
identifies what measures will be required to improve accessibility and 
safety for all modes of travel, particularly for alternatives to the car 
such as walking, cycling and public transport and what measures will 
need to be taken to deal with the anticipated transport impacts of the 
development.

Transport statement: A simplified version of a transport assessment 
where it is agreed the transport issues arising out of development 
proposals are limited and a full transport assessment is not required.

Travel plan: A long-term management strategy for an organisation or 
site that seeks to deliver sustainable transport objectives through 
action and is articulated in a document that is regularly reviewed.

6.1.5   To assist with considering whether a Transport Assessment is required, 
Hampshire County Council has set thresholds that are detailed overleaf in 
Table 2:



47

Table 2: Thresholds for requiring a Transport Assessment

Land Use Threshold above which a Transport 
Assessment is required

Residential 50 units

Commercial: B1 and B2 2500sqm

Commercial: B8 5000sqm

Retail 1000sqm

Education 2500sqm

Health Establishments 2500sqm

Care Establishments 500sqm or 5 bedroom

Leisure: General 1000sqm

Leisure: Stadia, Ice Rinks All (1500 seats)

Miscellaneous Commercial 500sqm

www3.hants.gov.uk/highways-development-planning/hdp-thresholds.htm 

6.1.6   These thresholds are guidance, and where it is considered that a proposal 
is likely to generate significant amounts of movement, a Transport 
Assessment and Travel plan may be required, particularly where there are 
potential cumulative effects. 

6.1.7   Further information on Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and 
Statements see the NPPG - www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-
assessments-and-statements. 

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/highways-development-planning/hdp-thresholds.htm
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements


48

7 Monitoring

7.1.1   The Council will monitor the effectiveness of this SPD in the Monitoring 
Report published annually. It will take time for the impact of the change in 
parking standards to have an effect on the ground, as parking surveys 
assess completed and occupied developments. 

7.1.2   It is recommended that once development proposals approved in 
accordance with these parking standards are completed, site surveys (as 
documented in Appendix 1) of these developments or a sample (depending 
on quantum) are carried out bi annually to assess the extent of any parking 
stresses. Ideally these will be carried out at times when maximum parked 
vehicles are expected on site. In addition, when updated statistical 
evidence is available regarding car ownership, usage and projections, this 
should be recorded in the monitoring report. 

7.1.3   The Monitoring Report may consider any planning permissions that have 
been granted applying less than minimum parking standards, and the 
considerations that led to this. 

7.1.4   Paragraph 5.6.14 of this document notes with regards to electric vehicles, if 
the emphasis on electrical vehicles were to change to alternative forms for 
sustainable motor vehicle travel, or if take up of electric vehicles were to 
increase considerably, the parking provision in this document would be 
reviewed. The Monitoring Report will consider any such policy shifts, and 
any available data regarding the prevalence of electric vehicles in the 
district. 

7.1.5   The outputs of the Monitoring Report will inform whether any future updates 
are made to this SPD. 



49

Appendix 1 – Evidence to justify parking standards in the 
district 

Context

“Local planning authorities should only impose local parking standards for 
residential and non-residential development where there is a clear and 
compelling justification that is necessary to manage their local road network.” 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-update-march-2015).

Structure

This appendix considers the following:

 Brief profile of the district
 Statistical evidence
 Future projections
 Surveys undertaken
 Summary of evidence
 Conclusion

Brief profile of the district

East Hampshire District Council sits in the south of England with neighbouring 
authorities of Winchester, Havant, Hart and Chichester. A section through the 
centre of the district is within the South Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA). 
The National Park covers 57% of the district and splits the area managed by East 
Hampshire District Council into two halves, one south of the National Park known 
as the southern parishes and an area to the north of the National Park.

East Hampshire is an exceptionally attractive part of southern England. It is a 
popular place in which to live, work or visit with historic market towns and attractive 
villages set in beautiful countryside. Its popularity in terms of a location to live, 
coupled with the delivery of new housing in and around many settlements in the 
past few years, has increased the amount of households in the district, and 
naturally, the amount of private motor vehicles.

There is a net flow of out-commuting of 10,207 residents, with the most popular 
destinations being Waverley borough, London, Havant, Portsmouth, Guildford and 
Winchester. In- commuting is primarily from Havant, Waverley, Portsmouth and 
Winchester (2011 Census). The vast majority of commuter journeys are carried out 
by car or van. The opening of the Hindhead tunnel in 2011 reduced travel times 
north towards Guildford and London considerably, and likely encourages more and 
longer trips. Access to public transport, whilst better in some areas such as Alton, 
is of a lesser extent in many of the rural settlements, so work, school, leisure trips 
are mostly carried out using the private motor vehicle.  The rural settlements in 
themselves are dispersed, with limited quick access to main centres.

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-update-march-2015


50

Car ownership is therefore higher than the national average, and is also higher 
than many other districts within the county (with the exception of Hart, which is 
also primarily rural in its nature). The impact of this being that with many 
households having more than one car, these cars need to be accommodated 
within new developments, to prevent anti social parking, and a detrimental impact 
on the road network. Whilst it is accepted that parking standards cannot be 
retrofitted to existing developments, parking standards in the future have the 
opportunity to take account of the local circumstances of the district, which are 
explained further in this appendix.

Map: South Downs National Park area within East Hampshire District and 
settlements



51

Statistical evidence

Table 1: Car ownership in East Hampshire (Census data)

Year
All
Households No Cars One Car Two Cars

Three or
More

Total Number 
of Cars or 
Vans2001 43,625 12.29% 38.87% 36.75% 12.09% 66,779

2011 47,258 11.20% 37.10% 36.70% 15% 76,813

There has been an increase of 8% in households, but a 15% increase in the 
number of vehicles between 2001 and 2011. The percentage of households 



52

owning two cars has stayed stable, but this now applies to more households 
given the increase of 8%.

There has been a decrease in the number of households not owning a car and 
owning more than three cars between 2001 and 2011. The overall number of car and 
vans appears to be caused by the increase in the number of households, rather than 
significant changes in how many cars are owned by households, other than more 
households having one car, that did not have a car before.
As a ratio, the number of cars per household in 2001 was 1.5, but increases to 1.6 
in 2011. 

Figure 1: Graph showing the number of households and number of cars and vans 
owned within East Hampshire district (2001 and 2011, Census data). 

Within Hampshire, with the exception of Hart district, East Hampshire district has the 
highest proportion of households with 2 cars or vans, and households with 3 cars or 
vans. Also, with the exception of Hart district, within Hampshire, East Hampshire 
district has the lowest proportion of households with one car.

In comparison to the south east, and England as a whole, East Hampshire has a 
considerably higher proportion of households with 2 cars or vans. 37% of households 
in East Hampshire have two cars, opposed to 30% in the South East, and 25% in 
England.



53

Table 2: Method of travel to work in East Hampshire (Census data)

All 83,522
Work mainly at home 8,726 10.4%
Underground, metro, light rail, tram 88 0.1%
Train 2,922 3.5%
Bus, minibus or coach 762 0.9%
Taxi 78 0.1%
Motorcycle, scooter or moped 388 0.5%
Driving a car or van 37,163 44.5%
Passenger in a car or van 2,384 2.9%
Bicycle 958 1.1%
On foot 4,692 5.6%
Other method of travel to work 296 0.4%
Not in employment 25,065 30%

Table 2 shows that nearly half of the residents of East Hampshire district travel to 
work by driving or being a passenger in a private motor vehicle. Given that 30% of 
residents are not in employment, this is a high proportion, particularly as the 
proportion of people travelling by train and bus is low.  If those not in employment 
are removed from the consideration, nearly 68% of those working are travelling to 
their place of work by private motor vehicle (either driving or as a passenger).

This reflects the rural nature of the district, where in many settlements, travel to 
work via means other than a private motor vehicle is challenging.

Number of cars by area within East Hampshire
The parishes in East Hampshire with the most cars are Alton, Horndean and 
Petersfield in that order. However, of all the parishes, the proportion of households 
with two cars is lowest in Alton and Petersfield.

The parishes with the highest proportion of households owning two cars or vans are 
Binsted, Stroud and Beech.

The parishes with the highest proportion of households owning three cars or vans are 
West Tisted, Bentworth and Wield.  Noticeably Beech is fourth highest.

The parishes with the highest proportion of households owning four cars or vans are
Lasham, Newton Valence and Shalden, with West Tisted fourth.

Some of these are within the South Downs National Park. This does appear to re-
inforce that in rural areas, the private motor vehicle is heavily relied on.

Future projections

There are a lot of conversations happening about the future of car usage and 
ownership, ranging from use of modes like Uber reducing private ownership, to 
driverless cars, and whether the country has reached ‘peak car’. It certainly seems 
that there is a paradigm between individuals wanting access to cars, but not 
supporting high volumes of traffic in towns and cities, or traffic dominating the street 



54

scene. Public spaces are better visually, environmentally and socially without traffic 
weaving through or alongside them. How all of this plays out in the future is 
unknown, particularly with the recent emphasis on concerns about air pollution. At 
present, overall trends show past increases, and this is probably likely to continue 
gradually, as new households are created. Household’s ownership of cars is of 
course linked to income, job availability, the cost of petrol, insurance and tax, thus 
economic fluctuations are of considerable relevance to statistics and projections. 
Equally, in areas like East Hampshire, the public transport network is of relevance, 
particularly bus routes and travel time including changes to these from any potential 
changes to subsidies. Given the rural nature of the district, it is not considered likely 
that there will be significant change in East Hampshire, and whilst trends and overall 
numbers might change, East Hampshire is likely to continue to have above average 
car and van ownership.

Surveys undertaken

Some developments that have been completed using previous maximum parking 
standards in the district have been visited to examine the parking conditions.

These photos were taken on Wednesday 5 April 2017, in the morning, when some 
vehicles would have left for work. The photos highlight parking challenges, which 
are likely to be more pronounced at peak times.

Former OSU Site, Liphook (ref: 33993/072)
62 homes were granted permission in July 2013. The development included 132 
allocated parking spaces.

Note: cars parked on verges and directly in front of houses. Given that those leaving 
for work would have likely left by this time, these are likely to be remaining cars that 
have not been moved since the previous evening.



55

Goldcrest, Four Marks (ref: 49167/010)
27 homes were granted planning permission in December 2015.

Note: examples of parking on pavements, making pedestrian access difficult for 
those with mobility scooters or buggies, and parking on the side of the road on 
corners moving the traffic onto the other side of the road going into a bend. Also 
note, the car over hanging the road, when attempting to park in front of a garage.



56

Green Lane, Clanfield (ref: 28889/025 and 28889/024)
275 homes were granted planning permission in April 2012. The development was 
delivered by two developers.

The provision of parking is as follows: 

Developer 1
 Private Garage – 88
 Private Unallocated – 18
 Private Allocated – 223
 Public Visitor – 4

Developer 2
 Private garage – 103
 Private Unallocated – 25
 Private Allocated – 225
 Public Visitor – 2

This is a total of 682 parking spaces, and 6 visitor spaces.

Note: many examples of parking on pavements, the side of the road and in front of 
homes.



57

Land north of Trafalgar Rise, Clanfield (ref: 54308/001)
18 homes were granted planning permission in May 2013. This consisted of 4 x 2 
beds, 7 x 3 beds and 7 x four beds.

The provision of parking is as follows:

 2 allocated spaces for 2 and 3 bed homes.
 3 allocated spaces for 4 homes.
 A total of 43 parking spaces.

The parking spaces are provided as garages and designated off road spaces 
(including tandem parking).

Note: example of a car blocking the whole of the pavement, and parking on the 
corner of a road in front of a house.

Summary of evidence

Ownership of private motor vehicles is higher in East Hampshire than the national 
average and is one of the highest in the county. The majority of residents travel to 
work by car, given the rural nature of the district and the general inaccessibility to 
public transport. Whilst there has been an increase of households by 8%, there has 
been an increase of 15% in the number of vehicles between 2001 and 2011. The 
trend regarding car ownership is unlikely to change, and whilst fluctuations can be 
linked to economics such as the price of petrol and the general state of the 
economy, the rural nature of the district will not change, and as such, car ownership 
is likely to continue to rise.

The surveys carried out show examples of problem parking in recent developments 
in the district, including unsatisfactory design (spaces in front of garages that are not 
big enough to accommodate a car, but encourage an attempt to park), parking on 
pavements blocking routes for pedestrians, and parking on the roadside causing 
traffic to cross to the other side of the road into oncoming traffic on a corner. These 
surveys were carried out on a weekday, after the main exodus of commuters, and 
therefore the situation is likely to be much more challenging at other times, for 
example a Sunday evening. These examples show that the use of maximum 
standards can cause parking difficulties, safety concerns, and adversely impact on 
the overall visual appearance of the area.



58

Conclusion

It is not possible to retrofit parking standards on developments that are already built 
and are experiencing parking difficulties. However, future developments can better 
accommodate parking, and give greater consideration to design, layout and usability 
of parking spaces, to ensure local areas are safer, more functional and attractive. 
This is within the context of continuing to encourage sustainable methods of travel, 
with excessive parking being actively discouraged. The introduction of minimum 
parking standards and the guidance set out in this SPD will help to achieve a 
better balance of parking, alongside local circumstances, such as consideration 
of accessibility to public transport and safe walking and cycling, services and 
facilities.



59

Appendix 2 – Guidance on Alton Neighbourhood 
Development Plan Policies TR3 Cycle Storage and Parking 
and TR5 Parking Provision and Standards (2017) 

Guidance on Alton Neighbourhood Development Plan

Policies TR3 Cycle Storage and Parking and TR5 Parking Provision 
and Standards

23rd August 2017



2

Published 
by

Alton Town Council Neighbourhood Plan Monitoring Group 

and Alton Town Council Planning and Transportation 

Committee

Contents
1. Introduction.................................................................................................................................... 3

2. Intent of Policies TR3 Cycle Storage and Parking and TR5 Parking Provision and
Standards .............................................................................................................................................. 3

3. Relationship with the East Hampshire District Council Vehicle Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)...................................................................................... 3

4 Weight and Conformity to National Planning Policy ............................................................... 4

5 Planning Balance ......................................................................................................................... 4

6. Guidance ....................................................................................................................................... 5

7 Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 6

8 References .................................................................................................................................... 6

9 Appendix 1..................................................................................................................................... 6



3

1. Introduction

1.1 The Alton Neighbourhood Plan was made on November 2015. It forms part of the 
Development Plan in East Hampshire District. This guidance note offers clarification on 
Alton Neighbourhood Plan Policies TR3 Cycle Storage and Parking and TR5 Parking 
Provision and Standards. This guidance note does not amend the Alton Neighbourhood 
Plan or Policies TR3 and TR5. This note should be read alongside the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan. Policies TR3 and Policy TR5 can be read in Appendix 1 of this 
guidance note, and in the Alton Neighbourhood Plan.

1.2    This guidance note has been prepared following dialogue with East Hampshire District 
Council (EHDC), and has been agreed by Alton Town Council Planning and Transport 
Committee (23 August 2017).

2. Intent of Policies TR3 Cycle Storage and Parking and TR5 Parking Provision and
Standards

2.1 Alton has and continues to experience the difficulties associated with developments 
that are not supported by sufficient parking provision that reflects current travel 
requirements and car ownership. Whilst not seeking to encourage unsustainable 
modes of travel, the intention of Policy TR5 is to ensure that new development is 
better placed to cope with likely car ownership, avoids potential safety issues with 
parking on pavements and junctions and adverse impacts on the local highway 
network, and improves the aesthetics of new developments.

2.2 The policy recognises the importance of visitor parking spaces, as visitors can often be 
the reason for parking on pavements in front on homes at peak times (such as 
weekends). It remains the intention to ensure sufficient parking is provided on new 
development to lessen the problems frequently experienced to date, for the benefit of 
the new residents, and existing local residents who experience knock on effects.

2.3 The intention of Policy TR3 is to encourage development proposals to include 
sufficient cycle parking, so that cycling to work, to shops or for leisure is an attractive 
and practical option. This helps to encourage sustainable modes of transport.

3. Relationship with the East Hampshire District Council Vehicle Parking
Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

3.1 EHDC is preparing a Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD). The SPD expands on Joint Core Strategy Policies, specifically Policy CP31
Transport, and will supersede the Residential Parking Standards for East Hampshire
District (2008).

3.2 The Vehicle Parking Standards SPD does not replace Policy TR5, however, in its 
consideration of non residential parking, the supporting text of Policy TR5 references 
the parking standards applied by Hampshire County Council. EHDC Vehicle Parking 
Standards SPD will replace the standards applied by Hampshire County Council that 
EHDC adopted for use. Thus, when considering vehicle parking standards for non 
residential uses in the Alton Neighbourhood Plan area, the factors listed in Policy TR5 
remain considerations, and the standards acting as a general guide will be those in 
EHDC Vehicle Parking Standards SPD.



4

3.3 Whilst Policy TR3 addresses cycle parking, “To encourage the greater use of 
sustainable and non-motorised modes of transport, all new traffic-generating 
development must seek to provide adequate parking or storage for bicycles”  “all new 
non-residential developments should provide cycle parking (Sheffield stands or 
similar)”, the policy or supporting text does not reference any specific parking standards 
as a guide. Policy TR3 carries full weight, and remains the starting point for the 
provision of cycle parking, however, EHDC Vehicle Parking Standards SPD provides 
useful guidance when considering the quantum of cycle parking.

4 Weight and Conformity to National Planning Policy

4.1 Policies TR3 and TR5 are up to date policies in a Development Plan that carries full 
weight in the decision making process. The Neighbourhood Plan examiner concluded 
that Policy TR5 has regard to national policy and conforms to the East Hampshire 
District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014), which in turn at the point of adoption, 
had to conform to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The examiner was 
satisfied that Policy TR3 met the basic conditions and recommended no changes.

5 Planning Balance

5.1 “Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This Framework is a material consideration in planning decisions.” (NPPF 
para. 196).

5.2 NPPF (para 39) says, “If setting local parking standards for residential and non- 
residential development, local planning authorities should take into account:

 the accessibility of the development;
 the type, mix and use of development;
 the availability of and opportunities for public transport;
 local car ownership levels; and
 an overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles.”

5.3 Therefore, whilst Policy TR5 carries full weight, and is considered to conform to the
NPPF (as the examiner concluded), regard should also be had to the criteria in para.
39 as a material planning consideration, and this should be added into the planning 
balance when determining planning applications.

5.4 If a site is particularly accessible with good public transport, whilst Policy TR5 applies 
and the standards in Policy TR5 are the starting point, consideration of these criteria 
as part of the planning balance may mean that a reduction in parking standards is 
appropriate. Equally, if a site is considered less accessible with limited opportunity for 
public transport, it is unlikely that any reduction in parking standards would be 
appropriate.

Para. 39 of the NPPF is considered in EHDC Vehicle Parking Standards SPD, and as 
such is applicable where the EHDC Vehicle Parking Standards SPD acts as a guide 
for a policy (such as TR3, and TR5 non residential parking).



5

5.5 NPPF para. 39 is one material planning consideration. There are many other material 
planning considerations to be considered in the decision making process, including the 
provision of new homes contributing to meeting overall identified need, making the 
most efficient use of land and the re-use of previously developed land. All of these 
material planning considerations are weighed and considered in the overall planning 
balance, to decide whether the proposal constitutes sustainable development with 
regards to the Development Plan and the NPPF.

6. Guidance

6.1 Policy TR5 refers to all ‘new residential development’. This applies to new residential 
development (C3 use), and for clarification, this applies to residential extensions and 
changes of use to residential (for C3 use) where there is a net gain in the number of 
bedrooms or homes.  However, with regards to residential extensions and changes of 
use, it is recognised that on some occasions the parking standards may not be 
possible to achieve in full.

6.2 It is recognised that additional bedrooms and parking spaces are not a consideration 
for prior approval applications.

6.3 Policy TR5 does not set parking standards for residential uses that are not classified 
as C3 (dwelling houses). This includes the following uses:

C1 Hotels Hotels, boarding and guest houses where no significant
element of care is provided (excludes hostels).

C2 Residential
institutions

Residential care homes, hospitals, nursing homes,
boarding schools, residential colleges and training 
centres.

C2A Secure
Residential Institution

Use for a provision of secure residential 
accommodation, including use as a prison, young 
offenders institution, detention centre, secure training
centre, custody centre, short term holding centre, 
secure hospital, secure local authority accommodation
or use as a military barracks.

C4 Houses in multiple
occupation

Small shared houses occupied by between three and
six unrelated individuals, as their only or main
residence, who share basic amenities such as a kitchen 
or bathroom.

6.4 For these uses, parking provision is considered on a case by case basis, with Policy
TR5 as the starting point. Proposals will be considered in accordance with NPPF para.
39 and the overall planning balance.

6.5 Homes considered ‘retirement homes’ or homes with age restrictions for occupancy 
can fall within C2, C3 or even sui generis use classes. If C3 use, Policy TR5 applies. If 
non C3 use class, proposals will be considered on a case by case basis, but Policy 
TR5 is considered the starting point.

6.6 Alton Town Council remains committed to ensuring that all forms of residential 
development are supported by sufficient parking that lessens the impact on the local 
highway network.



6

7 Summary

7.1 Alton Town Council remains firm in its intention of ensuring that new development is 
better placed to cope with likely car ownership, avoids potential safety issues with 
parking on pavements and junctions and adverse impacts on the local highway 
network, and improves the aesthetics of new developments.

7.2 Alton Town Council remains committed to ensuring that the formal status and weight 
given to Alton Neighbourhood Plan is fully recognised in the determination of planning 
applications. This guidance is issued to provide assistance with that process with 
regards to Policy TR5, providing clarification regarding residential uses, and 
acknowledging the NPPF as a material planning consideration particularly with regards 
to para. 39.

7.3 Alton Town Council expects Policy TR5 to be applied and added into the planning 
balance, acknowledging that it is a policy that carries full weight and is in an up to date 
Development Plan. Non C3 residential uses are expected to consider Policy TR5 as 
the starting point.

7.4 This guidance note has been ratified by Alton Town Council on 25th October 2017.

8 References

This guidance note can be viewed online at  www.alton.gov.uk

The Alton Neighbourhood Plan (2015) –
www.easthants.gov.uk/neighbourhood-plans/existing-neighbourhood-plans-east-hampshire.

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) –
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2

The (draft) East Hampshire District Council Vehicle Parking Standards SPD

Planning portal use class order - 
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200130/common_projects/9/change_of_use

9 Appendix 1

TR3: Cycle storage and parking

Justification:
The justification for policy TR2 provided evidence that cycling, which is seen as a sustainable 
mode of travel, is a popular mode of travel in Alton. If cycle use is to be encouraged among 
those moving into new housing or using new non-residential developments, then good storage 
and parking facilities need to be available.

Policies applied by other local planning authorities with a similar ambition to encourage cycling 
have been considered. Proposed dimensions for cycle storage are broadly based upon the 
Cycle Parking Guide published by Cambridge City Council. They are designed to be suitable 

http://www.alton.gov.uk/
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/neighbourhood-plans/existing-neighbourhood-plans-east-hampshire
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200130/common_projects/9/change_of_use


7

for storing two mountain bikes or alternatively two narrower bikes plus a child’s bike.

Intent: Alton wants to encourage development schemes to include sufficient cycle storage (in 
the case of residential developments) or cycle parking (in the case of non-residential 
development), so that cycling to work, to shops or for leisure is an attractive and practical 
option. Residential cycle storage should be secure and convenient to access the public 
highway. This could be a dedicated space inside the dwelling or in a garage or a secure 
facility within the curtilage. In the case of flats the storage space can be a shared facility, as 
long as it is of sufficient size. Non-residential cycle parking facilities should be provided within 
or adjacent to the development scheme site

The action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective are:

TRAP4: We will prompt the Local Highway Authority to prepare a timetable for works to 
improve conditions for pedestrians, particularly at the following locations:

• Crown Hill / Church Street / Normandy Street;
• Selborne Road / Winchester Road / Whitedown Lane / Butts Road (The Butts bridges);
• Old Odiham Road / Greenfields Avenue;
• Basingstoke Road;
• Paper Mill Lane (Station steps);
• Station Road/Forecourt;
• Mill Lane / Paper Mill Lane / Ashdell Road / Wilsom Road (at Spitalhatch).

TR5: Parking provision and standards

Justification:
There are nine public off street car parks in Alton town centre, providing a total of 703 spaces. 
The three largest (each exceeding 100 spaces) are Lady Place, Turk Street and The Bank. In 
the Community Questionnaire most respondents considered provision to be adequate, though 
very short stay parking was felt to be insufficient. In some older residential parts of the town 
here is no off-street parking available and kerbside parking occurs, which can impede traffic 
flow. Similar problems occur in the vicinity of the rail station and the sixth-form college. Bad 
parking was considered the second biggest highway safety concern by Alton residents.

TR3 Cycle storage and parking

To encourage the greater use of sustainable and non-motorised modes of 
transport, all new traffic-generating development must seek to provide adequate 
parking or storage for bicycles.

All new dwellings (including conversions and sub-divisions) must demonstrate how 
they can achieve secure storage for bicycles that enjoys convenient access to a 
public highway. The minimum dimensions of any storage space serving a single 
private dwelling will feature a floor area of 1.5 metres by 2.2 metres and must be 
accessible via a doorway at least 1.0 metres wide. Shared storage of an appropriate 
size/form for flatted developments featuring a secure courtyard or entrance hall will 
be considered acceptable.

All new non-residential developments should provide cycle parking 
(Sheffield stands or similar).



8

Responsibility for setting parking standards for development was transferred from the County 
Council to the District Council. Hampshire County Council withdrew its residential parking 
standards in 2011 and its non-residential parking standards in 2014. However, EHDC has 
adopted standards which are based on those previously used by the County. When applied by 
the County Council these were maximum standards to try to reduce car ownership, in line with 
(then) national policy; however, this is out of step with current government guidance.

Evidence from recent Alton developments where the former standards were applied is that 
they have led to excessive parking on street and often on verges or around junctions. This has 
created a poor visual environment and difficulties for drivers. The East Hampshire: Joint Core 
Strategy policy CP29 notably seeks sufficient parking to secure a high-quality environment and 
the Alton Town Design Statement, at guideline 5.12, seeks adequate parking both off-street 
and kerbside.

Current levels of car ownership in Alton are over 1.2 per household and in East Hampshire are 
1.4 per household. Parking standards for the allocated sites for housing growth at Alton should 
take account of factors set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, which are repeated 
in the Hampshire Local Transport Plan (2011). A mix of housing types is sought on these sites, 
which implies typical levels of car ownership. Location of the sites around the edge of town 
implies car ownership could be above average. Similarly, the rather poor availability of town 
bus services may increase car ownership and parking space needs. Policies elsewhere in this 
Plan seek to encourage the use of travel modes other than the car, namely walking, cycling 
and buses.

Intent:
Policy TR5 therefore uses the former Hampshire County Council standards for residential off-
street parking for new residential development, but it states them as a minimum level of 
provision. It does not expect them to be significantly exceeded and overprovision is 
discouraged. It relates the number of off-street parking spaces to the size of the dwelling. 
Where communal unallocated off-street parking space is provided the number of parking 
spaces can be slightly reduced. Where off-street parking is within a garage, this should be of a 
sufficient size to accommodate modern car designs and provide cycle storage, in line with 
County Council guidance. The policy expects new housing development schemes to identify 
roadways where on-street parking would be appropriate and those where it should be 
discouraged. It also expects there to be sufficient unallocated parking provision for visitors 
within new housing development schemes and for this provision to be marked as such.

This policy expects non-residential developments at Alton to provide some off-street parking 
for use by employees and clients at that development. As a general guide applicants should 
utilise the non-residential standards until recently applied by Hampshire County Council.



9

TR5 Parking provision and standards

Designated off-street parking

New residential development within Alton will provide an adequate level of off 
street parking for residents. The following minimum standards will apply:

1 bedroom dwellings: 1 parking space
2 and 3 bedroom dwellings: 2 parking spaces
4 bedroom (or more) dwellings:      3 parking spaces

Where communal, unallocated off-street parking is provided for eight or more dwellings, 
the minimum standard for 2 bedroom dwellings and above may be reduced by one 
space per four dwellings.

Garages as off-street parking

Where garages are to be counted as an off street parking space the following 
minimum internal dimensions should apply:

Single garage: 3.0 metres wide x 6.0 metres deep
Double garage: 5.7 metres wide x 6.0 metres deep

Visitor parking
New residential development within Alton will provide adequate designated additional 
parking for visitors, at a minimum of one space per two dwellings. This can either be off- 
street or on-street, subject to the wider guidance set out within this policy. Visitor 
parking should be marked as such.

Additional on-street parking
Additional on-street parking provision will be welcomed where appropriate, but should 
not be used as a substitute for off-street parking provision. Non-designated on-street 
parking
should be restricted along through-routes within new residential developments.

Non-residential parking

Parking for all non-residential uses should be negotiated on a case by case basis and 
should propose an adequate amount of off-street parking for staff and visitors to ensure 
there is no impact by way of parked cars on the wider highway network. When 
determining the amount of parking required by the development the following factors 
should be considered:

• Projected staff numbers:
• Projected visitor numbers, as well as the likely time and duration of the visit 
to establish the requirement at peak times; and
• The accessibility of the development by modes other than private car.

The action points for Alton Town Council which relate to this objective. 

TRAP17: We will work with East Hampshire District Council to identify future demand for
off-street car parking in the town centre, with the aim of ensuring that additional spaces are 
provided ahead of demand.
TRAP18: We will press East Hampshire District Council to freeze or reduce the levels of 
charging in their off-street car parks.



10

TRAP19: We will press East Hampshire District Council to provide very short stay 
(maximum 1 hour) parking spaces close to the retail area, with a tariff which starts 
(preferably at zero cost) for a time period of 15 or 20 minutes. We will also explore with 
Hampshire County Council the possibility of introducing very short stay on-street parking 
in the town centre.

TRAP20: We will work with Hampshire County Council as they develop on street parking 
control measures for critical parts of the town. Particular emphasis will be given to the area 
around Alton College, and to streets on the periphery of the town centre and in the vicinity of 
the railway station that are affected by all day commuter parking.

TRAP21: We will seek to identify areas where coaches may be parked during daytime. This 
is necessary if tourism is to be encouraged.

TRAP22: We will seek to work with South West Trains to ensure that adequate levels of 
parking are provided at Alton Railway Station. There should be sufficient spaces to cater 
for both commuters and Watercress Line visitors.


	Agenda
	5 Statement of Community Involvement
	East Hants Statement of Community Involvement (2018) V2

	6 The Residential Extensions & Householder Development Supplementary Planning Document
	180213-ResExtConsStat
	180213-ResExtSPD(PostConsult)

	7 Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
	Vehicle Parking Standrads  SPD Consultation Statement - Final
	EHDC Parking Standards SPD (DPAHP Final)


